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PART I
Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This annual report on Form 10-K, including the sections entitled “Business,” “risk Factors,” and “Management’s discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and results of Operations,” contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of section 27A of the securities Act of 1933, as amended or the
securities Act, and section 21e of the securities exchange Act of 1934, as amended or the exchange Act. We may, in some cases, use words such as “project,”
“believe,” “anticipate,” “plan,” “expect,” “estimate,” “intend,” “should,” “would,” “could,” “potentially,” “possible”, “will,” or “may,” or other words that convey
uncertainty of future events or outcomes to identify these forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements may include statements about:
•

expectations regarding the timing, likelihood, nature and effects of our proposed merger and other contemplated transactions in connection with the
merger ;

•

the sufficiency of our capital resources and trading market for shares prior to and following the consummation of the proposed merger and proposed
financing;

•

costs and potential litigation associated with the proposed merger;

•

failure or delay in obtaining required approvals by the seC or any other governmental or quasi-governmental entity necessary to consummate the
proposed merger, including our ability to file and have declared effective by the seC a proxy statement in connection with the proposed merger and
other contemplated transactions in connection with the merger, which may also result in unexpected additional transaction expenses and operating cash
expenditures on the parties;

•

a failure to satisfy the conditions to the closing of the proposed investment by longitude Capital, which would require the Company to raise additional
funds sooner than expected to pursue its development goals;

•

an inability or delay in obtaining required regulatory approvals for product candidates, which may result in unexpected cost expenditures;

•

the price of the proposed financing transaction in connection with the proposed merger being materially lower than the trading price of Threshold's
common stock at the time of such financing;

•

the sufficiency of our capital resources, including our ability to obtain the funding necessary to advance the development of our product candidate and
our preclinical candidate;

•

the success, cost and timing of our pursuing discussions and submissions with the PMdA for evofosfamide, and the anticipated timing, scope and
outcome of related regulatory actions or guidance;

•

our ability to obtain and maintain regulatory approval of evofosfamide, and any related restrictions, limitations, and/or warnings in the label of an
approved product candidate;

•

the ability of Ascenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Ascenta”) to complete preclinical testing successfully for new product candidates, such as TH-3424, that
we may develop or license;

•

the anticipated progress of our product candidate development programs, including whether our ongoing and potential future clinical trials will achieve
clinically relevant results;

•

our ability to generate data and conduct analyses to support the regulatory approval of our product candidates;

•

whether any product candidates that we are able to commercialize are safer or more effective than other marketed products, treatments or therapies;

•

our ability to identify, in-license or otherwise acquire additional product candidates and development programs;

•

our anticipated research and development activities and projected expenditures;

•

our ability to complete preclinical and clinical testing successfully for new product candidates, such as tarloxotinib, that we may develop or license;

•

our ability to have manufactured sufficient supplies of active pharmaceutical ingredient, or API, and drug product for clinical testing and
commercialization;

•

our expectations regarding our ability to obtain and adequately maintain sufficient intellectual property protection for our current or future product
candidates;

•

our ability to hire and retain key scientific or management personnel;

•

the sufficiency of our cash resources;
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•

our projected financial performance ; and

•

regulatory developments in the United states and foreign countries.

There are a number of important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results anticipated by these forward-looking statements.
These important factors include those that we discuss in this annual report on Form 10-K under the caption “risk Factors.” You should read these factors and the
other cautionary statements made in this annual report on Form 10-K as being applicable to all related forward-looking statements wherever they appear in this
annual report on Form 10-K. If one or more of these factors materialize, or if any underlying assumptions prove incorrect, our actual results, performance or
achievements may vary materially from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. We undertake
no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law.
Unless the context requires otherwise, in this annual report on Form 10-K the terms “Threshold,” “Threshold Pharmaceuticals,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” and
“our” refer to Threshold Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Threshold Pharmaceuticals, Inc., our logo and Metabolic Targeting are our trademarks. Other trademarks, trade
names and service marks used in this annual report on Form 10-K are the property of their respective owners.
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ITEM 1.

BUSINESS

Overview
We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company that has historically used our expertise in the tumor microenvironment to discover and develop
therapeutic and diagnostic agents that selectively target tumor cells for the treatment of patients living with cancer. Most recently, we have devoted substantially all
of our research, development, clinical efforts and financial resources to our two therapeutic product candidates based on hypoxia-activated prodrug technology in
the clinic: evofosfamide and tarloxotinib; and to a lesser extent [18F]-HX4, our imaging agent product candidate.
Evofosfamide Investigational Hypoxia-Activated Prodrug
In december 2015, we announced topline results from two pivotal Phase 3 clinical trials of evofosfamide: TH-Cr-406 conducted by Threshold in patients
with soft tissue sarcoma and MAesTrO conducted by Merck KGaA, darmstadt, Germany (“, or Merck KGaA”), in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer; and
that neither trial met its primary endpoint of demonstrating a statistically significant improvement in overall survival . Of particular note based on the data from the
september 1, 2015 cut-off date for the MAesTrO trial, a meaningful improvement in overall survival was reported for a subgroup of 123 Asian patients (enrolled
at Japanese and south Korean sites) in which the risk of death was reduced by 48 percent for patients on the treatment arm compared to patients on the control arm.
The hazard ratio (“Hr”) for this subgroup was 0.52 (95% confidence interval (or “CI”: 0.32 – 0.85). In particular and based upon Merck KGaA’s MAesTrO data,
the 116 patients from Japan from the treatment arm had a median overall survival of 13.6 months versus 9.1 months for those patients on the control arm with
significant improvements in progression free survival, objective response rates, and reductions in the pancreatic cancer biomarker, CA19-9. no new safety findings
were identified in the MAesTrO study and the safety profile was consistent with that previously reported in other studies of evofosfamide plus gemcitabine.
Based on the results of our analyses, we discussed potential registration pathways with Japan’s Pharmaceuticals and Medical devices Agency (PMdA). In March
2017, we received minutes from the Company’s formal meeting with the PMdA indicating that the Company’s analysis of the data from the randomized Phase 3
study, eMr200592-001 (n=693), conducted under a special Protocol Agreement with the FdA, and the data from the supporting randomized Phase 2 study, THCr-404 (n=214),would not provide adequate efficacy data to support the submission of a new drug Application (“JndA”) for evofosfamide for the treatment of
patients with locally advanced unresectable or metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma previously untreated with chemotherapy. We are currently in discussions with
the PMdA to clarify the scope of a new clinical trial for which the PMdA would consider necessary to accept a JndA for evofosfamide in Japan based on the
previous results observed in the Japanese sub-population. Our current evofosfamide development strategy is limited to the Company-sponsored Phase 1 clinical
trial of evofosfamide in combination with immune checkpoint antibodies in collaboration with researchers and clinicians at The University of Texas Md Anderson
Cancer Center, initiated March 1, 2017 and investigator-sponsored clinical trials of evofosfamide in combination with antiangiogenic therapies in a variety of tumor
types as described in more detail below under “Our Product Candidates.”
Tarloxotinib Investigational Hypoxia-Activated EGFR Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor
Our second product candidate, tarloxotinib, was a prodrug designed to selectively release a covalent (irreversible) eGFr tyrosine kinase inhibitor under
hypoxic conditions. In september 2016, the Company announced that its Phase 2 proof-of-concept trial evaluating tarloxotinib bromide for the treatment of patients
with mutant eGFr-positive, T790M-negative advanced non-small cell lung cancer (nsClC) progressing on an eGFr tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TH-Cr-601) did
not achieve its primary interim response rate endpoint. While the Company’s other Phase 2 proof-of-concept trial evaluating tarloxotinib bromide for the treatment
of patients with recurrent or metastatic squamous cell carcinomas of the skin met its primary interim response rate endpoint, the other two arms of the study,
evaluating tarloxotinib bromide for the treatment of patients with recurrent or metastatic squamous cell carcinomas of the head and neck did not achieve their
primary interim response rate endpoint, and the overall results from the two trials didn't meet the activity thresholds required to justify further development
investment by the Company. Accordingly, no further clinical development is planned. We plan to present preliminary results from both trials at an upcoming
medical meeting.
[18F]-HX4 Investigational PET Imaging Agent for Hypoxia
Our third product candidate, [18F]-HX4 [flortanidazole (18F)] is an investigational Positron emission Tomography (PeT) imaging agent for hypoxia
developed by siemens Healthcare Molecular Imaging to potentially identify and quantify the degree of hypoxia in tumors in vivo . In view of the results of both
Phase 3 trials of evofosfamide and both Phase 2 trials of tarloxotinib as described above, no further clinical development is planned.
Our Current Strategy
Our goal is for Threshold to be a leader in the development and commercialization of novel therapeutics for serious unmet needs in oncology. In one
element of our strategy, the board of directors approved in december 2015 a plan to explore strategic alternatives
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to further realize value from the Company's pipeline assets while preserving the Company's cash balance to the extent practicable. Also in december 2015 and
september 2016, the Company completed reductions in force of employees designed to reduce operating expenditures, reduce infrastructure costs and improve
efficiency of quality-related activities while exploring strategic alternatives. In August 2016, the Company retained financial advisors , to assist in the process of
evalu ating strategic alternatives. T he Company , w orking with financial and legal advisors, conducted a process of identifying and evaluating potential strategic
alternatives, including potential acquisitions, mergers, strategic partnerships and other strategic transactions.
On March 16, 2017, the “Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger and reorganization (the “Merger Agreement”) with Molecular
Templates, Inc., a delaware corporation (“Molecular Templates”), a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on the development and commercialization
of innovative therapeutics to treat cancer, and Trojan Merger sub, Inc., a delaware corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“Merger
sub”). Upon the terms and subject to the satisfaction of the conditions described in the Merger Agreement, including approval of the transaction by the Company’s
stockholders and Molecular Templates’ stockholders, Merger sub will be merged with and into Molecular Templates (the “Merger”), with Molecular Templates
surviving the Merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The Merger is intended to qualify as a tax-free reorganization for U.s. federal income tax
purposes.
At the effective time of the Merger (the “effective Time”): (a) each share of Molecular Templates common stock outstanding immediately prior to the
effective Time (excluding shares held by the Company, Merger sub or Molecular Templates and dissenting shares, and after giving effect to the purchase or
conversion rights of Molecular Templates’ preferred stockholders, warrant holders and noteholders) will be converted solely into the right to receive a number of
shares of Company Common stock (the “shares”) equal to the exchange ratio described below, and (b) each outstanding Molecular Templates stock option will be
assumed by the Company. Under the exchange ratio formula in the Merger Agreement, the former Molecular Templates security holders immediately before the
Merger are expected to own approximately 65.6% of the aggregate number of the shares, and the stockholders of the Company immediately before the Merger are
expected to own approximately 34.4% of the aggregate number of the shares, subject to certain assumptions (on a fully diluted basis). Further, this exchange ratio
will be adjusted to the extent the Company’s net cash (as defined in the Merger Agreement) at closing of the merger (the “Closing”) is greater than $17.5 million or
less than $12.5 million.
Following the Closing, Molecular Templates’ Chief executive Officer, eric Poma, Ph.d., will become the Company’s Chief executive Officer, and the
Company’s corporate headquarters will be relocated Austin, Texas. Additionally, following the Closing, the board of directors of the Company (the “Company
Board”) will consist of seven directors and will be comprised of (i) two members designated by Molecular Templates, (ii) two members of the current Company
Board, including Harold e. selick, who will act as chairman, and (iii) three members mutually agreed upon by Molecular Templates and the Company. In addition,
following the Closing, the Company will change its name to Molecular Templates, Inc. and will change its nAsdAQ symbol to MTeM.
The Merger Agreement contains customary representations, warranties and covenants made by the Company and Molecular Templates, including covenants
relating to obtaining the requisite approvals of the stockholders of the Company and Molecular Templates, indemnification of directors and officers, the Company’s
and Molecular Templates’ conduct of their respective businesses between the date of signing of the Merger Agreement and the Closing and to prepare and file a
registration statement on Form s-4 that will contain a proxy statement / prospectus / information statement to register the shares issued pursuant to the Merger
Agreement (the “s-4”).
In connection with the Merger and the s-4, the Company will be seeking the approval of the Company’s stockholders with respect to certain actions,
including the following:
•

the authorization and issuance of the shares in the Merger;

•

the authorization of the issuance of securities proposed to be issued in the proposed financing described below;

•

amendments of the Company certificate of incorporation related to changing the name of the Company; and

•

authorization of the Company Board to effect a reverse stock split of the shares within a range, which shall be no less than 5:1 or more than 15:1.

The Closing is subject to satisfaction or waiver of certain conditions including, among other things, (i) the expiration or termination of any waiting period
applicable to the consummation of the Merger under the Hart-scott-rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, (ii) the accuracy of the
representations and warranties, subject to certain materiality qualifications, (iii) compliance by the parties with their respective covenants, (iv) no law or order
preventing the Merger and related transactions, and (v) the effectiveness of the s-4. The Closing is not contingent upon the completion of the Financing described
below.
The Merger Agreement also includes termination provisions for both the Company and Molecular Templates. In connection with a termination of the
Merger Agreement under specified circumstances involving competing transactions, a willful, intentional and
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material breach of the non-solicitation obligations, a change in the board of directors’ recommendation of the Merger to the stockholders or other triggering events,
either party may be required to pay the other party a termination fee o f $750,000, plus reimbursement for certain fees and expenses.
In connection with execution of the Merger Agreement, the Company made a bridge loan to Molecular Templates pursuant to a note purchase agreement
and promissory notes (the “notes”) up to an aggregate principal amount of $4.0 million with an initial closing that was held on March 24, 2017 for a principal
amount of $2.0 million. If the Merger Agreement is terminated prior to the to the maturity date of the notes, the outstanding principal of the notes plus all accrued
and unpaid interest shall become due and payable upon the earlier of (i) the consummation of a qualified financing by Molecular Templates of at least $10.0
million, (ii) the occurrence of a Molecular Templates liquidity event, or (iii) the four-month anniversary of the termination of the Merger Agreement, and such
amounts shall be credited against any termination fees owed by the Company to Molecular Templates pursuant to the Merger Agreement.
Concurrently with the execution of the Merger Agreement, officers and directors of the Company entered into support agreements with Molecular
Templates relating to the Merger covering approximately 1.2% of the outstanding shares, as of immediately prior to the Merger (the “Company support
Agreements”). The Company support Agreements provide, among other things, that the stockholders to the Company support Agreement will vote all of the
shares held by them in favor of the issuance of the shares in connection with the Merger and the amendments to the Company’s certificate of incorporation
contemplated by the Merger Agreement.
Concurrently with the execution of the Merger Agreement, officers, directors and certain stockholders of Molecular Templates entered into support
agreements with the Company covering approximately 96.3% of the outstanding shares of Molecular Templates (including shares of its preferred stock on an asconverted to common stock basis) relating to the Merger (the “Molecular Templates support Agreements,” and together with the Company support Agreement, the
“support Agreements”). The Molecular Templates support Agreements provide, among other things, that the officers and stockholders party to the Molecular
Templates support Agreement will vote all of the shares of Molecular Templates held by them in favor of the adoption of the Merger Agreement, the approval of
the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement.
Concurrently with the execution of the Merger Agreement, officers and directors of the Company entered into lock-up agreements (the “Company lock-Up
Agreement”), pursuant to which they accepted certain restrictions on transfers of the shares for the 180-day period following the effective Time. Concurrently with
the execution of the Merger Agreement, officers, directors and certain stockholders of Molecular Templates, have entered into lock-up agreements (the “Molecular
lock-Up Agreement,” and together with the Company lock-Up Agreement, the “lock-Up Agreements”), pursuant to which they accepted certain restrictions on
transfers of the shares for the 180-day period following the effective Time.
Although we have entered into the Merger Agreement and intend to consummate the merger, there is no assurance that we will be able to successfully
consummate the merger on a timely basis, or at all.
In addition on March 16, 2017, the Company and Molecular Templates received from longitude Venture Partners III, l.P. (“longitude”) an equity
Commitment letter (the “Commitment letter”), pursuant to which, immediately following the Closing of the Merger, longitude will purchase $20 million of
equity securities in the Company. longitude’s investment is subject to certain conditions, including the Closing of the Merger and the Company having secured
commitments from additional investors for the purchase of an additional $20 million of such securities (the “Financing”). The Financing will be accomplished in a
private placement exempt from registration under section 4(a)(2) and regulation d under the securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “securities Act”), and the
rules promulgated thereunder. The securities to be sold in the Financing have not been registered under the securities Act, or any state securities laws, and may not
be offered or sold in the United states except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the securities Act
and applicable state securities laws. The closing of the Merger is not contingent upon the completion of this Financing.
In november 2016, the Company received a deficiency letter from the listing Qualifications department (the “staff”) of The nAsdAQ stock Market
notifying the Company that, for the last 30 consecutive business days, the bid price for the Company’s common stock had closed below the minimum $1.00 per
share requirement for continued inclusion on The nAsdAQ Global Market pursuant to nAsdAQ listing rule 5450(a)(1) (the “rule”). In accordance with
nAsdAQ listing rule 5810(c)(3)(A), the Company was provided an initial period of 180 calendar days, or until May 10, 2017, to regain compliance with the
rule. If, at any time before May 10, 2017, the bid price for the Company’s common stock closes at $1.00 or more for a minimum of 10 consecutive business days
as required under listing rule 5810(c)(3)(A), the staff would provide written notification to the Company that it complies with the rule. In March 2017, the
Company’s board of directors approved a reverse stock split, within a range which shall be no less than 5:1 or more than 15:1 of the Company’s common and
preferred stock, which would be contingent upon shareholder approval of the Merger and the stock split.
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If the Merger is not completed, the Company will reconsider strategic alternatives and could pursue one of the following courses of action :
•

Pursue another strategic transaction . The Company may resume the process of evaluating a potential strategic transaction.

•

Develop evofosfamide successfully in parallel with partnering TH-3424 and/or HX4and broadening our pipeline by in-licensing or acquiring new
product candidates. We are currently in ongoing discussions with the PMdA to clarify the scope of a new clinical trial for which the PMdA would
consider necessary to accept a JndA for evofosfamide in Japan based on the previous results observed in the Japanese sub-population in the Phase 3
MAesTrO clinical trial. In addition, we are in the process of completing our analyses of the available biomarker data from the Phase 3 MAesTrO
trial in patients with pancreatic cancer with the goal of identifying additional subgroups of patients that may benefit from treatment with evofosfamide
and gemcitabine. In parallel, we intend to complete the Phase 1 clinical trial of evofosfamide in combination with immune checkpoint antibodies in
collaboration with researchers and clinicians at The University of Texas Md Anderson Cancer Center and several IsTs as described in more detail
below under “Product Candidates.” TH-3424 is our small-molecule drug candidate, discovered at Threshold, being evaluated for the potential
treatment of hepatocellular (liver) cancer, castrate resistant prostate cancer, T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemias, and other cancers expressing high
levels of aldo-keto reductase family 1 member C3, or AKr1C3. Tumors overexpressing AKr1C3 can be resistant to radiation therapy and
chemotherapy. TH-3424 is a prodrug in preclinical development that selectively releases a potent dnA cross-linking agent in the presence of
AKr1C3. Preliminary nonclinical toxicology studies including biochemical, in vitro cell-based and in vivo animal-based characterization of its
pharmacological properties were presented at the 2016 Annual Meeting of the American Association for Cancer research (AACr) in April 2016. The
preliminary nonclinical studies suggested an adequate therapeutic index. We believe that the preliminary nonclinical study results warrant continued
development of TH-3424 in Investigational new drug (Ind)-enabling toxicology studies in collaboration with Ascenta Pharmaceuticals, ltd. which
we expect will be completed by the fourth quarter of 2017. Our ability to advance the clinical development of evofosfamide is dependent upon our
ability to obtain additional funding, including entering into new collaborative or partnering arrangements for evofosfamide, TH-3424 and/or HX4. In
this regard, we are currently seeking pharmaceutical and diagnostic partners for TH-3424 and HX4 with a commercial presence in oncology. subject to
our ability to obtain additional funding, we also intend to evaluate opportunities with academic institutions or pharma- and biopharmaceutical
companies to potentially in-license or acquire new product candidates.

•

Dissolve and liquidate the Company's assets . If, for any reason, the Merger does not close, the board of directors currently intends to attempt to
complete another strategic transaction like the Merger. If the Board cannot complete another strategic transaction in a reasonable period of time or
decides to no longer continue to pursue the development of evofosfamide or to partner TH-3424 and HX4, then the Board intends to sell or otherwise
dispose of the Company’s various assets. If the board of directors determines to sell or otherwise dispose of the Company's various assets, any
remaining cash proceeds would be distributed to its stockholders. In that event, the Company would be required to pay all of its debts and contractual
obligations, and to set aside certain reserves for potential future claims, and there would be no assurances as to the amount or timing of available cash
remaining to distribute to stockholders after paying its obligations and setting aside funds for reserve.

Our Product Candidates
Evofosfamide Investigational Hypoxia-Activated Prodrug
The introduction of therapies that preferentially target tumor hypoxia offers the potential to deliver cancer therapies selectively to tumor tissue and to
expand the therapeutic options available for cancer patients across the majority of tumor types. evofosfamide is designed as a prodrug that is preferentially
activated under the extreme hypoxic conditions commonly found in tumors, but not typically in healthy tissues. Within regions of tumor hypoxia, evofosfamide is
converted to its active form, bromo-isophosphoramide mustard (Br-IPM). Variants of IPM are clinically validated potent dnA alkylating agents, which kill tumor
cells by causing dnA to crosslink thereby rendering cells unable to replicate their dnA and divide. Once activated in hypoxic tissues, Br-IPM may also diffuse
into surrounding oxygenated regions of the tumor and kill cells there via a “bystander effect”.
Preclinical and clinical data suggest that evofosfamide has significant antitumor activity both alone as well as in combination with other cancer therapies
that target the rapidly proliferating cells found in normally oxygenated regions of solid tumors. Preclinical studies have also shown enhanced antitumor activity of
evofosfamide when combined with antiangiogenic agents, which are drugs designed to disrupt the blood vessel network supplying tumors. The underlying
biological rationale for this enhanced activity is based, in part, on evidence that antiangiogenic agents increase levels of tumor hypoxia. Other research suggests
that the bone marrow of patients with leukemia as well as multiple myeloma is also highly hypoxic and supports the potential therapeutic utility of evofosfamide in
treating these blood cancers.
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Evofosfamide Clinical Development Program Overview
The current development plan for evofosfamide is focused on analyzing the MAesTrO biomarker data for the purposes of pursuing potential registration
pathways in pancreatic cancer with regulatory authorities and potential partners In addition, we will develop evofosfamide in combination with immune
checkpoint antibodies in collaboration with researchers and clinicians at The University of Texas Md Anderson Cancer Center, initiated March 1, 2017. Further,
we will continue developing evofosfamide in combination with antiangiogenics, and as a monotherapy in investigator sponsored and cooperative group clinical
trials as supported by preclinical and clinical data and where there is high unmet need for new anticancer agents. To date, evofosfamide has been evaluated in more
than 1600 patients with cancer.
We completed a monotherapy, Phase 1 clinical trial that determined the maximum tolerated dose, dose limiting toxicities, safety, pharmacokinetics and
preliminary efficacy of evofosfamide monotherapy in patients with advanced solid tumors. We expanded enrollment in this trial to investigate evofosfamide as a
single agent in specific indications in which monotherapy activity had been observed as well as in some indications in which notable activity had been documented
in combination with other chemotherapy drugs. We completed enrollment in two combination therapy Phase 1/2 clinical trials that determined the maximum
tolerated doses, dose-limiting toxicities, safety, pharmacokinetics and preliminary efficacy of evofosfamide in combination with four currently approved
chemotherapies. data from this collection of clinical trials supported our initial randomized controlled trial of evofosfamide in first-line pancreatic cancer.
The most advanced clinical trials of evofosfamide conducted to date were two pivotal Phase 3 clinical trials: one in combination with doxorubicin versus
doxorubicin alone in patients with soft tissue sarcoma, and the other in combination with gemcitabine versus gemcitabine plus placebo in patients with advanced
pancreatic cancer. Initiation of those Phase 3 clinical trials was supported by preclinical data in disease-specific models as well as data from Phase 2 clinical trials
in the same patient populations.
In december 2015, we announced topline results from both Phase 3 clinical trials of evofosfamide, reporting that neither trial met its primary endpoint of
improving overall survival with statistical significance.
In March 2016, we and Merck KGaA agreed to terminate our former collaboration with Merck KGaA, and all rights to evofosfamide were returned to us.
As a result, we will not receive any clinical development milestones or any other funding from Merck KGaA for the purpose of conducting any further clinical
development of evofosfamide . Under our former collaboration with Merck KGaA, Merck KGaA was responsible for 70% of the worldwide development expenses
for evofosfamide . Our ability to advance the clinical development of evofosfamide is dependent upon our ability to enter into new collaborative or partnering
arrangements for evofosfamide, or to otherwise obtain sufficient additional funding for such development. Accordingly, at this time in 2017 we currently only plan
to analyze biomarker data from the MAesTrO trial for the purposes of pursuing discussions of development in pancreatic cancer with regulatory authorities and
potential partners, continue the Company-sponsored Phase 1 clinical trial of evofosfamide in combination with immune checkpoint antibodies in collaboration with
researchers and clinicians at The University of Texas Md Anderson Cancer Center, initiated March 1, 2017; as well as to continue investigator sponsored studies
of evofosfamide in combination with antiangiogenics.
Outcome and Status of Evofosfamide Program in Pancreatic Cancer
In december 2012, Merck KGaA opened the global pivotal Phase 3 MAesTrO clinical trial assessing the efficacy and safety of evofosfamide in
combination with gemcitabine in patients with previously untreated, locally advanced unresectable or metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma. MAesTrO stands for
evofosfamide in the treatment of M etast A tic or unr ES ectable pancrea T ic adenoca R cin O ma.
The MAesTrO trial was a randomized, placebo-controlled, international, multi-center, double-blind Phase 3 clinical trial of evofosfamide plus gemcitabine
compared with placebo plus gemcitabine conducted by Merck KGaA. In november 2014, we announced that Merck KGaA completed the target enrollment of 660
patients in the trial. The primary efficacy endpoint was Os; the secondary endpoints included efficacy measured by progression-free survival, or PFs, overall
response rate and disease control rate, as well as assessments of safety and tolerability, pharmacokinetics and biomarkers. The study was being conducted under a
special Protocol Assessment, or sPA, agreement with the FdA.
In december 2015, we announced top-line results based on Merck KGaA’s analysis that patients treated with evofosfamide in combination with
gemcitabine did not demonstrate a statistically significant improvement in Os compared with gemcitabine plus placebo. In January 2016 at the American society
of Clinical Oncology 2016 Gastrointestinal Cancers symposium (AsCO GI), Merck KGaA’s analyses of the results from the Phase 3 MAesTrO trial were
presented. Median Os was 8.7 months for patients treated with evofosfamide plus gemcitabine and 7.6 months for patients treated with placebo plus gemcitabine
(Hr: 0.84; 95% CI: 0.71 - 1.01; p=0.0589). The survival on the control arm was higher than the 6 to 7 months reported in other randomized controlled trials. While
the primary efficacy endpoint of overall survival narrowly missed statistical significance, efficacy endpoints of progression-free survival
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and confirmed overall response rates demonstrated significant improvements for patients treated with the combination of e vofosfamide and gemcitabine (the
“treatment arm”) compared to gemcitabine plus placebo (the “control arm”) including PFs and objective response rate, or Orr. For patients treated with
evofosfamide plus gemcitabine, median PFs was longer (5.5 vs. 3.7 months ; Hr 0.77; 95% CI: 0.65- 0.92; p=0.004) and confirmed Orr was higher (15.2% vs.
8.6%; Odds ratio = 1.90; 95% CI: 1.16-3.12; p=0.009). Of particular note, a meaningful improvement in overall survival was reported for a subgroup of 123 Asian
patients (enroll ed at Japanese and south Korean sites) in which the risk of death was reduced by 42 percent for patients on the treatment arm compared to patients
on the control arm. The hazard ratio, (or “Hr”), for this subgroup was 0.58 (95% confidence interval (or “CI” : 0.36 – 0.93). In particular and based upon Merck’s
MAesTrO data, the 116 patients from Japan from the treatment arm had a median overall survival of 13.6 months versus 9.1 months for those patients on the
control arm with significant improvements in pro gression free survival, objective response rates, and reductions in the pancreatic cancer biomarker, CA19-9. no
new safety findings were identified in the MAesTrO study and the safety profile was consistent with that previously reported in other studies of evofosfamide
plus gemcitabine. . Grade 3/4 hematologic adverse events were more frequent with evofosfamide plus gemcitabine, which is consistent with the safety profile in
other studies.
Based on the results of our analyses, we discussed potential registration pathways with Japan’s Pharmaceuticals and Medical devices Agency (PMdA). On
March16, 2017, we received minutes from the Company’s formal meeting with the PMdA indicating that the Company’s analysis of the data from the randomized
Phase 3 study, eMr200592-001 (n=693), conducted under a special Protocol Agreement with the FdA, and the data from the supporting randomized Phase 2
study, TH-Cr-404 (n=214),would not provide adequate efficacy data to support the submission of a new drug Application (“JndA”) for evofosfamide for the
treatment of patients with locally advanced unresectable or metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma previously untreated with chemotherapy. We are currently in
discussions with the PMdA to clarify the scope of a new clinical trial for which the PMdA would consider necessary to accept a JndA for evofosfamide in Japan
based on the previous results observed in the Japanese sub-population.
The MAesTrO trial was initiated following results from a randomized, controlled Phase 2b clinical trial of evofosfamide in combination with gemcitabine
in patients with first-line pancreatic cancer (which we refer to as the 404 trial). A total of 214 patients with previously untreated, locally advanced, unresectable or
metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma were enrolled and treated in the clinical trial at 45 sites in the U.s. Patients were randomized equally into one of three
cohorts: evofosfamide at a dose of 240 mg/m 2 plus gemcitabine or evofosfamide at a dose of 340 mg/m 2 plus gemcitabine or gemcitabine alone. If a patient’s
cancer progressed while on gemcitabine alone, the patient could crossover and be randomized into one of the evofosfamide plus gemcitabine cohorts. The primary
efficacy endpoint of the trial was a comparison of progression-free survival between the two pooled combination arms and the gemcitabine alone arm. The
secondary endpoints were overall response rate, overall survival, event-free survival, CA 19-9 (a serum biomarker) response rate as well as various safety
parameters.
In February 2012, we announced top-line results that the primary endpoint in the 404 trial was achieved, showing a median progression-free survival of 5.6
months for patients treated with the combination of evofosfamide at 240 mg/m 2 and 340 mg/m 2 compared with 3.6 months for patients treated with gemcitabine
alone. The progression-free survival hazard ratio comparing the evofosfamide combinations to gemcitabine alone was 0.61 (95% CI: 0.43 – 0.87), which was
highly statistically significant (p=0.005). Final results of the 404 trial were published in the december 15, 2014 issue of the Journal of Clinical Oncology and were
consistent with previously-reported results. The final results from the 404 trial showed a consistent dose effect in terms of improved progression-free survival,
increased objective response rate, and decreased CA 19-9 levels in the gemcitabine plus evofosfamide (340 mg/ m 2 ) arm compared with the gemcitabine plus
evofosfamide (240 mg/ m 2 ) and the gemcitabine-alone arms. There was a significant improvement (p=0.008) in progression-free survival associated with a 41%
reduction of risk for disease progression or death for patients treated with gemcitabine plus evofosfamide (340 mg/ m 2 ). This represented a 2.4-month increase in
median progression-free survival for patients receiving gemcitabine plus evofosfamide (340 mg/ m 2 ) compared with gemcitabine alone. The 12-month overall
survival rates were also in favor of the gemcitabine plus evofosfamide (340 mg/ m 2 ) treatment group compared with the control arm (38% vs. 26% (p=0.13)).
Median overall survival for gemcitabine, gemcitabine plus evofosfamide (240 mg/ m 2 ), and gemcitabine plus evofosfamide (340 mg/ m 2 ) was 6.9, 8.7, and 9.2
months, respectively; the differences between treatment groups were not significant, which may be at least partially explained by control arm patients with
progressive disease crossing over to one of the gemcitabine plus evofosfamide treatment arms. In other words, we believe that patients receiving gemcitabine alone
who crossed over to receive gemcitabine plus evofosfamide upon disease progression contributed to the survival of the control arm. The improvement in median
overall survival in the gemcitabine plus evofosfamide treatment arms was consistent with the improvement in median progression-free survival. The most common
nonhematologic adverse events were fatigue, nausea and peripheral edema, and were similar in frequency across treatment groups. skin and mucosal toxicities,
predominantly Grade 1 and 2, and myelosuppression, were the most common adverse events related to evofosfamide and did not result in increases in treatment
discontinuation. Adverse events leading to discontinuation of study treatment as well as serious adverse events were balanced across all treatment arms. All other
severe adverse events were generally below 10%. There was no significant difference in the percentage of patients discontinuing treatment for adverse events
across the three treatment arms.
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Evofosfamide Program with immune checkpoint antibodies
research has shown that hypoxia contributes to the immunosuppressive microenvironment of solid tumors and therefore may result in resistance to immune
checkpoint inhibitors. This is related to the fact that suppressive cells such as myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MdsCs) preferentially reside in the hypoxic
regions of tumors (Ai et al 2015; Chiu et al. 2016; Chouaib et al. 2016) and because effector T cells are preferentially excluded from hypoxic regions (Marotta et al.
2011; Curran et al. 2015). Additionally, the tumor cell death induced by evofosfamide may result in greater availability of tumor antigen for uptake and
presentation by dendritic cells.
Preclinical research at the M.d. Anderson Cancer Center (MdACC) in the laboratory of dr. Michael Curran demonstrating strong additive anticancer
effects when combining evofosfamide with immune checkpoint inhibitors in syngeneic animal models (Ai et al 2015) has led to the development of a Phase 1 study
evaluating evofosfamide in combination with ipilimumab in patients with histologically-confirmed metastatic or locally advanced prostate cancer, metastatic
pancreatic cancer, melanoma or HPV-negative squamous cell carcinoma of head and neck that has failed to respond to standard therapy, progressed despite
standard therapy, for which standard therapy does not offer the potential for increased survival of a least 3 months, or for which no other higher priority therapies
are available. Curative therapies are not possible for these patients and new strategies are warranted to enhance immune responsiveness in patients with these
indications. Combining a hypoxia-targeted cytotoxic with an anti-CTlA-4 checkpoint inhibitor may lead to enhanced T cell responsiveness to tumor antigens in
draining lymph nodes, enhanced T cell penetration into the tumor, and reduction in hypoxia-associated suppressive cell populations, such as myeloid-derived
suppressor cells and regulatory T-cells.
The objectives of the study are to determine the recommended Phase 2 dose (rP2d) of combination treatment with evofosfamide and ipilimumab and to
determine the preliminary assessment of antitumor efficacy of the combination in prostate cancer, pancreatic cancer, melanoma and HPV negative squamous cell
cancer of head and neck. Important exploratory objectives will be to evaluate baseline and change from baseline in post-treatment peripheral blood and tumor tissue
immune and hypoxia parameters as potential biomarkers of activity for the ipilimumab-evofosfamide combination therapy.
The study will be conducted at MdACC and will recruit approximately 12-24 patients in the dose escalation phase and up to 45 patients across the four
disease-specific dose expansion cohorts. We expect enrollment in this trial to begin early in the second quarter of 2017.
Evofosfamide Programs with Antiangiogenics
Antiangiogenics are a class of anticancer therapies that target the tumor vasculature. A goal of antiangiogenic therapy is to “starve” tumors by disrupting the
blood vessel network supplying tumors with oxygen and nutrients needed for survival and growth. While antiangiogenics have proven to be an important new class
of targeted cancer therapy, essentially all tumors eventually become resistant to these treatments. emerging preclinical research suggests that antiangiogenics may
also induce tumor hypoxia. Co-targeting tumor angiogenesis and tumor hypoxia, which is believed to be a key driver of treatment resistance, is one approach to
potentially prevent or reverse this mechanism of treatment resistance. As evofosfamide is designed to be selectively activated under conditions of severe tumor
hypoxia, the combination of evofosfamide with antiangiogenic therapy has the potential to be an effective anticancer treatment. Preclinical models demonstrated
enhanced antitumor activity of evofosfamide when used in combination with antiangiogenic therapies (sunitinib and sorafenib), which was directly related to the
amount of hypoxia induced by different doses of these antiangiogenics.
Based on preclinical studies, evofosfamide has been or is under investigation in combination with antiangiogenic therapies in a variety of tumor types in
human clinical trials including:
•

TH-Cr-410: A Threshold-sponsored Phase 1 trial that evaluated the safety of evofosfamide in combination with sunitinib in patients with advanced
renal cell carcinoma (rCC), gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GIsT), and pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (pneT). All patients have completed the
study.

•

eMr 200592-012: A Phase 2 Investigator sponsored Trial to assess the activity and safety of evofosfamide in combination with sunitinib in patients
with well- and moderately-differentiated metastatic pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (pneT) that are naïve to systemic treatment.

•

TH-IsT-4003: A Phase 1/2 Investigator sponsored Trial evaluating the safety and efficacy of evofosfamide in combination with bevacizumab in
patients with recurrent glioblastoma following bevacizumab failure.

•

TH-IsT-4008: A Phase 2 FdA-funded Investigator sponsored Trial evaluating the safety and efficacy of evofosfamide in combination with
bevacizumab in patients with recurrent glioblastoma following bevacizumab failure.
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•

TH-IsT-4001: A Phase 1 Investigator sponsored Trial evaluating the safety of evofosfamide in combination with pazopanib in patients with advanced
solid tumors.

•

TH-IsT-4004: A Phase 1/2 Investigator sponsored Trial of evofosfamide in combination with sorafenib in patients with advanced kidney cancer or
liver cancer that cannot be removed by surgery.

TH-CR-410 Phase 1 dose escalation trial of evofosfamide and sunitinib in patients with RCC, GIST, and pNET
The 410 trial was designed to evaluate standard full dose sunitinib (50 mg) administered daily (days 1 – 28 of a 6-week cycle) with evofosfamide (240
mg/m 2 to 480 mg/m 2 ) administered on days 8, 15 and 22. In 2013, preliminary data from the 410 trial were published online in the AsCO 2013 Annual Meeting
Proceedings, and updated preliminary results from 12 patients were reported at the 2013 AACr-nCI-eOrTC International Conference on Molecular Targets and
Cancer Therapeutics. As reported at AACr-nCI-eOrTC, no dose-limiting toxicities were observed in the 4 patients treated in the initial cohort at 240 mg/ m 2 .
One of 6 evaluable patients treated at 340 mg/m 2 had a dose-limiting toxicity of Grade 3 stomatitis. Grade 3 thrombocytopenia and neutropenia were reported in 3
(25%) and 4 (33%) patients, respectively; Grade 4 neutropenia was reported in one patient (8%). Fatigue, nausea, and vomiting were the most common
nonhematologic adverse events occurring in 83%, 75%, and 67% of patients, respectively. All cases were Grade 1 or 2 except for one report of Grade 3 nausea.
Partial responses were achieved by one of four (25%) evaluable GIsT patients (confirmed) and three of eight (37.5%) evaluable rCC patients (one confirmed). All
four patients with partial responses had received prior sunitinib.
enrollment in this trial has been completed, and all patients have discontinued from the trial. The recommended Phase 2 dose of evofosfamide (340 mg/ m 2
) was established and is being evaluated further in an Investigator sponsored Trial of evofosfamide in combination with sunitinib in patients with pancreatic
neuroendocrine tumors (pneT) (see below).
EMR 200592-012: A Phase 2 trial of evofosfamide in combination with sunitinib in patients with pNET
The -012 trial is an Investigator-sponsored Phase 2 trial designed to assess the activity and safety of evofosfamide in combination with sunitinib in patients
with well- and moderately-differentiated metastatic pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (pneT) who are naïve to systemic treatment. The study is being sponsored
by the spanish Task Force in neuroendocrine Tumors.
enrollment in this Investigator sponsored Trial commenced in 2015 and it is currently is ongoing. After completion of the study, we will assess whether
further development of evofosfamide in combination with sunitinib in patients with pneT is warranted.
TH-IST-4003: Phase 1/2 trial of evofosfamide and bevacizumab in patients with glioblastoma (GBM) following bevacizumab failure
The 4003 trial is a U.s. investigator-sponsored Phase 1/2 clinical trial evaluating evofosfamide in combination with Avastin ® (bevacizumab) in patients
with recurrent glioblastoma (GBM) following bevacizumab failure. surgical resection followed by concomitant radiotherapy and chemotherapy is the standard of
care for patients with newly-diagnosed GBM. single-agent bevacizumab is the only FdA-approved therapy for GBM patients with progressive disease following
prior therapy. After disease progression on bevacizumab, patients may start a subsequent bevacizumab-containing regimen.
Preliminary results from the 4003 trial were reported at the esMO 2012 Congress, the 2013 scientific Meeting and education day of the society for neuroOncology, or snO, and most recently at snO in november 2014. As reported by Andrew J. Brenner, M.d., Ph.d., the study principal investigator at snO 2014, a
total of 23 patients in the Phase 1/2 study were treated with bevacizumab 10 mg/kg every two weeks and evofosfamide dose escalated 240 – 670 mg/m 2 every two
weeks (four-week cycle) until disease progression. Patients had received a median of three prior systemic anticancer regimens including both chemoradiation and
bevacizumab. no Grade 4 adverse events were observed. Three Grade 3 adverse events in three patients were observed: skin ulceration at 340 mg/m 2 ,
thrombocytopenia at 670 mg/m 2 , and oral mucositis at 670 mg/m 2 . Primary evofosfamide-related toxicities were mucosal, but were not dose-limiting: rectal
mucositis in one of four (1/4) patients at 480 mg/m 2 and all patients (13/13) at 670 mg/m 2 (all Grade 1 or 2). Oral mucositis was less frequent. Best tumor
responses in 22 patients evaluable by response Assessment in neuro-Oncology (rAnO) criteria included one complete response and three partial responses for a
response rate of 18%, and ten stable disease assessments for a clinical benefit rate of 64%; eight patients had progressive disease. Median progression-free survival
was 2.8 months (95% CI: 1.9 to 3.9 months) and 4-month progression-free survival was 22% (95% CI: 3.2% to 41%). Median overall survival was 4.6 months
(95% CI: 3.4 to 6.2 months).
enrollment has been completed in this investigator-sponsored trial, and the recommended Phase 2 dose of evofosfamide was established at 670 mg/ m 2 in
combination with 10 mg/kg bevacizumab administered every other week. In 2014, the investigator received funding from the FdA to conduct a multiple-center
Phase 2 trial of evofosfamide at the recommended Phase 2 dose in combination with bevacizumab in this patient population, as described below. After completion
of the study, we will assess whether
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further development of evofosfamide and bevacizumab in patients with glioblastoma (GBM) following bevacizumab failure is warranted.
TH-IST-4008: FDA-funded Phase 2 Investigator Sponsored Trial in GBM
In september 2014, the FdA, through its Office of Orphan Product development, awarded dr. Brenner a grant for a Phase 2 clinical trial of evofosfamide
for the treatment of GBM, which we refer to as TH-IsT-4008. dr. Brenner's investigator-sponsored Phase 2 trial, which is designed to assess safety and efficacy of
670 mg/m 2 evofosfamide in combination with bevacizumab for the treatment of recurrent GBM following prior bevacizumab failure, is expected to enroll up to 33
patients. PeT imaging will also be conducted in an effort to predict which patients may benefit from evofosfamide combination therapy. dana Farber Cancer
Institute and The University of Texas at Austin are participating in the trial.
enrollment in this Investigator sponsored Trial commenced in 2015 and is ongoing. After completion of the study, we will assess whether further
development of evofosfamide in patients with GBM is warranted.
TH-IST-4001: Phase 1 dose escalation trial of evofosfamide and pazopanib in patients with advanced solid tumors
The 4001 trial evaluated evofosfamide in combination with pazopanib in patients with advanced solid tumors. results were reported at the 2013 AACrnCI-eOrTC annual meeting for the 30 patients enrolled with a variety of solid tumors for whom standard therapy or palliative measures were nonexistent or no
longer effective. The clinical benefit rate was 76% (n=25 evaluable patients) with three patients with partial responses (12%) and 16 patients with stable disease
(64%). The partial responses were observed in patients with neuroendocrine cancer, ovarian cancer, and chondrosarcoma. Treatment-related Grade 3 hematological
adverse events were reported for neutropenia (7%), thrombocytopenia (7%), and anemia (13%). Treatment-related, Grade ≥ 2 nonhematologic adverse events
included vomiting/nausea/diarrhea (7% Grade 3), mucositis (7% Grade 3), hand foot syndrome (all Grade 2), and hypertension (all Grade 2). no Grade 4 adverse
events have been reported.
The 4001 Investigator sponsored Trial has completed enrollment. There are no current plans for further investigation of evofosfamide in combination with
pazopanib at this time.
TH-IST-4004: A Phase 1/2 Investigator Sponsored Trial of evofosfamide in combination with sorafenib in patients with advanced kidney cancer or
hepatocellular cancer
study 4004 is a Phase 1/2 Investigator sponsored Trial designed to evaluate the safety and efficacy of evofosfamide in combination with sorafenib
(sutent®)) in patients with advanced kidney cancer or liver cancer that cannot be removed by surgery. The primary objectives of the Phase 1 portion are to
determine the maximum-tolerated dose and recommended Phase 2 dosing for the combination of sorafenib and evofosfamide; overall response rate in patients with
advanced hepatocellular cancer will be assessed in the Phase 2 portion.
This nCI Cooperative Group sponsored Trial (The Alliance) completed enrolling patients in the Phase 1 portion of the study and is planning to enroll
patients into the Phase 2 portion of the trial in 2017. After completion of the study, we will assess whether further development of evofosfamide in combination
with sorafenib in patients with advanced hepatocellular cancer is warranted.
In addition to the evofosfamide programs with antiangiogenics mentioned above, there is also one monotherapy trial ongoing:
EMR200592-013: A Phase II Study of TH-302 Monotherapy As Second-Line Treatment in Advanced Biliary Tract Cancer
study 013 is a Phase 2 Investigator sponsored Trial designed to evaluate the safety and efficacy of evofosfamide in patients with advanced biliary tract
cancer who have failed first-line chemotherapy. This study is being conducted at seoul national University Hospital in south Korea. After completion of the
study, we will assess whether further development of evofosfamide in patients with advanced biliary tract cancer is warranted.
[18F]-HX4 Investigational PET Imaging Agent for Hypoxia
Our other product candidate, [18F]-HX4 [flortanidazole (18F)] is an investigational Positron emission Tomography (PeT) imaging agent for hypoxia
developed by siemens Healthcare Molecular Imaging to potentially identify and quantify the degree of hypoxia in tumors in vivo . In view of the results of both
Phase 3 trials of evofosfamide and both Phase 2 trials of tarloxotinib as described above, no further clinical development is planned.
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Our Preclinical Candidate
TH-3424 Investigational AKR1C3-Activated Prodrug
TH-3424 is our small-molecule drug candidate, discovered at Threshold, being evaluated for the potential treatment of hepatocellular (liver) cancer, castrate
resistant prostate cancer, T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemias, and other cancers expressing high levels of aldo-keto reductase family 1 member C3, or AKr1C3.
Tumors overexpressing AKr1C3 can be resistant to radiation therapy and chemotherapy. TH-3424 is a prodrug in preclinical development that selectively releases
a potent dnA cross-linking agent in the presence of AKr1C3. Preliminary nonclinical studies including biochemical, in vitro cell-based and in vivo animal-based
characterization of its pharmacological properties were presented at the 2016 Annual Meeting of the American Association for Cancer research (AACr) in April
2016. The preliminary nonclinical toxicology studies suggested an adequate therapeutic index. We believe that the preliminary nonclinical study results warranted
continued development of TH-3424 in Investigational new drug (Ind)-enabling toxicology studies in collaboration with Ascenta Pharmaceuticals, ltd. which we
expect will be completed by the fourth quarter of 2017. Our evaluation of TH-3424 is at an early stage and our ability to advance evofosfamide if the Merger does
not close will require us to obtain significant additional funding, whether through new collaborative, partnering or other strategic arrangements or otherwise with
TH-3424.
Market Opportunities
Many different approaches are used in treating cancer, including surgery, radiation and drugs or a combination of these approaches. drugs used to treat
cancer include chemotherapeutics, hormones and immune-based therapies. Traditionally, strategies for designing cancer therapies have focused on killing cancer
cells that exhibit rapid division and growth. such cells are found in regions of the tumor that have an adequate blood supply and therefore receive nutrients and
oxygen essential for cell division and growth. However, the vasculature supporting tumors is highly disorganized and irregular. This results in regions of the tumor
that do not receive adequate amounts of nutrients and oxygen. low oxygen concentration within a tumor is called “tumor hypoxia”. Traditional anticancer agents
fail to address tumor hypoxia.
Many traditional anticancer agents are not able to penetrate into the hypoxic zones of tumors. Furthermore, cells that reside within regions of tumor hypoxia
are relatively quiescent in contrast to highly proliferative cells that are the hallmark of cancer. As many traditional cancer therapies work by blocking cell division,
they are not effective in killing the non-dividing, quiescent cells within hypoxic zones. It has also been demonstrated that cells subjected to prolonged hypoxia
accumulate changes in their growth properties and genetic mutations that can lead to drug resistance, enhanced metastatic potential, and, ultimately, treatment
failure.
Another disadvantage of current cancer therapies that target rapidly dividing cells is their toxic side effects. Because rapidly dividing cells are also found in
many healthy tissues, particularly the gastrointestinal tract, bone marrow and hair follicles, nearly all conventional chemotherapy drugs cause severe side effects
which may lead to bleeding, infection and anemia, as well as other side effects, such as diarrhea and hair loss. likewise, radiation generally cannot be administered
without causing significant damage to healthy tissue surrounding a tumor.
Given its role in tumor progression, metastasis, resistance, and ultimately treatment failure, hypoxia is emerging as a significant, high-priority target for
cancer therapy. As our prodrugs are designed to undergo selective activation under conditions of tumor hypoxia, we anticipate that they should have a favorable
safety profile and produce less toxicity to normal tissues at the doses that are effective in treating tumors than is the case with traditional therapies.
We have generated clinical data with evofosfamide alone and administered in combination with multiple anticancer drugs and in multiple cancer types.
drugs that we have tested in combination with evofosfamide include chemotherapies (e.g., doxorubicin, gemcitabine, docetaxel, pemetrexed, bortezomib) and
antiangiogenics (e.g., pazopanib, bevacizumab, sorafenib, and sunitinib). The current total market addressed by these drugs exceeds $10 billion. We have tested
evofosfamide in numerous indications including pancreatic cancer, glioblastoma, kidney cancer, liver cancer, and gastrointestinal stromal tumors. In the U.s. alone,
new cases of these cancers exceed 170,000 per annum.
The table below depicts the latest estimates from the American Cancer society on expected 2017 incidence and deaths for cancers in the United states that
we consider therapeutic areas of interest for evofosfamide.
Type of Cancer

New Cases

Kidney and renal Pelvis
Pancreatic cancer
liver (& intrahepatic bile duct)
Brain (& other nervous system)

63,990
53,670
40,710
23,800
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Deaths

14,400
43,090
28,920
16,700

The treatment landscape for pancreatic cancer is described below.
Pancreatic Cancer
It is estimated that 337,872 cases of pancreatic cancer are diagnosed worldwide every year, accounting for 2.4% of all cancers. Almost 67% of cases are
diagnosed in people aged 65 and over; it is uncommon in people under the age of 45. Pancreatic cancer has a low survival rate regardless of stage of disease, with
93% of patients dying from their disease within 5 years. It is estimated that there are 330,372 deaths from pancreatic cancer worldwide each year.
Gemcitabine is the current standard of care for patients with pancreatic cancer and is associated with a median overall survival of approximately 6 months
and an overall response rate of approximately 8%. Two other therapeutic agents have been approved for the first-line treatment of patients with pancreatic cancer.
erlotinib is approved for the first line of treatment of patients with pancreatic cancer based on its registrational Phase 3 study in combination with gemcitabine
shown to convey a median overall survival of 6.4 months and overall response rate (complete plus partial response rate) of 8.6%. nab-paclitaxel was approved by
the FdA as first–line treatment for patients with metastatic adenocarcinoma of the pancreas, in combination with gemcitabine. Approval was based on an 861patient Phase 3 clinical trial in chemotherapy-naïve patients with metastatic pancreatic cancer. nab-paclitaxel plus gemcitabine demonstrated a statistically
significant improvement in median overall survival compared to gemcitabine alone (8.5 vs. 6.7 months) (Hr 0.72, p<0.0001).
Glufosfamide
From 2004 through 2009 we conducted clinical development of glufosfamide, a drug candidate that shares certain structural characteristics with glucose but
acts instead as a chemotherapeutic agent when taken up by a cell. In October 2009, we entered into an exclusive license agreement with eleison Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. or eleison. Pursuant to the agreement we granted eleison exclusive worldwide rights to manufacture, develop and commercialize glufosfamide for the
treatment of cancer in humans and animals, and certain other uses. Under the agreement, eleison is responsible for the development, manufacturing and marketing
of glufosfamide. Under the agreement, amended in January 2016, eleison will pay Threshold 30% of the profits of commercialization and certain sales-based
milestone payments, if the further clinical development of glufosfamide leads to regulatory approval and marketing. We have no further development plans for
glufosfamide.
In October 2013, eleison announced that it had initiated a pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial of glufosfamide for the second-line treatment of patients with
pancreatic cancer. According to their corporate news release, this pivotal trial will enroll patients with relapsed or refractory pancreatic cancer following prior
chemotherapy treatment. The randomized, open-label trial is being conducted to evaluate the safety and efficacy of glufosfamide, with a target enrollment of 480
patients. The primary endpoint is overall survival with a number of pre-specified secondary endpoints. The trial will exclude insulin-treated diabetic patients.
eleison has an agreement with the FdA on an sPA for this Phase 3 clinical trial. The trial is expected to be complete enrollment in 2017.
Discovery Research
As part of the workforce reduction enacted in december 2015, we eliminated our discovery research activities conducted in-house but are exploring further
evaluation of our oncology compound discovery program with third-parties.
Manufacturing and Supply
We do not have our own manufacturing capability for the active pharmaceutical ingredient, or API, or the final drug product of evofosfamide. Under our
Termination Agreement with Merck KGaA, Threshold has exclusive rights to manufacture evofosfamide for clinical and commercial use. To date, however, we
have relied on, and we expect to continue to rely on, a limited number of third-party single source contract manufacturers and excipient suppliers for the
evofosfamide API and evofosfamide drug product to meet our clinical supply needs of evofosfamide. We have no long-term commitments or commercial supply
agreements with any of our evofosfamide suppliers. We will need to enter into additional agreements for additional supplies of each of our product candidates to
complete clinical development and/or commercialize them. These products will need to satisfy all cGMP manufacturing requirements, including passing product
specifications. Our inability to satisfy these requirements could delay our clinical programs.
We base our estimates for the amount of drug product we will need on assumptions about trial enrollment and trial dose levels. If we are not successful in
having sufficient quantities of evofosfamide API and drug product manufactured, or if manufacturing is interrupted at our contract manufacturers for evofosfamide
API and evofosfamide drug product due to regulatory or other reasons, or consume more drug product than anticipated because of a higher than expected trial
utilization or have quality issues that limit the utilization of the drug product, we may experience a significant delay in our evofosfamide clinical program. In any
event, additional agreements for more supplies of each of our product candidates, including evofosfamide, will be needed to complete clinical
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development and/or commercializ e them. In this regard, we may need to enter into agreements for additional supplies of evofosfamide to commercialize it or
develop such capability itself. These products will need to satisfy all cGMP manufacturing requirements, including passing product s pecifications. Our inability to
satisfy these requirements could delay our clinical programs. If evofosfamide is approved by the FdA or other regulatory agencies for commercial sale, we will
need to have it manufactured in commercial quantities. It may not be possible to successfully manufacture commercial quantities of evofosfamide and tarloxotinib
or increase the manufacturing capacity for evofosfamide or tarloxotinib in a timely or economically feasible manner.
We also expect to rely on contract manufacturers or other third parties to produce sufficient quantities of clinical trial product for any other product
candidates that we may develop. It is possible that we might not be able to develop a formulation with adequate quality that meets the need for testing in our
clinical trials. In any event, in order for us to commence any planned or potential future clinical trials of our product candidates, we need to obtain or have
manufactured sufficient quantities of clinical trial product and there can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain sufficient quantities of clinical trial product
in a timely manner or at all.
Research and Development Expenses
during the years ended december 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, we spent $16.6 million, $40.3 million and $35.8 million, respectively, on research and
development, including product development, discovery research and contract manufacturing activities.
License and Development Agreements
Agreement with Merck KGaA
On February 3, 2012, we entered into a global license and co-development agreement for evofosfamide with Merck KGaA, or the license Agreement.
Under the terms of the license Agreement, Merck KGaA received co-development rights, exclusive global commercialization rights and provided us an option to
co-commercialize evofosfamide in the United states, and we were entitled to receive an upfront and milestone payments and tiered royalties on commercial sales of
evofosfamide. To date, we have received upfront and milestone payments of $110 million. Under the license Agreement, Merck KGaA also paid 70% of
worldwide development costs for evofosfamide. On March 10, 2016, we and Merck KGaA agreed to terminate the license Agreement pursuant to a termination
agreement, or the Termination Agreement. Under the terms of the Termination Agreement, all rights under the license Agreement were returned to Threshold, as
well as all rights to Merck KGaA technology developed under the license Agreement. Under the terms of the Termination Agreement, Merck KGaA is entitled to
tiered royalties on net sales of evofosfamide, if any, and milestone payments contingent upon the future successful development and commercialization of
evofosfamide. To date, we have received upfront and milestone payments of $110 million. We previously recorded these as deferred revenue and amortized them
over the estimated performance period.
As a result of the termination of the license Agreement, we are no longer eligible to receive any further milestone payments or other funding from Merck
KGaA, including the 70% of worldwide development costs for evofosfamide that were previously borne by Merck KGaA under the license Agreement. since we
are no w solely responsible for the further development and commercialization of evofosfamide at our own cost, we are evaluating potential partnering
opportunities for evofosfamide, and in this regard, we are currently seeking a pharmaceutical partner for evofosfamide with a commercial presence in oncology in
Japan. In any event, our ability to advance the clinical development of evofosfamide is dependent upon our ability to enter into new collaborative or partnering
arrangements for evofosfamide, or to otherwise obtain sufficient additional funding for such development.
Threshold will be responsible for the commercialization of evofosfamide. Threshold is evaluating further development and commercialization opportunities
for evofosfamide with other partners.
Agreement with Auckland Uniservices Ltd
On september 23, 2014, we entered into an exclusive license agreement with Auckland Uniservices ltd., a wholly-owned company of the University of
Auckland. Pursuant to the agreement, we licensed exclusive worldwide rights to a development program based on tarloxotinib from the University of Auckland.
Under the terms of this agreement, we made no upfront payment but we are required to pay all costs of development, as well as possible annual license
maintenance fees starting in september 2017.
Agreement with Ascenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
On February 1, 2016, we entered into a patent assignment and development agreement with Ascenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Pursuant to the agreement, we
granted Ascenta exclusive rights in China, Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan to manufacture, develop and commercialize TH-3424 for the treatment of cancer in
humans and animals, and certain other uses. Under the agreement, Ascenta is responsible for pre-Ind activities for the development of TH-3424 and if an Ind
Application is filed in one of these countries Ascenta’s rights can be expanded to include Japan, south Korea, singapore, Malaysia, Thailand, Turkey and
India. Ascenta would be
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responsible for the development, manufacture and commercialization of TH-3424 in those countries and Threshold has rights to development, manufacture and
commercialization in the rest of the world.
Under the agreement, Ascenta will pay us 30% of patent prosecution costs before they are assigned. If an initial new drug (Ind) application is accepted in
the U.s, Threshold will reimburse 50% of approved development expenses incurred associated with filing the Ind. The agreement will remain in effect as long as
Ascenta continues to develop TH-3424 in its territory. each party is entitled to terminate the agreement upon the other party’s material breach after expiration of a
60-day cure period (30 days in the event of a payment breach). The parties are entitled to mutually terminate the agreement. In addition, Ascenta may terminate the
agreement upon change of control of Threshold or 60 days prior to receipt of marketing approval from the CFdA for TH-3424. Following any termination, all
assigned rights will revert to us.
Agreement with Eleison Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
On January 8, 2016, we amended the exclusive license agreement with eleison. Pursuant to the original agreement effective on October, 18, 2009, we
granted eleison exclusive worldwide rights to manufacture, develop and commercialize glufosfamide for the treatment of cancer in humans and animals, and
certain other uses. Under the agreement, eleison is responsible for the development, manufacturing and marketing of glufosfamide.
Under the amendment, eleison will pay us 30% of its profits from commercialization on a quarterly basis, beginning on the date of first commercial sale, if
any. eleison has the right to sublicense some or all of its rights under the agreement, and will pay us 30% of amounts received under any sublicenses, including,
without limitation, any royalty payments, license fee payments, milestone payments and payments for any equity or debt purchases by a sublicensee, within 30 days
of the receipt of any such amounts or payments by eleison. In addition, eleison is now required to pay us up to $175 million in potential sales-based milestone
payments. eleison will bear all costs associated with development, commercialization and patent prosecution, and will control product development and
commercialization. In addition, eleison will be responsible for all royalty and milestone payments due under certain agreements pursuant to which we licensed
rights related to glufosfamide. The agreement contemplates that eleison, to satisfy its diligence obligations, will raise sufficient funds to continue clinical
development activities with glufosfamide. In the event that eleison fails to satisfy its diligence obligations, we may, at our option, terminate the agreement for
material breach or convert the license granted under the agreement to a non-exclusive license.
The agreement will remain in effect as long as eleison continues to sell glufosfamide anywhere in the world or receives payments under any sublicenses.
each party is entitled to terminate the agreement upon the other party’s material breach after expiration of a 60-day cure period (30 days in the event of a payment
breach). each party is entitled to terminate the agreement immediately upon the bankruptcy or similar petition of the other party that is not discharged within
60 days, or the assignment for the benefit of creditors by, or the appointment of a receiver over the property of, the other party. In addition, eleison may terminate
the agreement for convenience at any time on 90 days written notice to us.
Following any termination by eleison for convenience or by us for eleison’s material breach, all licensed rights will revert to us. Following any termination
by eleison for our material breach, all licensed rights will fully vest in eleison, provided that eleison will be required to pay us 30% of the profit sharing payments
it otherwise would have been required to pay us under the agreement.
Patents and Proprietary Rights
Our policy is to patent the technologies, inventions and improvements that we consider important to the development of our business. As of March 27, 2017,
we owned 123 U.s. and foreign patents and patent applications relating to evofosfamide and its manufacture, formulation and use. These include 9 issued U.s.
patents expiring from 2024 to 2036 and 76 issued foreign patents expiring from 2024 to 2032(in each case, without including any regulatory-delay based patent
term extension), as well as 11 pending U.s., 3 pending Patent Cooperation Treaty and 24 pending foreign national patent applications, which, if issued, would in
each case expire from 2024 to 2037 (without including any regulatory- or patent office-delay based patent term extension).
Although we have U.s. and foreign issued patents that cover certain hypoxia-targeted prodrugs, including evofosfamide and tarloxotinib, we have no issued
patents or pending patent applications that would prevent others from taking advantage of hypoxia-targeted prodrug technology generally to discover and develop
new therapies for cancer or other diseases. Consequently, our competitors may seek to discover and develop potential therapeutics that operate by mechanisms of
action that are the same or similar to the mechanisms of action of our hypoxia-targeted prodrug product candidates.
The patent positions of companies like ours are generally uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions. Our ability to maintain and solidify our
proprietary position for our technology will depend on our success in obtaining effective claims and enforcing those claims once granted. We do not know whether
any of our pending patent applications will result in the issuance of any

17

patents. Moreover, an issued patent does not guarantee us the right to practice the patented technology or commercialize the patented product. Other parties may
have blocking patents that could be used to prevent us from commercializing our patented products and practicing our patented technolog y. Our issued patents and
those that may be issued in the future may be challenged, invalidated, or circumvented, which could limit our ability or render us unable to stop competitors from
marketing related products as well as shorten the term of patent pr otection that we may have for our products. In addition, the rights granted under any issued
patents may not provide us with proprietary protection or competitive advantages against competitors with similar technology. Furthermore, our competitors may
inde pendently develop similar technologies that do not infringe our intellectual property rights. For these reasons, we may have competition for our products.
Moreover, because of the extensive time required for development, testing and regulatory review of a potential therapeutic product, it is possible that, before any of
our products can be commercialized, any related patent may expire or remain in force for only a short period following commercialization, thereby reducing any
advantage of the patent. If we are not able to obtain adequate protection for, or defend, the intellectual property position of evofosfamide, tarloxotinib or any other
potential future product candidates, then we may not be able to retain or attract collaborators to partner our developm ent programs. Further, even if we can obtain
protection for and defend the intellectual property position of evofosfamide, tarloxotinib or any potential future product candidates, we or any of our potential
future collaborators still may not be able to exc lude competitors from developing or marketing competing drugs. should this occur, we and potential future
collaborators may not generate any revenues or profits from evofosfamide, tarloxotinib or any potential future product candidates or our revenue or pr ofit potential
would be significantly diminished.
We also rely on trade secrets, technical know-how and continuing innovation to develop and maintain our competitive position. We seek to protect our
proprietary information by requiring our employees and certain of our consultants, contractors, outside scientific collaborators and other advisors to execute nondisclosure and assignment of invention agreements on commencement of their employment or engagement. Agreements with our employees also forbid them from
using third party trade secret or other confidential information in their work. We also require confidentiality or material transfer agreements from third parties that
receive our confidential data or proprietary materials.
The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are characterized by the existence of a large number of patents and frequent litigation based on allegations
of patent infringement. For so long as our product candidates are in clinical trials, we believe our clinical activities fall within the scope of the exemptions provided
by 35 U.s.C. section 271(e) in the United states, which exempts from patent infringement liability activities reasonably related to the development and submission
of information to the FdA. This exemption does not apply to commercialization activities; however, if our product candidates are commercialized, then the
possibility of a patent infringement claim against us increases. While we attempt to ensure that our clinical product candidates and the methods we employ to
manufacture them, as well as the methods for their use we intend to promote, do not infringe other parties’ patents and other proprietary rights, there can be no
assurance that they do not, and competitors or other parties may assert that we infringe their proprietary rights in any event.
Competition
We operate in the highly competitive segment of the pharmaceutical market comprised of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies that research,
develop and commercialize products designed to treat cancer. Many of our competitors have significantly greater financial, manufacturing, marketing, research and
product development resources than we do. large pharmaceutical companies in particular have extensive experience in clinical testing and in obtaining regulatory
approval for drugs. These companies also have significantly greater research capabilities than we do. In addition, many universities and private and public research
institutes are active in cancer research, some in direct competition with us. We also compete with these organizations to recruit scientists and clinical development
personnel.
each cancer indication for which we are or may be developing products has a number of established medical therapies with which our candidates will
compete. Most major pharmaceutical companies and many biotechnology companies are aggressively pursuing cancer development programs, including traditional
therapies and therapies with novel mechanisms of action. Our evofosfamide and tarloxotinib product candidates for targeting the tumor hypoxia are likely to be in
highly competitive markets and may eventually compete with other therapies offered by companies who are developing or were developing drugs that target tumor
hypoxia. Our competitors may succeed in developing their products before we do, obtaining approvals from the FdA or other regulatory agencies for their products
more rapidly than we do, or developing products that are more effective than evofosfamide. These products or technologies might render our technology obsolete
or noncompetitive. There may also be product candidates of which we are not aware at an earlier stage of development that may compete with evofosfamide.
Our cancer product candidates face competition from established biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies and from generic pharmaceutical
manufacturers. In particular, if approved for commercial sale for pancreatic cancer, evofosfamide would compete with Gemzar ® , marketed by eli lilly and
Company; Tarceva ® , marketed by roche/Genentech and Astellas Oncology; Abraxane ® marketed by Celgene; and FOlFIrInOX, which is a combination of
generic products that are sold individually by many manufacturers.
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Governmental Regulation and Product Approval
The manufacturing and marketing of our potential products and our ongoing research and development activities are subject to extensive regulation by the
FdA and comparable regulatory agencies in state and local jurisdictions and in foreign countries.
United States Regulation
Before any of our products can be marketed in the United states, they must secure approval by the FdA. To secure this approval, any drug we develop must
undergo rigorous preclinical testing and clinical trials that demonstrate the product candidate’s safety and effectiveness for each chosen indication for use. This
extensive regulatory process controls, among other things, the development, testing, manufacture, safety, efficacy, record keeping, labeling, storage, approval,
import, export, advertising, promotion, sale, and distribution of biopharmaceutical products.
In general, the process required by the FdA before investigational drugs may be marketed in the United states involves the following steps:
•

pre-clinical laboratory and animal tests;

•

submission of an investigation new drug application or Ind, which must become effective before human clinical trials may begin;

•

adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials to establish the safety and efficacy of the proposed drug for its intended use;

•

pre-approval inspection of manufacturing facilities and selected clinical investigators; and

•

FdA approval of a new drug application or ndA, or of an ndA supplement (for subsequent indications).

Preclinical Testing
In the United states, drug candidates are tested in animals until adequate proof of safety is established. These preclinical studies generally evaluate the
mechanism of action of the product, expose and assess the potential safety and efficacy of the product. Tested compounds must be produced according to
applicable current good manufacturing practice, or cGMP, requirements and preclinical safety tests must be conducted in compliance with FdA and international
regulations regarding good laboratory practices, or GlP. The results of the preclinical tests, together with manufacturing information and analytical data, are
generally submitted to the FdA as part of an Ind, which must be become effective before human clinical trials may commence. The Ind will automatically
become effective 30 days after receipt by the FdA, unless before that time the FdA requests an extension or raises concerns about the conduct of the clinical trials
as outlined in the application. If the FdA has any concerns, the sponsor of the application and the FdA must resolve the concerns before the hold is lifted and
before clinical trials can begin. submission of an Ind may not result in FdA authorization to commence a clinical trial. A separate submission to the existing Ind
must be made for each successive clinical trial conducted during product development. Investigator sponsored Trials are Inds held by investigators that utilize
investigational drugs supplied by a pharmaceutical manufacturer. data generated under Investigator sponsored Trials may not be as robust as commercially
sponsored Ind trials. regulatory authorities may require additional data before allowing the clinical trials to commence or proceed from one Phase to another, and
could demand that the trials be discontinued or suspended at any time if there are significant safety issues. Furthermore, an independent institutional review board,
or IrB, for each medical center proposing to participate in the conduct of the clinical trial must review and approve the clinical protocol and patient informed
consent before the center commences the clinical trial. [18F]-HX4 [flortanidazole (18F)] will require submission of a separate Ind.
Clinical Trials
Clinical trials for new drug candidates are typically conducted in three sequential phases, under Good Clinical Practices, that may overlap. Phase 1 clinical
trials involve the initial introduction of the drug candidate into humans and are conducted in volunteers or in patients with a specific disease depending on the
intended use of the drug and its potential safety profile. The emphasis in Phase 1 is on testing for safety (adverse effects), dosage, tolerance, absorption,
metabolism, distribution, excretion, and preliminary clinical pharmacology. Phase 2 clinical trials involve a limited patient population to determine the initial
efficacy of the drug candidate for specific targeted indications, to determine dosage tolerance and optimal dosage and to identify possible adverse side effects and
safety risks. When a compound shows evidence of effectiveness along with an acceptable safety profile in Phase 2 clinical trials the drug is moved to Phase 3
development. Phase 3 clinical trials are undertaken to more fully evaluate the safety and efficacy and to establish the overall risk/benefit profile of the drug. These
Phase 3 clinical trials are the basis for determining if the drug should be approved for commercialization. during all clinical trials, physicians monitor patients to
determine effectiveness of the drug candidate and observe and report any adverse effects or safety risks that may result from use of the drug candidate. The FdA,
the IrB, or the sponsor may
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suspend a clinical trial at any time on various grounds, including a finding that the subjects are being exposed to an unacceptable health risk or that the drug is not
sufficiently efficacious to continue further studies.
The data from the clinical trials, together with preclinical data and other supporting information that establishes a drug candidate’s safety profile and
efficacy, are submitted to the FdA in the form of an ndA or ndA supplement (for approval of a new indication if the product candidate is already approved for
another indication). The cost of preparing and submitting a ndA is substantial. Under federal law, the submission of most ndAs is additionally subject to a
substantial application user fee, and the manufacturer and/or sponsor under an approved ndA are also subject to annual product and establishment user fees. Under
applicable laws and FdA regulations, each ndA submitted for FdA assessment is reviewed for filing within 60 days following submission of the ndA. If deemed
acceptable, the FdA will “file” the ndA, thereby initiating the review clock triggering substantive review of the application. The FdA can refuse to file any ndA
that it deems incomplete or not properly reviewable. The FdA has established internal goals of reviewing and acting on ndAs within six months of filing for
priority ndAs (for drugs addressing serious or life threatening conditions for which there is an unmet medical need) and ten months of filing for standard ndAs.
Priority review is assigned by the FdA to drugs that it determines offer major advances in treatment, or provide a treatment where no adequate therapy exists. The
FdA, however, is not legally required to complete its review within these periods, and these performance goals may change over time. Following a complete
review of the application the FdA will either issue an approval or a complete response letter outlining the deficiencies in the submission, which may require
substantial additional testing or information for the FdA to reconsider the application. The FdA’s review of an ndA may involve review and recommendations by
an independent FdA advisory committee. The FdA may deny approval of an ndA or ndA supplement if the applicable regulatory criteria are not satisfied, or it
may require additional clinical data and/or an additional pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial. risk evaluation and Mitigation strategies, or reMs, may be required for
approval of an ndA. even if such data or reMs are submitted, the FdA may ultimately decide that the ndA or ndA supplement does not satisfy the criteria for
approval.
Data Review and Approval
satisfaction of FdA requirements or similar requirements of state, local and foreign regulatory agencies typically takes several years and requires the
expenditure of substantial financial resources. Information generated in this process is susceptible to varying interpretations that could delay, limit, or prevent
regulatory approval at any stage of the process. Accordingly, the actual time and expense required to bring a product to market may vary substantially. We cannot
be certain that we will submit applications for required authorizations to manufacture and/or market potential products or that any such application will be reviewed
and approved by the appropriate regulatory authorities in a timely manner, if at all. data obtained from clinical activities is not always conclusive and may be
susceptible to varying interpretations that could delay, limit, or prevent regulatory approval. success in early stage clinical trials does not ensure success in later
stage clinical trials. even if a product candidate receives regulatory approval, the approval may be significantly limited to specific disease states, patient
populations, and dosages, or have conditions placed on them that restrict the commercial applications, advertising, promotion, or distribution of these products.
Once issued, the FdA may withdraw product approval if ongoing regulatory standards are not met or if safety problems occur after the product reaches the
market. In addition, the FdA may require testing and surveillance programs to monitor the effect of approved products that have been commercialized, and the
FdA has the power to prevent or limit further marketing of a product based on the results of these post-marketing programs. The FdA may also request additional
clinical trials after a product is approved. These so-called postmarketing, or Phase 4 studies, may be made a condition to be satisfied after a drug receives approval.
The results of postmarketing studies can confirm the effectiveness of a product candidate and can provide important safety information to augment the FdA’s
voluntary adverse drug reaction reporting system. The product may be subject to withdrawal of the approval if effectiveness is not confirmed in the Phase 4 studies.
Any products manufactured or distributed by us pursuant to FdA approvals would be subject to continuing regulation by the FdA, including record-keeping
requirements and reporting of adverse experiences with the drug. drug manufacturers and their subcontractors are required to register their establishments with the
FdA and certain state agencies, and are subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FdA and certain state agencies for compliance with good
manufacturing practices, which impose certain procedural and documentation requirements upon us and our third-party manufacturers. We cannot be certain that
we or our present or future suppliers will be able to comply with the cGMP regulations and other FdA regulatory requirements. If our present or future suppliers
are not able to comply with these requirements, the FdA may halt our clinical trials, require us to recall a drug from distribution, or withdraw approval of the ndA
for that drug. Furthermore, even after regulatory approval is obtained, later discovery of previously unknown problems with a product may result in restrictions on
the product or even complete withdrawal of the product from the market.
The FdA closely regulates the marketing and promotion of drugs. Approval may be subject to post-marketing surveillance and other record keeping and
reporting obligations, and involve ongoing requirements. Product approvals may be withdrawn if compliance with regulatory standards is not maintained or if
problems occur following initial marketing. A company can make only those claims relating to safety and efficacy that are approved by the FdA and is specifically
included in drug labeling. While physicians may prescribe legally available drugs for uses that are not described in the product’s labeling and that differ from those
tested by us and approved by the FdA, manufacturers may only promote for the approved indications and in accordance with the provisions of the
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approved label. Failure to comply with FdA requirements can result in adverse publicity, warning letters, corrective advertising, and potential civil and criminal
penalties.
Special Protocol Assessments
A clinical trial sponsor may submit a request for an sPA from the FdA. Under the sPA procedure, a sponsor may seek the FdA’s agreement on the design
and size of a clinical trial intended to form the primary basis of an effectiveness claim. If the FdA agrees in writing, its agreement may not be changed after the
trial begins, except in limited circumstances, such as when a substantial scientific issue essential to determining the safety and effectiveness of a product candidate
is identified after a Phase 3 clinical trial is commenced and agreement is obtained with the FdA. If the outcome of the trial is successful, the sponsor will ordinarily
be able to rely on it as the primary basis for approval with respect to effectiveness. The FdA, however, may make an approval decision based on a number of
factors, including the degree of clinical benefit, and the FdA is not obligated to approve an ndA as a result of an sPA, even if the clinical outcome is positive.
Orphan Drug Designation
Under the Orphan drug Act, the FdA may grant orphan drug designation to drugs intended to treat a rare disease or condition, which is generally a disease
or condition that affects fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United states. Orphan drug designation must be requested before submitting an ndA. After the FdA
grants orphan drug designation, the identity of the therapeutic agent and its potential orphan use are disclosed publicly by the FdA. Orphan drug designation does
not convey any advantage in or shorten the duration of the regulatory review and approval process. If a product that has orphan drug designation subsequently
receives FdA approval for the disease for which it has such designation, the product is entitled to orphan product exclusivity, which means that the FdA may not
approve any other applications to market the same drug for the same disease, except in limited circumstances, for seven years. These circumstances are an inability
to supply the drug in sufficient quantities or a situation in which a new formulation of the drug has shown superior safety or efficacy or a major contribution to
patient care. This exclusivity, however, also could block the approval of our product for seven years if a competitor obtains earlier approval of the same drug for
the same indication.
Other Health Care Laws
In addition to FdA restrictions, other federal and state laws restrict our business practices. In the United states, we are subject to various federal and state
laws pertaining to healthcare, including, without limitation, “fraud and abuse” laws such as anti-kickback and false claims laws, data privacy and security laws, and
payment transparency laws.
The federal Anti-Kickback law makes it illegal for any person, including a prescription drug manufacturer (or a party acting on its behalf) to, among other
things, knowingly and willfully solicit, offer, receive or pay any remuneration, directly or indirectly, in exchange for, or to induce, the referral of business,
including the purchase, order or prescription of a particular drug, for which payment may be made under federal healthcare programs such as Medicare and
Medicaid. Violations of the law are punishable by up to five years in prison, criminal fines, administrative penalties, civil money penalties, and exclusion from
participation in federal healthcare programs. due to the breadth of these laws, and the potential for additional legal or regulatory change addressing some of our
practices, it is possible that our practices or our relationships with physicians might be challenged under anti-kickback laws, which could harm us.
Civil and Criminal false claims laws and civil monetary penalties laws prohibit, among other things, any person or entity from knowingly presenting, or
causing to be presented, for payment to third-party payors (including Medicare and Medicaid) claims for reimbursed items or services, including drugs, that are
false or fraudulent, claims for items or services not provided as claimed, or claims for medically unnecessary items or services. Our future activities relating to the
reporting of wholesaler or estimated retail prices for our products, the reporting of Medicaid rebate information and other information affecting federal, state and
third-party reimbursement of our products, and the sale and marketing of our products, are subject to scrutiny under these laws. In addition, pharmaceutical
companies have been prosecuted under the federal civil False Claims Act in connection with their off-label promotion of drugs. Penalties for a violation of the civil
False Claims Act, some of which may be broader in scope, include three times the actual damages sustained by the government, plus mandatory civil penalties of
between $5,500 and $11,000 for each separate false claim. In addition, certain states have enacted laws modeled after the federal civil False Claims Act. If the
government were to allege that we were, or convict us of, violating these false claims laws, we could be subject to substantial penalties, including, for example,
potentially significant fines which may cause a decline in our stock price.
The federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, created new federal criminal statutes that prohibit among other actions,
knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program, including private third-party payors and
knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any materially false, fictitious or fraudulent statement in connection with
the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items or services.
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In addition, we may be subject to data privacy and security regulation by both the federal government and the states in which we conduct our
business. HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for economic and Clinical Health Act, or HITeCH, and its implementing regulations,
imposes certain requirements relating to the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information
Additionally, the federal Physician Payments sunshine Act, created under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care
education reconciliation Act, collectively the ACA, and its implementing regulations, require certain manufacturers of drugs, devices, biological products and
medical supplies to report annually information related to certain payments or other transfers of value provided to physicians and teaching hospitals and to report
annually certain ownership and investment interests held by physicians and their immediate family members.
In addition, many states have adopted laws similar to the aforementioned laws. some of these state prohibitions may be broader in scope and may apply to
referral of patients for healthcare services reimbursed by any source, not only the Medicare and Medicaid programs. Additionally, our business operations in
foreign countries and jurisdictions may subject us to additional regulation.
If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the health regulatory laws described above or any other laws that apply to us, we may be subject to
penalties, including potentially significant criminal and civil and/or administrative penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, imprisonment, exclusion from
participation in government healthcare programs, contractual damages, reputational harm, administrative burdens, diminished profits and future earnings, and the
curtailment or restructuring of our operations, any of which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our results of operations.
Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984
Under the drug Price Competition and Patent Term restoration Act of 1984, known as the Hatch-Waxman Amendments, a portion of a product’s patent
term that was lost during clinical development and application review by the FdA may be restored. The Hatch-Waxman Amendments also provide for a statutory
protection, known as nonpatent market exclusivity, against the FdA’s acceptance or approval of certain competitor applications. The Hatch-Waxman Amendments
also provide the legal basis for the approval of abbreviated new drug applications, or AndAs, for generic drugs.
Patent term restoration can compensate for patent life lost during product development and the regulatory review process by returning up to five years of
patent life for a patent that covers a new product or its use. This period is generally one-half the time between the effective date of an Ind (falling after issuance of
the patent) and the submission date of an ndA, plus the time between the submission date of an ndA and the approval of that application. Patent term restorations,
however, are subject to a maximum extension of five years, and the patent term restoration cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years.
The application for patent term extension is subject to approval by the United states Patent and Trademark Office in conjunction with the FdA. It takes at least six
months to obtain approval of the application for patent term extension. Up to five years of interim one year extensions are available if a product is still undergoing
development or FdA review at the time of its expiration.
The Hatch-Waxman Amendments also provide for a period of statutory protection for new drugs that receive ndA approval from the FdA. If a new drug
receives ndA approval as a new chemical entity, meaning that the FdA has not previously approved any other new drug containing the same active moiety, then
the Hatch-Waxman Amendments prohibit an abbreviated new drug application or an ndA where the applicant does not own or have a legal right of reference to all
of the data required for approval, or a “505(b)(2)” ndA, to be submitted by another company for a generic version of such drug, with some exceptions, for a period
of five years from the date of approval of the ndA. The statutory protection provided pursuant to the Hatch-Waxman Amendments will not prevent the filing or
approval of a full ndA. In order to gain approval of a full ndA, however, a competitor would be required to conduct its own preclinical investigations and clinical
trials. If ndA approval is received for a new drug containing an active ingredient that was previously approved by the FdA but the ndA is for a drug that includes
an innovation over the previously approved drug, for example, an ndA approval for a new indication or formulation of the drug with the same active ingredient,
and if such ndA approval was dependent upon the submission to the FdA of new clinical investigations, other than bioavailability studies, conducted or paid for
by the sponsor, then the Hatch-Waxman Amendments prohibit the FdA from making effective the approval of an AndA or a 505(b)(2) ndA for a generic version
of such drug for a period of three years from the date of the ndA approval. This three year exclusivity, however, only covers the innovation associated with the
ndA to which it attaches. Thus, the three year exclusivity does not prohibit the FdA, with limited exceptions, from approving AndAs or 505(b)(2) ndAs for
drugs containing the same active ingredient but without the new innovation.
While the Hatch-Waxman Amendments provide certain patent term restoration and exclusivity protections to innovator drug manufacturers, it also permits
the FdA to approve AndAs for generic versions of their drugs. The AndA process permits competitor companies to obtain marketing approval for a drug with the
same active ingredient for the same uses but does not require the conduct and submission of clinical trials demonstrating safety and effectiveness for that product.
Instead of safety and effectiveness data, an AndA applicant needs only to submit data demonstrating that its product is bioequivalent to the innovator product as
well as relevant
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chemistry, manufacturing and control d ata. The Hatch-Waxman Amendments also instituted a third type of drug application that requires the same information as
an ndA including full reports of clinical and preclinical studies except that some of the information from the reports required for mark eting approval comes from
studies which the applicant does not own or have a legal right of reference. This type of application, a “505(b)(2) ndA,” permits a manufacturer to obtain
marketing approval for a drug without needing to conduct or obtain a right of reference for all of the required studies.
Finally, the Hatch-Waxman Amendments require, in some circumstances, an AndA or a 505(b)(2) ndA applicant to notify the patent owner and the holder
of the approved ndA of the factual and legal basis of the applicant’s opinion that the patent listed by the holder of the approved ndA in FdA’s Orange Book is not
valid or will not be infringed (the patent certification process). Upon receipt of this notice, the patent owner and the ndA holder have 45 days to bring a patent
infringement suit in federal district court and obtain a 30-month stay against the company seeking to reference the ndA. The ndA holder could still file a patent
suit after the 45 days, but if they did, they would not have the benefit of the 30-month stay. Alternatively, after this 45-day period, the applicant may file a
declaratory judgment action, seeking a determination that the patent is invalid or will not be infringed. depending on the circumstances, however, the applicant
may not be able to demonstrate a controversy sufficient to confer jurisdiction on the court. The discovery, trial and appeals process in such suits can take several
years. If such a suit is commenced, the Hatch-Waxman Act provides a 30-month stay on the approval of the competitor’s AndA or 505(b)(2) ndA. If the litigation
is resolved in favor of the competitor or the challenged patent expires during the 30-month period, unless otherwise extended by court order, the stay is lifted and
the FdA may approve the application. Under the Modernization Act, the patent owner and the ndA holder have the opportunity to trigger only a single 30-month
stay per AndA or 505(b)(2) ndA.
Foreign Approvals
In addition to regulations in the United states, we will be subject to a variety of foreign regulations governing clinical trials and commercial sales and
distribution of our products. Whether or not we obtain FdA approval for a product, we must obtain approval of a product by the comparable regulatory authorities
of foreign countries before we can commence clinical trials or marketing of the product in those countries. The approval process varies from country to country,
and the time may be longer or shorter than that required for FdA approval. The requirements governing the conduct of clinical trials, product licensing, pricing and
reimbursement vary greatly from country to country.
Under european Union regulatory systems, we may submit marketing authorizations either under a centralized or decentralized procedure. The centralized
procedure provides for the grant of a single marketing authorization that is valid for all european Union member states. The decentralized procedure provides for
mutual recognition of national approval decisions. Under this procedure, the holder of a national marketing authorization may submit an application to the
remaining member states. Within 90 days of receiving the applications and assessment report, each member state must decide whether to recognize approval.
Under the Japanese regulatory system administered by the Pharmaceuticals and Medical devices Agency (PMdA), pre-marketing approval and clinical
studies are required for all pharmaceutical products. To obtain manufacturing/ marketing approval, we must submit an application for approval to the MHlW with
results of nonclinical and clinical studies to show the quality, efficacy and safety of a new drug. A data compliance review, GCP on-site inspection, cGMP audit
and detailed data review are undertaken by the PMdA. The application is then discussed by the committees of the Pharmaceutical Affairs and Food sanitation
Council (PAFsC). Based on the results of these reviews, the final decision on approval is made by Ministry of Health, labour and Welfare (MHlW). In Japan, the
national Health Insurance system maintains a drug Price list specifying which pharmaceutical products are eligible for reimbursement, and the MHlW sets the
prices of the products on this list. After the approval, negotiations regarding the reimbursement price with MHlW will begin. The price will be determined within
60 to 90 days unless the applicant disagrees, which may result in extended pricing negotiations. The government generally introduces price cut rounds every other
year and also mandates price decreases for specific products. new products judged innovative or useful, that are indicated for pediatric use, or that target orphan or
small population diseases, however, may be eligible for a pricing premium. The government has also promoted the use of generics, where available.
The policies of the FdA and foreign regulatory authorities may change and additional government regulations may be enacted which could prevent or delay
regulatory approval of our investigational drugs or approval of new diseases for our existing products. We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of adverse
governmental regulation that might arise from future legislative or administrative action, either in the United states or abroad.
Other Government Regulation
Our research and development activities use biological and hazardous materials that are dangerous to human health and safety or the environment. We are
subject to a variety of federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the use, generation, manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of these materials and
wastes resulting from these materials. We are also subject to regulation by the Occupational safety and Health Administration, or OsHA, the California and federal
environmental protection
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agencies and to regulation under the T oxic substances Control Act. OsHA or the California or federal ePA may adopt regulations that may affect our research and
development programs. We are unable to predict whether any agency will adopt any regulations that could have a material adverse effect on our operations. We
have incurred, and will continue to incur, capital and operating expenditures and other costs in the ordinary course of our business in complying with these laws
and regulations.
Revenues and Information About Geographic Areas
We had no revenues for the year ended december 31, 2016. All of our revenues for the years ended december 31, 2015 and 2014 resulted from the
amortization of upfront and milestone payments received under our former collaboration with Merck KGaA. Further information on our collaboration with Merck
KGaA is included in note 3 to our consolidated financial statements. All of our long-lived assets are maintained in the United states.
Employees
As of december 31, 2016, we had 15 employees, including 6 who hold Ph.d. and/or M.d. degrees. 8 of our employees are engaged in research and
development, and our remaining employees are management or administrative staff. none of our employees is subject to a collective bargaining agreement. We
believe that we have good relations with our employees.
Our Corporate Information
We were incorporated in delaware on October 17, 2001. Our principal executive offices are located at 170 Harbor Way suite 300, south san Francisco
94080. Our telephone number is (650) 474-8200.
Available Information
We file electronically with the securities and exchange Commission, or seC, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current
reports on Form 8-K pursuant to section 13(a) or 15(d) of the exchange Act. The seC maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy information and
information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the seC. The address of that website is http://www.sec.gov . The
materials are also available at the seC’s Public reference room, located at 100 F street, Washington, d.C. 20549. The public may obtain information through the
public reference room by calling the seC at 1-800-seC-0330.
You may obtain a free copy of our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those
reports on the day of filing with the seC on our website at http://www.thresholdpharm.com or by contacting the Investor relations department at our corporate
offices by calling (650) 474-8200. The information contained in, or that can be accessed through, our website is not part of, and is not incorporated into, this annual
report on Form 10-K.
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ITEM 1A.

RISK FACTORS

We have identified the following risks and uncertainties that may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of
operations. The risks described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks not presently known to us or that we currently believe are immaterial may
also significantly impair our business operations. Our business could be harmed by any of these risks. The trading price of our common stock could decline due to
any of these risks, and you may lose all or part of your investment. In assessing these risks, you should refer to the other information contained in this annual
report on Form 10-K, including our consolidated financial statements and related notes.
Risks Related to Our Business
Our strategic transaction with Molecular Templates may not be consummated or may not deliver the anticipated benefits we expect.
In March 2017, we entered into a Merger Agreement with Molecular Templates pursuant to which the shareholders of Molecular Templates will become the
majority owners of Threshold. In addition the proposed $20 million commitment from longitude is subject to certain conditions, including the closing of the
Merger and the Company having secured commitments from additional investors for the purchase of an additional $20 million of such securities (the
“Financing”). The Merger, however, is not conditioned upon the closing of the Financing. We are devoting substantially all of our time and resources to
consummating the Merger and the Financing, however, there can be no assurance that such activities will result in the consummation of the Merger and the
Financing or that such transaction will deliver the anticipated benefits or enhance shareholder value. We cannot assure you that we will complete the Transaction
in a timely manner or at all. The Merger Agreement is subject to many closing conditions and termination rights. If the Merger does not occur, our board of
directors may elect to attempt to complete another strategic transaction similar to the Merger and the Financing. Attempting to complete another similar strategic
transaction will be costly and time-consuming, and we cannot make any assurances that a future strategic transaction will occur on terms that provide the same or
greater opportunity for potential value to our stockholders, or at all. If we are unable to close another strategic transaction and unable to successfully obtain funding
for the continued development of evofosfamide and/or partner TX-3424 or HX4, our board of directors may determine to sell or otherwise dispose of our various
assets, and distribute any remaining cash proceeds to our stockholders. In that event, the Company would be required to pay all of its debts and contractual
obligations, and to set aside certain reserves for potential future claims, there would be no assurances as to the amount or timing of available cash remaining to
distribute to stockholders after paying its obligations and setting aside funds for reserves.
Prior to September 2016, our business was almost entirely dependent on the success of evofosfamide and tarloxotinib, and we have suspended further
clinical development of tarloxotonib.
Prior to september 2016, we invested substantially all of our efforts and financial resources in the research and development of evofosfamide and
tarloxotinib. In december 2015, we announced topline results from two pivotal Phase 3 clinical trials of evofosfamide: TH-Cr-406 conducted by Threshold in
patients with soft tissue sarcoma and MAesTrO conducted by Merck KGaA, darmstadt, Germany (“, or Merck KGaA”), in patients with advanced pancreatic
cancer; and that neither trial met its primary endpoint of demonstrating a statistically significant improvement in overall survival. In March 2017, we received
minutes from the Company’s formal meeting with the PMdA indicating that the Company’s analysis of the data from the randomized Phase III study,
eMr200592-001 (n=693), conducted under a special Protocol Agreement with the FdA, and the data from the supporting randomized Phase II study, TH-Cr-404
(n=214),would not provide adequate efficacy data to support the submission of a new drug Application (“JndA”) for evofosfamide for the treatment of patients
with locally advanced unresectable or metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma previously untreated with chemotherapy. In september, 2016, the Company
announced that its Phase 2 proof-of-concept trial evaluating tarloxotinib bromide for the treatment of patients with mutant eGFr-positive, T790M-negative
advanced non-small cell lung cancer(nsClC) progressing on an eGFr tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TH-Cr-601) did not achieve its primary interim response rate
endpoint.
If we are unable to consummate the Merger with Molecular Templates, there can be no assurance that we will conduct drug development activities in the
future. Pharmaceutical product development is a highly speculative undertaking and involves a substantial degree of risk. To date, we have focused substantially
all of our efforts on our research and development activities on our lead product candidate, evofosfamide. To date, we have not commercialized any products or
generated any revenue from product sales. We are not profitable and have incurred losses in each year since our inception in 2001, and we do not know whether or
when we will become profitable. We have only a limited operating history upon which to evaluate our business and prospects. We continue to incur significant
development and other expenses related to our ongoing operations. Our net loss for the year ended december 31, 2016 was $24.1 million and as of december 31,
2016, we had an accumulated deficit of $353.5 million. To date, we have financed our operations primarily through the sale of equity securities and debt facilities.
The amount of our future net losses will depend, in part, on the rate of our future expenditures and our ability to obtain funding through equity and/or debt
financings and strategic collaborations. It will be several years, if ever, before evofosfamide is ready for commercialization.

25

Our history of net losses and our expectation of future losses, together with our limited operating history, may make it difficult to evaluate our curren t
business and predict our future performance. In addition, the net losses we incur may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year, such that a
period-to-period comparison of our results of operations may not be a good indication of o ur future performance. In any particular quarter or quarters, our
operating results could be below the expectations of securities analysts or investors, which could cause our stock price to decline.
We may not be able to complete the merger, and we may not have sufficient funds to pursue another strategic transaction similar to such merger.
We cannot be sure that we will be able to complete the Merger in a timely manner, or at all. The Merger Agreement is subject to many closing conditions
and termination rights.
If the strategic transaction with Molecular Templates is not consummated, we may require substantial additional funding to operate.
Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:
•

our ability to identify and consummate a new strategic transaction for the company;

•

the timing and nature of any new strategic transactions that we undertake, including, but not limited to potential joint developments or partnerships;

•

whether, as a result of our strategic and financial review with a financial advisor we enter into a new partnership or business combination;

•

the time and cost necessary to obtain regulatory approvals for evofosfamide and the costs of post-marketing studies that could be required by
regulatory authorities;

•

our ability to successfully commercialize evofosfamide;

•

our ability to establish and maintain collaboration partnerships, in-license/out-license or other similar arrangements and the financial terms of such
agreements;

•

the costs of filing, prosecuting, maintaining, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights, including litigation costs
and the outcome of such litigation, including costs of defending any claims of infringement brought by others in connection with the development,
manufacture or commercialization of evofosfamide or any other future product candidates; and

•

the cost incurred in responding to disruptive actions by activist stockholders.

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial revenue, we would need to finance our cash needs through a combination of equity offerings, debt
financings, government or other third-party funding and licensing or collaboration arrangements. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of
equity or convertible debt securities, the ownership interests of our common stockholders will be diluted, and the terms of these securities may include liquidation
or other preferences that adversely affect the rights of our common stockholders. debt financing, if available, may involve agreements that include covenants
limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends. If we raise
additional funds through government or other third-party funding, marketing and distribution arrangements or other collaborations, strategic alliances or licensing
arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or product candidates or
to grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us.
Additional funds may not be available when we need them on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. If adequate funds are not available to us on a timely
basis, we may be required to curtail our operations .
If we do not successfully consummate the strategic transaction with Molecular Templates, our board of directors may decide to pursue a dissolution and
liquidation of our company. In such an event, the amount of cash available for distribution to our stockholders will depend heavily on the timing of such
liquidation as well as the amount of cash that will need to be reserved for commitments and contingent liabilities.
There can be no assurance that we can successfully consummate the Merger with Molecular Templates. If the transaction is not completed, our board of
directors may decide to pursue a dissolution and liquidation of our company. In such an event, the amount of cash available for distribution to our stockholders will
depend heavily on the timing of such decision and, ultimately, such liquidation, since the amount of cash available for distribution continues to decrease as we fund
our operations in preparation for the consummation of the transaction with Molecular Templates. Further, the Merger Agreement with Molecular Templates
contains
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certain termination rights for each party, and provides that, upon termination under specified circumstances, w e may be required to pay Molecular Templates a
termination fee of $750,000 and to reimburse certain fees and expenses incurred by Molecular Templates which would further decrease our available cash
resources. If our board of directors were to approve and recommend, and our stockholders were to approve, a dissolution and liquidation of our company, we
would be required under delaware corporate law to pay our outstanding obligations, as well as to make reasonable provision for contingent and unknown obligati
ons, prior to making any distributions in liquidation to our stockholders. Our commitments and contingent liabilities may include (i) regulatory and clinical
obligations remaining under our evofosfamide trial; (ii) obligations under our employment and sepa ration agreements with certain employees that provide for
severance and other payments following a termination of employment occurring for various reasons, including a change in control of our company; and
(iii) potential litigation against us, and other v arious claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. As a result of this requirement, a portion of
our assets may need to be reserved pending the resolution of such obligations. In addition, we may be subject to litigation or other claims related to a dissolution
and liquidation of our company. If a dissolution and liquidation were pursued, our board of directors, in consultation with its advisors, would need to evaluate these
matters and make a determination about a reasonable amoun t to reserve. Accordingly, holders of our common stock could lose all or a significant portion of their
investment in the event of a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our company.
If the merger is not completed, and we would need to raise significant capital to support our operations, and successfully develop and complete clinical
trials for our existing drug candidate, or acquire and develop other products or product candidates at all or on commercially reasonable terms.
Given the limited development of evofosfamide, our limited cash resources, and the additional capital and resources that would be required to pursue such
development, if the Merger is not completed, we could be required to rely on securing a collaborative or strategic arrangement for one of our existing drug
candidates to support our operations and our future development and clinical trial costs. due to our history, limited cash resources, limited operational and
management capabilities and the intense competition for pharmaceutical product candidates, even if we generate interest in a collaborative or strategic arrangement
to support the further development of one of our drug candidates, we may not be able to enter into a final agreement on commercially reasonable terms, on a timely
basis or at all. Proposing, negotiating and implementing an economically viable collaborative or strategic arrangement is a lengthy and complex process. As of
december 31, 2016, Threshold had cash and cash equivalents totaling $23.6 million. Threshold believes that its current cash and cash equivalents will only be
sufficient to fund its operations through next twelve months. Threshold competes for collaborative arrangements and license agreements with the drug candidates
and technology developed by other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies and academic research institutions. Threshold's competitors may have stronger
relationships with third parties with whom they may be interested in collaborating, or which have greater financial, development and commercialization resources
and/or more established histories of developing and commercializing products than Threshold. As a result, competitors may have a competitive advantage over
Threshold in entering into collaborative arrangements with such third parties. In addition, even if Threshold enters into a collaborative or strategic arrangement, the
arrangement may not provide Threshold with sufficient funds to support its operations and there is no assurance that its drug candidates would satisfy the
development and/or clinical milestones established in the collaborative or strategic arrangement. Further, any drug candidate Threshold pursues will require
additional development and regulatory efforts prior to commercial sale, including extensive clinical testing and approval by the FdA and other non-U.s. regulatory
authorities. All product candidates are subject to the risks of failure inherent in pharmaceutical product development, including the possibility that the product
candidate will not be shown to be sufficiently safe and effective for approval by regulatory authorities and the possibility that, due to strategic considerations,
Threshold will discontinue research or development with respect to a product candidate for which it has already incurred significant expense. even if the product
candidates are approved, Threshold cannot be sure that they would be capable of economically feasible production or commercial success.
If we do not successfully complete the Merger, we will require substantial additional funding in the event to continue our operations, and will need to
curtail operations if we have insufficient capital.
Threshold had cash and cash equivalents of $23.6 million at december 31, 2016. Threshold believes that its current cash and cash equivalents will only be
sufficient to fund its operations through next twelve months unless Threshold sells additional shares of its common stock through its ATM sales Agreement or
otherwise. Based on the development and clinical status of its existing drug candidates, Threshold expects its negative cash flows from operations to continue for
the foreseeable future.
As such, if the Merger is not consummated, our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:
•

our ability to identify, negotiate and consummate an alternate strategic transaction;

•

our ability to secure a collaborative or licensing arrangement on commercially reasonable terms, on a timely basis or at all;

•

the timing and nature of any future strategic transactions that Threshold undertake;

•

the cost of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights;
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•

the effect of competing technological and market developments; and

•

the cost incurred in responding to disruptive actions by activist stockholders.

There can be no assurance that additional funds will be available when needed from any source or, if available, will be available on terms that are acceptable
to us or our stockholders. As a result, if Threshold is unable complete the merger or otherwise raise funds to satisfy its capital needs on a timely basis, there can be
no assurance that Threshold will be able to continue to operate its business beyond the next twelve months.
We are substantially dependent on our remaining employees to facilitate the consummation of a strategic transaction.
Our ability to successfully complete a strategic transaction depends in large part on our ability to retain our remaining personnel. However, despite our
efforts to retain these members of our management, one or more may terminate their employment with us on short notice. The loss of the services of any of these
employees could potentially harm our ability to consummate a strategic transaction, as well as fulfill our reporting obligations as a public company.
We are substantially dependent on our remaining employees to facilitate the consummation of a strategic transaction.
Our ability to successfully complete a strategic transaction depends in large part on our ability to retain our remaining personnel, particularly Harold selick,
our chief executive officer until March 31, 2017 and chairman of the board after March 31, 2017, Wilfred Jaeger, our chief executive officer after March 31, 2017,
Kristen Quigley, our vice president of clinical operations, and Joel Fernandes our senior vice president of finance. However, despite our efforts to retain these
members of our management, one or more may terminate their employment with us on short notice. The loss of the services of any of these employees could
potentially harm our ability to consummate a strategic transaction, as well as fulfill our reporting obligations as a public company.
Risks Related to the Merger
The exchange ratio is not adjustable based on the market price of the Company’s common stock so the merger consideration at the closing may have a
greater or lesser value than at the time the Merger Agreement was signed.
The Merger Agreement has set the exchange ratio for the Molecular Templates common stock, and the exchange ratio is only adjustable upward or
downward if the net cash of the Company changes, prior to completion of the Merger. Any changes in the market price of Threshold common stock before the
completion of the Merger will not affect the number of shares Molecular Templates security holders will be entitled to receive pursuant to the Merger Agreement.
Failure to complete the Merger may result in us paying a termination fee or reimbursing expenses to Molecular Templates and could harm the price of our
common stock.
If the merger is not completed, we are subject to the following risks:
•

if the Merger Agreement is terminated under certain circumstances, we will be required to pay a termination fee of $750,0000 and reimburse certain
transaction fees expenses incurred by Molecular Templates;

•

the price of our stock may decline and remain volatile; and

•

costs related to the merger, such as financial advisor, legal and accounting fees, some which must be paid even if the Merger is not completed.

In addition, if the Merger is not consummated and Molecular Templates were to be unable to repay the $2.0 million bridge loan we made to Molecular
Templates in connection with the execution of the Merger Agreement, we would be an unsecured creditor of Molecular Templates. Moreover, our bridge loan is
effectively subordinated to Molecular Templates’ secured debt. In addition, if the Merger Agreement is terminated and our board of directors determines to seek
another strategic transaction, there can be no assurance that we will be able to find a partner willing to proscribe equivalent or more attractive value to us than the
value proscribed by Molecular Templates in the Merger Agreement. Any termination or inability to complete the Merger could result in a significant decline in our
stock price and could have a material adverse effect on our business.
The merger may be completed even though material adverse changes may result from the announcement of the merger, industry-wide changes and other
causes.
In general, either we or Molecular Templates can refuse to complete the merger if there is a material adverse change affecting the other party between
March 16, 2017, the date of the Merger Agreement and the closing. However, certain types of changes do not
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permit either par ty to refuse to complete the merger, even if such change could be said to have a material adverse effect on us or Molecular Templates , including:
•

any effect resulting from the execution, delivery, announcement or performance of obligations under the Merger Agreement or the announcement or
pendency or anticipated consummation of the merger or any related transactions;

•

any natural disaster or any act of terrorism, sabotage, military action or war (whether or not declared) or escalation or any worsening thereof;

•

any change in United states generally accepted accounting principles or any change in applicable laws, rules or regulations or the interpretation
thereof;

•

any conditions generally affecting the industries in which Molecular Templates and Threshold and their respective subsidiaries participate or the
United states or global economy or capital markets as a whole to the extent such conditions do not have a disproportionate impact on Molecular
Templates or Threshold and their respective subsidiaries, as applicable;

•

any failure by Molecular Templates or Threshold to meet internal projections of forecasts or third-party revenue or earnings predictions for any period
ending on or after the date of the Merger Agreement; or

•

the resignation or termination of a key director or officer of Molecular Templates or Threshold.

If adverse changes occur and Threshold and Molecular Templates still complete the merger, the combined organization stock price may suffer. This in turn
may reduce the value of the merger to the stockholders of Threshold, Molecular Templates or both.
Some Threshold officers and directors have interests in the merger that are different from yours and that may influence them to support or approve the
merger without regard to your interests.
Certain officers and directors of Threshold participate in arrangements that provide them with interests in the merger that are different from yours,
including, among others, severance benefits, the acceleration of stock option vesting and continued indemnification. For example, in connection with Threshold
hiring its executive officers, Threshold entered into customary severance agreements with its executive officers that provide them with cash severance payments,
reimbursement for health coverage costs and the acceleration of their outstanding equity awards by 24 months in the event their employment is terminated without
cause in connection with or following a change of control of Threshold. Based on the terms of these employment agreements, Threshold's executive officers are
contractually entitled to these severance payments, benefits and accelerated vesting because they will be terminated in connection with the consummation of the
merger.
Based on the terms of their respective severance agreements, Threshold's executive officers will be entitled to receive an aggregate total value of
approximately $2.0 million in severance benefits due to the terminations of their employment upon a change of control to occur in connection with the
consummation of the Merger. These interests, among others, may influence the officers and directors of Threshold to support or approve the merger.
The market price of Threshold common stock following the Merger may decline as a result of the Merger.
The market price of Threshold common stock may decline as a result of the Merger for a number of reasons including if:
•

investors react negatively to the prospects of the combined organization's business and prospects from the Merger;

•

the effect of the Merger on the combined organization's business and prospects is not consistent with the expectations of financial or industry analysts;
or

•

the combined organization does not achieve the perceived benefits of the Merger as rapidly or to the extent anticipated by financial or industry
analysts.

Threshold stockholders may not realize a benefit from the Merger commensurate with the ownership dilution they will experience in connection with the
merger.
If the combined organization is unable to realize the full strategic and financial benefits currently anticipated from the Merger, Threshold stockholders will
have experienced substantial dilution of their ownership interests in their respective companies without receiving any commensurate benefit, or only receiving part
of the commensurate benefit to the extent the combined organization is able to realize only part of the strategic and financial benefits currently anticipated from the
Merger. Threshold stockholders will experience further dilution upon the closing of the Financing, which is expected to occur immediately following the closing of
the Merger.
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If the merger is not completed, our stock price may decline significantly.
The market price of our common stock is subject to significant fluctuations. during the 12-month period ended december 31, 2016, the sales price of our
common stock on The nAsdAQ Capital Market ranged from a high of $1.22 in september 2016 to a low of $0.27 in February 2016. Market prices for securities of
early-stage pharmaceutical, biotechnology and other life sciences companies have historically been particularly volatile. In addition, the market price of our
common stock will likely be volatile based on whether stockholders and investors believe that we can complete the Merger or otherwise raise additional capital to
support our operations if the merger is not consummated and another strategic transaction cannot be identified, negotiated and consummated in a timely manner, if
at all. The volatility of the market price of Threshold common stock is exacerbated by low trading volume. Additional factors that may cause the market price of
our common stock to fluctuate include:
•

the initiation of, material developments in, or conclusion of litigation to enforce or defend its intellectual property rights or defend against the
intellectual property rights of others;

•

the entry into any in-licensing agreements securing licenses, patents or development rights;

•

the entry into, or termination of, key agreements, including commercial partner agreements;

•

announcements by commercial partners or competitors of new commercial products, clinical progress or the lack thereof, significant contracts,
commercial relationships or capital commitments;

•

adverse publicity relating to antibody-based drug candidates, including with respect to other products and potential products in such markets;

•

the introduction of technological innovations or new therapies that compete with its potential products;

•

the loss of key employees;

•

future sales of its common stock;

•

general and industry-specific economic conditions that may affect its research and development expenditures; and

•

period-to-period fluctuations in financial results.

Moreover, the stock markets in general have experienced substantial volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of individual
companies. These broad market fluctuations may also adversely affect the trading price of Threshold common stock. In the past, following periods of volatility in
the market price of a company's securities, stockholders have often instituted class action securities litigation against the company. such litigation, if instituted,
could result in substantial costs and diversion of management attention and resources, which could significantly harm Threshold's profitability and reputation.
During the pendency of the Merger, we may not be able to enter into a business combination with another party at a favorable price because of restrictions
in the Merger Agreement, which could adversely affect our businesses.
Covenants in the Merger Agreement impede our ability to make acquisitions, subject to certain exceptions relating to fiduciaries duties, as set forth below,
or complete other transactions that are not in the ordinary course of business pending completion of the Merger. As a result, if the Merger is not completed, we may
be at a disadvantage to our competitors during that period. In addition, while the Merger Agreement is in effect, we are generally prohibited from, among other
things, soliciting, initiating, knowingly encouraging or entering into certain extraordinary transactions, such as a merger, sale of assets or other business
combination outside the ordinary course of business, with any third party. Any such transactions could be favorable to our stockholders.
Certain provisions of the Merger Agreement may discourage third parties from submitting alternative takeover proposals, including proposals that may be
superior to the arrangements contemplated by the Merger Agreement.
The terms of the Merger Agreement prohibit each of us from soliciting alternative takeover proposals or cooperating with persons making unsolicited
takeover proposals, except in limited circumstances when, among other things, our board of directors determines in good faith that an unsolicited alternative
takeover proposal is or is reasonably likely to result in a superior takeover proposal and that failure to cooperate with the proponent of the proposal is reasonably
likely to be a breach of the board's fiduciary duties. In addition, if we terminate the Merger Agreement under certain circumstances, including terminating because
of a decision of our board of directors to recommend a superior proposal, we would be required to pay to the other party a termination fee equal to $750,000 and the
third-party fees and expenses incurred by Molecular Templates. This termination fee may discourage third parties from submitting alternative takeover proposals to
Threshold or its stockholders, and may cause our boards of directors to be less inclined to recommend an alternative proposal.
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If the conditions to th e Merger are not met, the Merger will not occur.
even if the Merger is approved by the stockholders of Threshold and Molecular Templates, specified conditions must be satisfied or waived to complete the
Merger. These conditions are set forth in the Merger Agreement. Threshold and Molecular Templates cannot assure you that all of the conditions will be satisfied.
If the conditions are not satisfied or waived, the Merger will not occur or will be delayed, and we may lose some or all of the intended benefits of the Merger.
Risks Related to Drug Discovery, Development and Commercialization
We remain dependent upon the success of evofosfamide. If we are unable to successfully develop and obtain regulatory approval for evofosfamide, our
business and future prospects will be severely harmed.
We have focused our development activities on evofosfamide, and substantially all of our efforts and expenditures continue to be devoted to evofosfamide.
Accordingly, our future prospects are dependent on the successful development, regulatory approval and commercialization of evofosfamide. On June 2, 2016, we
received preliminary comments from the FdA relating to our request for a meeting indicating that our analysis of the data from the MAesTrO study and the data
from a supporting randomized Phase 2 study would not provide adequate efficacy data to support the submission of a new drug application, or ndA, for
evofosfamide for the treatment of patients with locally advanced unresectable or metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma previously untreated with
chemotherapy. Accordingly, we would be required to successfully conduct one or more additional Phase 3 clinical trials before the FdA would accept any ndA
for evofosfamide. Our inability to submit an ndA to the FdA for evofosfamide in the absence of additional Phase 3 development has significantly harmed our
business and future prospects. We have conducted additional analyses of the data from MAesTrO trial and have reviewed and discussed the results of our
analyses with the Pharmaceuticals and Medical devices Agency, or PMdA, in Japan, to determine potential registration pathways. securing regulatory approval
requires the submission of extensive preclinical and clinical data, information about product manufacturing processes and inspection of facilities and supporting
information to the regulatory agencies for each therapeutic indication to establish evofosfamide’s safety and efficacy. Historically, Japan has required that pivotal
clinical data submitted in support of a new drug application be performed on a significant population of Japanese patients. The PMdA may acc ept U.s. or e.U.
patient data when submitted along with a bridging study, but only if it demonstrates that Japanese and non-Japanese subjects react comparably to the product. If we
are required to conduct such a bridging study, we would be required to raise additional funding, which we may be unable to do. The PMdA has substantial
discretion in the approval process and may refuse to accept any application or may decide that the data from the MAesTrO trial are insufficient to support the
approval of any marketing authorization and that one or more additional clinical trials of evofosfamide would be required to be successfully conducted by us in
order to support any such approval, including with respect to the Japanese sub-population we are targeting. If we are required to successfully conduct and complete
any additional clinical trials of evofosfamide in order to support potential approval of evofosfamide in Japan or elsewhere , we would be required to obtain
additional capital and there can be no assurances that we would be successful in obtaining the additional funding, whether through new collaborative, partnering or
other strategic arrangements or otherwise, necessary to support any additional clinical development of evofosfamide. If our planned discussions with the PMdA do
not lead to a registration pathway in Japan that does not require us to conduct any additional clinical trials of evofosfamide, our evofosfamide development strategy
would be limited to the planned Phase 1 clinical trial of evofosfamide in combination with immune checkpoint antibodies in collaboration with researchers and
clinicians at The University of Texas Md Anderson Cancer Center, and we do not expect to conduct any further development of evofosfamide beyond the planned
Phase 1 clinical trial unless such development is part of a new collaborative or partnering arrangement or other strategic transaction or we are otherwise able to
raise significant additional funding.
In any event, the process of obtaining regulatory approvals is expensive, often takes many years, if approval is obtained at all, and can vary substantially
based upon the type, complexity and novelty of the product candidates involved. Changes in the enactment of additional statutes or regulations, or changes in
regulatory review for each submitted product application, may cause delays in the approval or rejection of an application. In addition, varying interpretations of the
data obtained from preclinical and clinical testing could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval of evofosfamide. Any regulatory approval we may ultimately
obtain, from the PMdA or otherwise, may be limited in scope or subject to restrictions or post-approval commitments that render evofosfamide or potential future
product candidates not comm ercially viable. In particular, even if we are able to obtain and maintain regulatory approval of evofosfamide in Japan, the commercial
prospects for evofosfamide could be diminished as a result of the more limited patient population in Japan. If any regu latory approval that we do obtain, including
from the PMdA, is delayed or is limited, we may decide not to commercialize the applicable product candidate after receiving the approval. In addition, in March
2016, we and Merck KGaA agreed to terminate our collaboration and, as a result, we will not receive any clinical development milestones or any other funding
from Merck KGaA for the purpose of conducting any further clinical development of evofosfamide . Under our former collaboration with Merck KGaA, Merck
KGaA was responsible for 70% of the worldwide development expenses for evofosfamide . If we are unable to obtain sufficient additional funding for the further
development of evofosfamide , whether through new collaborative, partnering or other strategic arrangements or otherwise, we may be required to cease further
development of our evofosfamide program . Also, issues with the successful and timely transfer of evofosfamide development activities from Merck KGaA could
significantly impact our ability to pursue registration with regulatory authorities and potential partners, and there can be no assurance that such development
activities will be successfully transferred to us in a timely manner or at all. For these and other reasons, we cannot assure you that we will be able to advance the
development of evofosfamide.

31

In such event, we may be required to abandon the development of evofosfamide and forego any return on our investment from our evofosfamide program, which
would severely harm our future prospects and may cause us to cease operations.
even if we are able to meaningfully advance the development of evofosfamide , the failure of evofosfamide in the future to achieve successful clinical trial
endpoints, delays in clinical trial enrollment or events or in the clinical development of evofosfamide, unanticipated adverse side effects related to evofosfamide or
any other unfavorable developments or information related to evofosfamide would further significantly harm our business and our future prospects. For example, in
January 2016, we announced that an IdsMB concluded that our registrational Phase 2 clinical trial of evofosfamide plus pemetrexed versus pemetrexed alone in
patients with non-squamous non-small cell lung cancer was unlikely to reach its primary endpoint of improving overall survival with statistical significance and, as
a result, enrollment in this trial was closed and in connection therewith, we determined to cease enrollment in all Threshold-sponsored trials of
evofosfamide. Moreover, evofosfamide is not expected to be commercially available in the near term, if at all. Further, the commercial success of evofosfamide, if
any, will depend upon its acceptance by physicians, patients, third party payors and other key decision-makers as a therapeutic and cost effective alternative to
currently available products. In any event, if we are unable to successfully develop, obtain regulatory approval for and commercialize evofosfamide, our ability to
generate revenue from product sales will be significantly delayed or precluded altogether and our business would be materially and adversely affected, and we may
not be able to continue as a going concern.
We currently lack the ability to discover additional prodrug product candidates and we also may not be able to successfully acquire or in-license and
develop additional prodrug product candidates or programs suitable for clinical testing, either of which could limit our growth and revenue potential.
evofosfamide is currently our only product candidate in the clinical development stage and we may be unable to develop additional product candidates
suitable for clinical testing. In this regard, as part of our workforce reduction in december 2015 that followed the reported negative results from the two Phase 3
clinical trials of evofosfamide, we eliminated our discovery research activities conducted in-house, which prevents our ability to discover additional prodrug
product candidates at this time. In addition, given the uncertain prospects for evofosfamide, our strategy includes evaluating opportunities to acquire or in-license
additional product candidates or development programs that build on our expertise and complement our pipeline. Any growth through acquisition or in-licensing
will depend upon the availability of suitable product candidates at favorable prices and upon advantageous terms and conditions. even if appropriate acquisition or
in-licensing opportunities are available, we currently do not have, and may not in the future have, the financial resources necessary to pursue them. In addition,
other companies, many of which may have substantially greater financial, marketing and sales resources, compete with us for acquisition or in-licensing
opportunities. In addition, we may not be able to realize the anticipated benefits of any acquisition or in-licensing opportunity for a variety of reasons, including the
possibility that a product candidate proves not to be safe or effective in later clinical trials or the integration of an acquired or licensed product candidate gives rise
to unforeseen difficulties and expenditures. For example, in september 2014, we licensed rights to tarloxotinib, a clinical-stage investigational compound that we
evaluated in two Phase 2 proof-of-concept clinical trials. However, based on the interim results of the two Phase 2 proof-of-concept clinical trials , we determined
in september 2016 to discontinue any further development of tarloxotinib and we will therefore not realize any return on our investment in tarloxotinib. In any
event, any growth through development of additional product candidates will depend principally on our ability to identify, and then to obtain the necessary funding
to pursue the acquisition of in-licensing of, additional product candidates on commercially reasonable terms, as well as our ability to develop those product
candidates and our ability to obtain additional funding, whether through partnering arrangements or otherwise, to complete the development of, obtain regulatory
approval for and commercialize t hese product candidates. If we are unable to discover or obtain suitable product candidates for development, our growth and
revenue potential could be significantly harmed, and we could be required to cease operations.
If we do not establish collaborations or other strategic transactions for our current and potential future product candidates or otherwise raise substantial
additional capital, we will likely need to alter, delay or abandon our development and any commercialization plans.
Our strategy include s selectively partnering or collaborating with other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to assist us in furthering the
development and potential commercialization of our current and potential future product candidates. In this regard, as a result of the termination of our
collaboration with Merck KGaA, we are no longer eligible to receive any further milestone payments or other funding from Merck KGaA, including the 70% of
worldwide development costs for evofosfamide that were previously borne by Merck KGaA. since we are no w solely responsible for the further development and
commercialization of evofosfamide at our own cost, we are evaluating potential partnering opportunities for evofosfamide, and in this regard, we are currently
seeking a pharmaceutical partner for evofosfamide with a commercial presence in oncology in Japan. In this regard, our ability to advance the clinical deve lopment
of evofosfamide is dependent upon our ability to enter into new partnering, collaborative or other strategic arrangements for evofosfamide, or to otherwise obtain
sufficient additional funding for such development. We face significant competition i n seeking appropriate strategic partners , and collaborative and partnering
arrangements are complex and time consuming to negotiate and document. We may not be successful in entering into new partnering, collaborative or other
strategic arrangements with t hird parties on acceptable terms, or at all. In addition, we are unable to predict when, if ever, we will enter into any additional
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partnering, collaborative or other strategic arrangements because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with es tablishing such arrangements. If we are
unable to negotiate new partnering, collaborative or other strategic arrangements, we may have to curtail the development of a particular product candidate, reduce,
delay, or terminate its development or one or more of our other development programs, delay its potential commercialization or reduce the scope of our sales or
marketing activities or increase our expenditures and undertake development or commercialization activities at our own expense. For example, we may have to
cease further development of our evofosfamide program if we are unable to raise sufficient funding for any additional clinical development of evofosfamide
through new partnering , collaborative or other strategic arrangements with third parties or other financing alternatives. In this regard, if we decide to undertake
any further development of evofosfamide beyond our planned Phase 1 clinical trial of evofosfamide , we would need to obtain additional funding for such
development, either through fina ncing or by entering into partnering, collaborative or other strategic arrangements with third parties for any such further
development and we may be unable to do. While we are currently determining third party interest in partnering or acquiring TH-3424 a nd HX4 , we may be unable
to partner or divest these assets in a timely manner, or at all, and therefore may not receive any return on our investment in these assets . If we do not have
sufficient funds, we will not be able to advance the development of our product candidates or otherwise bring our product candidates to market and generate
product revenues.
Any partnering, collaborative or other strategic arrangements that we establish in the future may not be successful or we may otherwise not realize the an
ticipated benefits from these arrangements. In addition, any such future arrangements may place the development and commercialization of our product
candidates outside our control, may require us to relinquish important rights or may otherwise be on terms unfavorable to us
We have in the past established and intend to continue to establish partnering, collaborative or other strategic arrangements with third parties to develop and
commercialize our product candidates, and these arrangements may not be succe ssful or we may otherwise not realize the anticipated benefits from these
arrangements. For example, in March 2016, we and Merck KGaA, mutually agreed to terminate our collaboration for the development and commercialization of
our evofosfamide product candidate, and, as a result, we will not receive any additional milestone payments or other funding from Merck KGaA on account of our
collaboration with Merck KGaA. As of the date of this report, we have no ongoing collaborations for the development and comme rcialization of our product
candidates. We may not be able to locate third-party strategic partners to develop and market our product candidates, and we lack the capital and resources
necessary to develop our product candidates alone.
dependence on partnering, collaborative or other strategic arrangements subjects us to a number of risks, including:
•

we may not be able to control the amount and timing of resources that our potential strategic partners may devote to our product candidates;

•

potential strategic partners may experience financial difficulties or changes in business focus;

•

we may be required to relinquish important rights such as marketing and distribution rights;

•

should a strategic partner fail to develop or commercialize one of our compounds or product candidates, we may not receive any future milestone
payments and will not receive any royalties for the compound or product candidate;

•

business combinations or significant changes in a strategic partner’s business strategy may also adversely affect a collaborator’s willingness or ability
to complete its obligations under any arrangement;

•

under certain circumstances, a strategic partner could move forward with a competing product candidate developed either independently or in
collaboration with others, including our competitors; and

•

partnering, collaborative and other strategic arrangements are often terminated or allowed to expire, which could delay the development and may
increase the cost of developing our product candidates.

Preclinical studies and Phase 1 or 2 clinical trials of our product candidates may not predict the results of subsequent human clinical trials.
Preclinical studies, including studies of our product candidates in animal models of disease, may not accurately predict the results of human clinical trials of
those product candidates. In particular, promising animal studies suggesting the efficacy of evofosfamide for the treatment of different types of cancer may not
accurately predict the ability of evofosfamide to treat cancer effectively in humans. evofosfamide, TH-3424 or any other compounds we may develop may be
found not to be efficacious in treating cancer, alone or in combination with other agents, when studied in human clinical trials. In addition, we will not be able to
commercialize our product candidates until we obtain FdA approval in the United states or approval by comparable regulatory agencies in Japan, europe and other
countries. A number of companies in the pharmaceutical industry, including us and those with greater resources and experience than us, have suffered significant
setbacks in Phase 3 clinical trials, even after encouraging results in earlier clinical trials.
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To satisfy FdA, PMdA or other foreign regulatory approval standards for the commercial sale of our product candidates, we must demonstrate in adequate
and controlled clinical trials that our product candidates are safe and effective. success in early clinical trials, including in Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical trials, does
not ensure that later cli nical trials will be successful. Initial results from Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical trials of evofosfamide have in the past not been, and may
again in the future not be, confirmed by later analysis or in subsequent larger clinical trials. For example, the r esults that achieved the primary endpoint for
progression-free survival in the Phase 2b trial of evofosfamide in pancreatic cancer did not predict the results of overall survival for patients in the MAesTrO trial.
likewise, the results in the Phase 1/2 tri al of evofosfamide in patients with soft tissue sarcoma did not predict the results of overall survival for patients in the 406
trial. In both cases, the 406 trial and the MAesTrO trial failed to meet their primary endpoints of demonstrating a statisticall y significant improvement in overall
survival, based on our analyses for the 406 trial and Merck KGaA’s analyses for the MAesTrO trial, notwithstanding positive results in earlier clinical trials. In
addition, in January 2016, we announced that an IdsMB co ncluded that our registrational Phase 2 clinical trial of evofosfamide plus pemetrexed versus
pemetrexed alone in patients with non-squamous non-small cell lung cancer was unlikely to reach its primary endpoint of improving overall survival with statistica
l significance and, as a result, enrollment in this trial was closed. As these examples illustrate, despite the results reported in earlier clinical trials for evofosfamide,
we do not know whether potential future clinical trials that we may conduct will demonstrate adequate efficacy and safety to result in regulatory approval to market
evofosfamide. Our failure to successfully complete any potential future clinical trials and obtain regulatory approval for evofosfamide would materially and
adversely affec t our business and severely harm our future prospects.
Delays in our potential future clinical trials could result in us not achieving anticipated developmental milestones when expected, increased costs and delay
our ability to obtain regulatory approval and commercialize our product candidates.
delays in the progression of our potential future clinical trials could result in us not meeting previously announced clinical milestones and could materially
impact our product development costs and milestone reven ue and delay regulatory approval of our product candidates. We do not know whether our potential
future clinical trials of evofosfamide, including our planned Phase 1 clinical trial of evofosfamide, will be completed on schedule, if at all. Clinical trials can be
delayed for a variety of reasons, including:
•

adverse safety events experienced during our clinical trials;

•

a lower than expected frequency of clinical trial events;

•

delays in obtaining clinical materials;

•

slower than expected patient recruitment to participate in clinical trials;

•

delays in reaching agreement on acceptable clinical trial agreement terms with prospective sites or obtaining institutional review board approval,

•

delays in obtaining regulatory approval to commence new trials;

•

changes to clinical trial protocols.

delays in clinical trials can also result from difficulties in enrolling patients in our potential future clinical trials, which could increase the costs or affect the
timing or outcome of these clinical trials. This is particularly true with respect to diseases with relatively small patient populations. Timely completion of clinical
trials depends, in addition to the factors outlined above, on our ability to enroll a sufficient number of patients, which itself is a function of many factors, including:
•

the therapeutic endpoints chosen for evaluation;

•

the eligibility criteria defined in the protocol;

•

the perceived benefit of the investigational drug under study;

•

the size of the patient population required for analysis of the clinical trial’s therapeutic endpoints;

•

our ability to recruit clinical trial investigators and sites with the appropriate competencies and experience;

•

our ability to obtain and maintain patient consents; and

•

competition for patients by clinical trial programs for other treatments.

If we do not successfully complete our potential future clinical trials on schedule, the price of our common stock may further decline.

34

Our product candidates must undergo rigorous clinical testing, the results of which are uncertain and could substantially delay or prevent us from bringing
them to market.
Before we can obtain regulatory approval for a product candidate, we must undertake extensive clinical testing in humans to demonstrate safety and efficacy
to the satisfaction of the FdA or other regulatory agencies. Clinical trials of new drug candidates sufficient to obtain regulatory marketing approval are expensive
and take years to complete.
We cannot be certain of our successfully completing clinical testing within the time frames we have planned or anticipated, or at all. We may experience
numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, the clinical trial process that could delay or prevent us from receiving regulatory approval or commercializing
our product candidates, including the following:
•

our clinical trials may produce negative or inconclusive results, such as the results in the 406 trial, the MAesTrO trial and our Phase 2 proof-ofconcept trials of tarloxotinib , and we may decide, or regulators may require us, to conduct additional clinical and/or preclinical testing or to abandon
programs;

•

the results obtained in earlier stage clinical testing may not be indicative of results in future clinical trials;

•

clinical trial results may not meet the level of statistical significance required by the FdA, the PMdA or other regulatory agencies;

•

enrollment in clinical trials for our product candidates may be slower than we anticipate, resulting in significant delays and additional expense;

•

we or regulators may suspend or terminate our clinical trials if the participating patients are being exposed to unacceptable health risks; and

•

the effects of our product candidates on patients may not be the desired effects or may include undesirable side effects or other characteristics that may
delay or preclude regulatory approval or limit their commercial use, if approved.

In addition, clinical results are susceptible to varying interpretations that may delay, limit or prevent regulatory approvals. negative or inconclusive results
or adverse safety events, including patient fatalities that may be attributable to our product candidates, during a clinical trial could cause the trial to be terminated or
require additional studies. Furthermore, any of our future clinical trials may be overseen by IdMCs or data and safety Monitoring Boards, or dsMBs. These
independent oversight bodies are comprised of external experts who review the progress of the ongoing clinical trials as well as safety from other trials, and make
recommendations concerning a trial’s continuation, modification, or termination based on periodic review of, unblinded data. Any of our potential future clinical
trials overseen by an IdMC or dsMB may be discontinued or amended in response to recommendations made by responsible IdMCs or dsMBs based on their
review of trial results and an IdMC or dsMB may determine to delay or suspend the trial due to safety or futility findings based on events occurring during a
clinical trial. For example, in January 2016, we announced that an IdsMB concluded that our registrational Phase 2 clinical trial of evofosfamide plus pemetrexed
versus pemetrexed alone in patients with non-squamous non-small cell lung cancer was unlikely to reach its primary endpoint of improving overall survival with
statistical significance and, as a result, enrollment in this trial was closed and in connection therewith, we determined to cease enrollment in all Thresholdsponsored trials of evofosfamide. The recommended termination or modification of any of our potential future clinical trials by an IdMC or dsMB, could
materially and adversely impact the future development of our product candidates, and our business, prospects, operating results, and financial condition may be
materially harmed.
We are subject to significant regulatory approval requirements, which could delay, prevent or limit our ability to market our product candidates.
Our research and development activities, preclinical studies, clinical trials and the anticipated manufacturing and marketing of our product candidates are
subject to extensive regulation by the FdA, the PMdA and other regulatory agencies in the United states and Japan and by comparable authorities in europe and
elsewhere. We require the approval of the relevant regulatory authorities before we may commence commercial sales of our product candidates in a given market.
The regulatory approval process is expensive and time consuming, and the timing of receipt of regulatory approval is difficult to predict. Our product candidates
could require a significantly longer time to gain regulatory approval than expected, or may never gain approval. We cannot be certain that, even after expending
substantial time and financial resources, we will obtain regulatory approval for any of our product candidates. This was the case with the FdA, which would not
accept an ndA based on the data from the MAesTrO study. A delay or denial of regulatory approval could delay or prevent our ability to generate product
revenues and to achieve profitability.
Changes in regulatory approval policies during the development period of any of our product candidates, changes in, or the enactment of, additional
regulations or statutes, or changes in regulatory review practices for a submitted product application may cause a delay in obtaining approval or result in the
rejection of an application for regulatory approval. regulatory approval, if obtained, may be made subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which we may
market a product. These limitations could adversely affect our potential product revenues. regulatory approval may also require costly post-marketing follow-up
studies. In addition, the
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labeling, packaging, adverse event reporting, storage, advertising, promotion and record-keeping related to the product will be subject to extensive ongoing
regulatory requirements. Furthermore, for any marketed product, its manufacturer and its manufacturing facilities will be subject to continual review and periodic
inspections by the FdA or other regulatory authorities. Failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements may, among other things, result in fines,
suspensions of regulatory approvals, product recalls, product seizures, operating restrictions and criminal prosecution.
Evofosfamide are based on targeting the microenvironment of solid tumors and some hematological malignancies, which currently is an unproven
approach to therapeutic intervention.
Our product candidates are designed to target the microenvironment of solid tumors and some hematological malignancies by, in the case of evofosfamide,
harnessing hypoxia for selective toxin activation. We have not nor, to our knowledge, has any other company, received regulatory approval for a drug based on
these approaches. We cannot be certain that our approaches will lead to the development of approvable or marketable drugs. Our approaches may lead to
unintended, or off-target, adverse effects or may lack efficacy or contribution to efficacy in combination with other anti-cancer drugs.
In addition, the FdA, the PMdA or other regulatory agencies may lack experience in evaluating the safety and efficacy of drugs based on these targeting
approaches, which could lengthen the regulatory review process, increase our development costs and delay or prevent commercialization of ou r current and
potential future product candidates.
Our product candidates may have undesirable side effects that prevent or delay their regulatory approval or limit their use if approved.
Anti-tumor drugs being developed by us are expected to have undesirable side effects. For example, in clinical trials of evofosfamide, some patients have
exhibited skin and/or mucosal toxicities that have in some cases caused patients to stop or delay therapy. The extent, severity and clinical significance of these or
other undesirable side effects may not be apparent initially and may be discovered or become more significant during drug development or even post-approval.
These expected side effects or other side effects identified in the course of clinical trials or that may otherwise be associated with our product candidates may
outweigh the benefits of our product candidates. side effects may prevent or delay regulatory approval or limit market acceptance if our products are approved. In
this regard, our product candidates may prove to have undesirable or unintended side effects or other characteristics adversely affecting their safety, efficacy or cost
effectiveness that could prevent or limit their approval for marketing and successful commercial use, or that could delay or prevent the commencement and/or
completion of clinical trials for our product candidates.
We have not yet gained sufficient experience with a commercial formulation of evofosfamide.
The formulation of evofosfamide that was the subject of our prior clinical trials and is the subject of our planned Phase 1 clinical trial was changed to
address issues with a prior formulation that was subject to storage and handling requirements that were not suitable for a commercial product. The current
formulation of evofosfamide may be suitable for a commercial product, but additional data will be required to verify this and there can be no assurance that we will
be able to do so in a timely manner, if at all. If we are not able to develop a viable commercial formulation of evofosfamide, then we may be required to conduct
additional Phase 3 clinical trials of evofosfamide, or we may need to develop an alternative commercial formulation, either of which could delay, perhaps
substantially, our ability to obtain any regulatory approvals of evofosfamide.
The initial clinical formulations developed for evofosfamide or other potential future product candidates may not remain stable throughout the clinical
testing phase.
We have limited experience and data on the drug substance synthesis and the initial formulation for evofosfamide. This initial formulation and those of our
potential future product candidates may not remain stable during the clinical testing phase. If these formulations were found to be unstable during clinical testing,
we may be required to repeat the initial clinical trials which could increase our costs and delay the development of the applicable product candidate. We may be
required to reformulate these product candidates, including evofosfamide, to improve stability. However, it is possible that we might not be able to develop a
formulation of evofosfamide or other future product candidates with adequate quality that meets the need for testing in our clinical trials. We may also be required
to perform additional clinical bridging studies which may further delay development. We may also be unable to scale up the manufacturing process to synthesize
the current drug substance and current formulations, or the newly developed formulations, any of which could adversely affect our ability to advance the
development of, and potentially obtain regulatory approval of, the applicable product candidate.
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Even though we have received orphan drug designation for evofosfamide, we may not receive orphan drug marketing excl usivity for evofosfamide. Even if
we obtain orphan drug exclusivity, orphan drug exclusivity would afford us limited protection, and if another party obtains orphan drug exclusivity for the
drugs and indications we are targeting, we may be precluded from c ommercializing our product candidates in those indications.
We have received orphan drug designation for evofosfamide for the treatment of pancreatic cancer in the United states and the european Union or eU.
Under the Orphan drug Act in the United states, the FdA may grant orphan drug designation to drugs intended to treat a rare disease or condition, which is defined
by the FdA as a disease or condition that affects fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United states. In the eU, orphan drug designation is provided for a drug that
is intended to diagnose, prevent or treat a life-threatening or chronically debilitating condition which affects no more than 5 in 10,000 individuals in the eU
(approximately 245,000 individuals) and for which no satisfactory method of diagnosis, prevention or treatment of the condition already exists, or if such method
does exist, that the orphan product must be of significant benefit to the patient population over existing products. The company that obtains the first FdA approval
for a designated orphan drug indication receives marketing exclusivity for use of that drug for that indication for a period of seven years in the U.s. and 10 years for
the eU. The orphan drug designation also allows a waiver or reduction in select regulatory fees. Orphan drug exclusive marketing rights may be lost if the FdA
later determines that the request for designation was materially defective, or if the manufacturer is unable to assure sufficient quantity of the drug. Orphan drug
designation does not shorten the development or regulatory review time of a drug.
even if we obtain orphan drug exclusivity for evofosfamide, orphan drug exclusivity may not prevent other market entrants. A different drug, or, under
limited circumstances, the same drug may be approved by the FdA for the same orphan indication. The limited circumstances include an inability to supply the
drug in sufficient quantities or where a new formulation of the drug has shown superior safety or efficacy. As a result, if evofosfamide were approved for
pancreatic cancer, other drugs could still be approved for use in treating the same indications covered by evofosfamide, which could create a more competitive
market for us.
Moreover, due to the uncertainties associated with developing pharmaceutical products, we may not be the first to obtain marketing approval for any orphan
drug indication. Although we have obtained orphan drug designation, if a competitor obtains regulatory approval for evofosfamide for the same indication we are
targeting before we do, we would be blocked from obtaining approval for that indication for seven years, unless our product is a new formulation of the drug that
has shown superior safety or efficacy, or the competitor is unable to supply sufficient quantities.
The “fast track” designation for development of any of our product candidates may not lead to a faster development or regulatory review or approval
process and it does not increase the likelihood the product candidate will receive regulatory approval.
If a product candidate is intended for the treatment of a serious or life-threatening condition and the product candidate demonstrates the potential to address
unmet medical needs for this condition, the drug sponsor may apply for FdA “fast track” designation for a particular indication. Marketing applications filed by
sponsors of product candidates in the fast track process may qualify for priority review under the policies and procedures offered by the FdA, but the fast track
designation does not assure a ny such review. Although Merck KGaA obtained fast track designation for the development of evofosfamide administered in
combination with gemcitabine for the treatment of previously untreated patients with metastatic or locally advanced unresectable pancrea tic cancer, receipt of fast
track designation does not ensure a faster development process, review or FdA approval. In addition, the FdA may withdraw our fast track designation at any time.
If we are able to raise sufficient funding for additional clinical development of evofosfamide through new collaborative, partnering or other strategic arrangements
with third parties or other financing alternatives, but we lose fast track designation for evofosfamide, the FdA approval process may be delayed. In addition, fast
track designation does not guarantee that we will be able to take advantage of the expedited review procedures and does not increase the likelihood that
evofosfamide will receive any regulatory approvals.
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Even if we obtain regulatory approval s for o ur current and potential future product candidates , our marketed drugs will be subject to ongoing regulatory
review. If we fail to comply with continuing U.S. and foreign regulations, we could lose our approvals to market drugs and our business would be se riously
harmed.
Following initial regulatory approval of any drugs we may develop, we will be subject to continuing regulatory review, including review of adverse drug
experiences and clinical results that are reported after our drug products become commercially available. This would include results from any post-marketing tests
or vigilance required as a condition of approval. The manufacturer and manufacturing facilities used to make any of our drug candidates will also be subject to
periodic review and i nspection by regulatory agencies, including the PMdA should we be able to obtain regulatory approval of evofosfamide in Japan. If a
previously unknown problem or problems with a product or a manufacturing and laboratory facility used by us is discovered, r egulatory agencies, including
potentially the PMdA, may impose restrictions on that product or on the manufacturing facility, including requiring us to withdraw the product from the market.
Any changes to an approved product, including the way it is manufa ctured or promoted, often require regulatory approval before the product, as modified, can be
marketed. Manufacturers of our products, if approved, will be subject to ongoing regulatory agency requirements for submission of safety and other post- market
information. If such manufacturers fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, a regulatory agency may:
•

issue warning letters;

•

impose civil or criminal penalties;

•

suspend or withdraw our regulatory approval;

•

suspend or terminate any of our ongoing clinical trials;

•

refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications filed by us;

•

impose restrictions on our operations;

•

close the facilities of our contract manufacturers;

•

seize or detain products or require a product recall, or

•

revise or restrict labeling and promotion.

Regulatory authorities may impose significant restrictions on the indicated uses and marketing of pharmaceutical products.
even if we obtain regulatory approval for evofosfamide, we would be subject to ongoing requirements by the regulatory authorities governing the
manufacture, quality control, further development, labeling, packaging, storage, distribution, safety surveillance, import, export, advertising, promotion,
recordkeeping and reporting of safety and other post-market information. The safety profile of any product will continue to be closely monitored by regulatory
authorities after approval. If the regulatory authorities become aware of new safety information after approval of any of our product candidates, they may require
labeling changes or establishment of a reMs or similar strategy, impose significant restrictions on a product’s indicated uses or marketing, or impose ongoing
requirements for potentially costly post-approval studies or post-market surveillance. For example, the label ultimately approved for evofosfamide, if it achieves
marketing approval, may include restrictions on use. Advertising and promotion of any product candidate that obtains approval will be heavily scrutinized by
government agencies and the public. Violations, including promotion of our products for unapproved or off-label uses, are subject to enforcement letters, inquiries
and investigations, and civil and criminal sanctions by regulatory authorities. engaging in impermissi ble promotion of any approved products for off-label uses
could also subject us to false claims litigation under U.s. federal and state statutes and comparable foreign rules and regulations, which could lead to civil and
criminal penalties and fines and agreements that materially restrict the manner in which we promote or distribute any approved products.
If we do not lawfully promote any approved products, we may become subject to such litigation and, if we are not successful in defending against such
actions, those actions could compromise our ability to become profitable.
We do not have a sales force or marketing infrastructure and may not develop an effective one.
We have no sales experience, as a company. There are risks involved with establishing our own sales and marketing capabilities, as well as entering into
arrangements with third parties to perform these services. developing an internal sales force and function will require substantial expenditures and will be timeconsuming, and we may not be able to effectively recruit, train or retain sales personnel. On the other hand, if we enter into arrangements with third parties to
perform sales, marketing and distribution services, our product revenues will be lower than if we market and sell any products that we develop ourselves. We may
not be able to effectively sell our product candidates, if approved, which could materially harm our business and our financial condition.
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Risks Related to Our Financial Performance and Operations
We have incurred losses since our inception and anticipate that we will continue to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future, and our future
profitability is uncertain.
due to the recognition of the remaining $65.9 million of deferred revenue from our former collaboration with Merck KGaA during the quarter ended
december 31, 2015, we reported net income of $ 43.8 million for the year ended december 31, 2015. However, during the year ended december 31, 2016 we had
a net loss of $24.1 million and we have incurred losses in each of our other years since our inception in 2001, and we expect to incur losses for the foreseeable
future. We have devoted and, subject to our ability to obtain additional funding and to otherwise meaningfully advance the development of our product candidates,
we expect to continue to devote, substantially all of our resources to the development of evofosfamide. Accordingly, our future prospects remain dependent on the
successful development, regulatory approval and commercialization of evofosfamide. In this regard, a substantial portion of our efforts have been devoted to the
two pivotal Phase 3 clinical trials of evofosfamide. The failure of the 406 trial and the MAesTrO trial to meet their primary endpoints of demonstrating a
statistically significa nt improvement in overall survival as agreed upon with the FdA, based on our analyses for the 406 trial and Merck KGaA’s analyses for the
MAesTrO trial, has significantly depressed our stock price and harmed our future prospects. likewise, the announcement of our decision to discontinue the
development of tarloxotinib following our analysis of the interim results of two Phase 2 proof-of-concept trials of tarloxotinib has depressed our stock price and
harmed our future prospects. Although we have conducted our own analyses of the data from MAesTrO trial and have reviewed and discussed the results of our
analyses with the PMdA in Japan to determine whether there is an appropriate path forward for submitting marketing authorization applications based on the data
from the MAesTrO trial along with a bridging study, the PMdA and other health regulatory authorities may determine that the data from the MAesTrO trial and
a bridging study are insufficient to support the approval of any marketing authorizations and that one or more additional clinical trials of evofosfamide would be
required to be successfully conducted by us in order to support any such approval, including with respect to the Japanese sub-population we are targeting. If we are
required to successfully conduct and complete any additional clinical trials of evofosfamide in order to support potential approval of evofosfamide in Japan , we
would be required to obtain additional capital and there can be no assurances that we would be successful in obtaining t he additional funding, whether through new
collaborative, partnering or other strategic arrangements or otherwise, necessary to support any additional clinical development of evofosfamide. Moreover, apart
from the planned Phase 1 clinical trial of evofosfamide, we cannot currently predict whether and to what extent we may continue or increase evofosfamide
development activities in future periods, if at all, and what our future cash needs may be for any such activities. For these and other reasons, we cannot assure you
that we will be able to advance the development of evofosfamide. In such event, we may be required to abandon the development of evofosfamide and forego any
return on our investment from our evofosfamide program, which would severely harm our future prospects and may cause us to cease operations. In any event, we
do not expect to generate any revenue from the commercial sales of evofosfamide or any potential future product candidates, including evofosfamide, in the near
term, and we expect to continue to have significant losses for the foreseeable future.
To attain ongoing profitability, we will need to develop products successfully and market and sell them effectively, or rely on other parties to do so. We
cannot predict when we will achieve ongoing profitability, if at all. We have never generated revenue from the commercial sales of our product candidates, and
there is no guarantee that we will be able to do so in the future. If we fail to become profitable, or if we are unable to fund our continuing losses, we would be
unable to continue our research and development programs.
We need substantial additional funding and may be unable to raise capital, which could force us to delay, reduce or eliminate our drug discovery, product
development and commercialization activities.
developing drugs, conducting clinical trials, and commercializing products is expensive. Our future funding requirements will depend on many factors,
including:
•

the terms and timing of any future collaborative, licensing, ac quisition or other strategic arrangements that we may establish for our product
candidates;

•

the amount and timing of any licensing fees, milestone payments and royalty payments from potential future partners or collaborators, if any;

•

the amount and timing of contingent licensing fees, milestone payments and royalty payments that we are obligated to pay to third parties;

•

the scope, rate of progress and cost of our potential clinical trials, including our planned Phase 1 clinical trial of evofosfamide, and other development
activities;

•

the costs and timing of obtaining regulatory approvals;

•

the cost of manufacturing clinical, and establishing commercial, supplies of our product candidates and any products that we may develop;
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•

the cost and timing of establish ing sales, marketing and distribution capabilities;

•

the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent applications, claims, patents and other intellectual property rights;

•

the cost and timing of securing manufacturing capabilities for our clinical product candidates and commercial products, if any; and

•

the costs of lawsuits involving us or our product candidates.

We believe that our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities will be sufficient to fund our projected operating requirements for the next twelve
months based upon current operating plans and spending assumptions. However, we will need to raise substantial additional capital to meaningfully advance the
clinical development of evofosfamide, whether through new collaborative, partnering or other strategic arrangements or otherwise, and to in-license or otherwise
acquire and develop additional product candidates or programs. In particular, our ability to meaningfully advance the clinical development of evofosfamide is
dependent upon our ability to enter into new partnering, collaborative or other strategic arrangements for evofosfamide, or to otherwise obtain sufficient additional
funding for such development, particularly since we are no longer eligible to receive any further milestone payments or other funding from Merck KGaA for
evofosfamide, including the 70% of worldwide development costs for evofosfamide that were previously borne by Merck KGaA .
While we have been able to fund our operations to date, we currently have no ongoing collaborations for the development and commercialization of
evofosfamide, and no source of revenue, nor do we expect to generate revenue for the foreseeable future. We also do not have any commitments for future external
funding. Until we can generate a sufficient amount of product revenue, which we may never do, we expect to finance future cash needs through a variety of
sources, including:
•

the public equity market;

•

private equity financing;

•

collaborative arrangements;

•

licensing arrangements; and/or

•

public or private debt.

Our ability to raise additional funds and the terms upon which we are able to raise such funds have been severely harmed by the negative results reported
from our two pivotal Phase 3 clinical trials of evofosfamide and our decision to discontinue development of tarloxotinib, and may in the future be adversely
impacted by the uncertainty regarding the prospects for future development of evofosfamide and our ability to advance the development of e vofosfamide or
otherwise realize any return on our investments in e vofosfamide , if at all. Our ability to raise additional funds and the terms upon which we are able to raise such
funds may also be adversely affected by the uncertainties regarding our financial condition, the sufficiency of our capital resources, our ability to maintain the
listing of our common stock on The nAsdAQ Capital Market and recent and potential future management turnover. As a result of these and other factors, we
cannot be certain that sufficient funds will be available to us or on satisfactory terms, if at all. To the extent we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities,
our stockholders may experience significant dilution, particularly given our currently depressed stock price, and debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive
covenants. If adequate funds are not available, we may be required to significantly reduce or refocus our operations or to obtain funds through arrangements that
may require us to relinquish rights to our product candidates, technologies or potential markets, any of which could result in our stockholders having little or no
continuing interest in our evofosfamide program as stockholders or otherwise, or which could delay or require that we curtail or eliminate some or all of our
development activities or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
If we are unable to secure additional funding on a timely basis or on terms favorable to us, we may be required to cease or reduce any product development
activities, to conduct additional workforce reductions, to sell some or all of our technology or assets or to merge all or a portion of our business with another entity.
Insufficient funds may require us to delay, scale back, or eliminate some or all of our activities, and if we are unable to obtain additional funding, there is
uncertainty regarding our continued existence.
Our financial results are likely to fluctuate from period to period, making it difficult to evaluate our stock based on financial performance.
We believe that period-to-period comparisons of our operating results should not be relied upon as predictive of future performance. Our prospects must be
considered in light of the risks, expenses and difficulties encountered by companies with no approved pharmaceutical products, and with only one product
candidate in clinical development.

40

Our success depends in part on attracting, retaining and motivating key personnel and, if we fail to do so, it may be more difficult for us to execute our
business strat egy. As a small organization we are dependent on key employees and we will need to hire additional personnel to execute our business strategy
successfully.
Our success depends on our continued ability to attract, retain and motivate highly qualified management, clinical and scientific personnel and on our ability
to develop and maintain important relationships with leading academic institutions, clinicians and scientists. We are highly dependent upon our senior management.
The loss of the services of one or more of our other key employees could delay or adversely impact the development of our product candidates.
In december 2015, we announced a workforce reduction constituting approximately two-thirds of our workforce with an additional workforce reduction in
september 2016, and as of december 31, 2016, we had only 15 employees. Our success will depend on our ability to retain and motivate remaining personnel and
hire additional qualified personnel when required, and our history of implementing workforce reductions, along with the potential for future workforce reductions,
may negatively affect our ability to retain and/or attract talented employees. In addition, competition for qualified personnel in the biotechnology field is intense.
We face competition for personnel from other biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies, universities, public and private research institutions and other
organizations. We may not be able to attract and retain qualified personnel on acceptable terms given the competition for such personnel. If we are unsuccessful in
our retention, motivation and recruitment efforts, we may be unable to execute our business strategy.
In addition, certain members of our management terms were part of our december 2015 and september 2016 workforce reductions , including our former
senior vice presidents of regulatory affairs and pharmaceutical development and manufacturing as well as our former Chief scientific Officer and our former Chief
Operating Officer. Management transition inherently causes some loss of institutional knowledge, which can negatively affect strategy and execution and disrupt
our ability to successfully manage and grow our business, and our results of operations and financial condition could suffer as a result.
Significant disruptions of information technology systems or breaches of data security could adversely affect our business.
Our business is increasingly dependent on critical, complex and interdependent information technology systems, including Internet-based systems, to
support business processes as well as internal and external communications. The size and complexity of our computer systems make them potentially vulnerable to
breakdown, malicious intrusion and computer viruses that may result in the impairment of production and key business processes.
In addition, our systems are potentially vulnerable to data security breaches — whether by employees or others — that may expose sensitive data to
unauthorized persons. such data security breaches could lead to the loss of trade secrets or other intellectual property, or could lead to the public exposure of
personal information (including sensitive personal information) of our employees, clinical trial patients, customers and others. such disruptions and breaches of
security could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes will be limited.
Under section 382 of the Internal revenue Code of 1986, as amended, if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change,” generally defined as a greater
than 50% change (by value) in its equity ownership over a three-year period, the corporation’s ability to use its pre-change net operating loss carryforwards and
other pre-change tax attributes (such as research tax credits) to offset its post- change taxable income or taxes may be limited. Our prior and potential future equity
offerings and other changes in our stock ownership, some of which are outside of our control, may have resulted or could in the future result in an ownership
change. If a limitation were to apply, utilization of a portion of our domestic net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards could be limited in future periods and a
portion of the carryforwards could expire before being available to reduce future income tax liabilities.
Our facilities in California are located near an earthquake fault, and an earthquake or other natural disaster or resource shortage could disrupt our
operations.
Important documents and records, such as hard copies of our laboratory books and records for our product candidates, are located in our corporate facilities
in south san Francisco, California, near active earthquake zones. In the event of a natural disaster, such as an earthquake, drought or flood, or localized extended
outages of critical utilities or transportation systems, we do not have a formal business continuity or disaster recovery plan, and could therefore experience a
significant business interruption. In addition, California from time to time has experienced shortages of water, electric power and natural gas. Future shortages and
conservation measures could disrupt our operations and could result in additional expense. Although we maintain business interruption insurance coverage, the
policy specifically excludes coverage for earthquake and flood.
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Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties
We rely on third parties to manufacture evofosfamide and expect to rely on third parties to manufac ture any other potential future product candidates that
we may develop. If these parties do not manufacture the active pharmaceutical ingredients or finished drug products of satisfactory quality, in a timely manner,
in sufficient quantities or at an acceptable cost, clinical development and commercialization of evofosfamide and any other product candidates we may develop
could be delayed.
We do not have our own manufacturing capability for the evofosfamide active pharmaceutical ingredient, or API, or evofosfamide drug product. To date,
we have relied on, and we expect to continue to rely on, a limited number of third party contract manufacturers and excipient suppliers for the evofosfamide API
and evofosfamide drug product to meet our clinical supply needs of evofosfamide. We have no long-term commitments or commercial supply agreements with any
of our evofosfamide suppliers. Our current and anticipated future dependence upon others for the manufacture of our product candidates may adversely affect our
ability to develop and commercialize any product candidates on a timely and competitive basis.
We need to have sufficient evofosfamide API and drug product manufactured to meet the clinical supply demands for our clinical trials. If we are not
successful in having sufficient quantities of evofosfamide API and drug product manufactured, or if manufacturing is interrupted at our contract manufacturers and
excipient suppliers for evofosfamide API and our evofosfamide drug product manufacturers due to regulatory or other reasons, or consume more drug product than
anticipated because of a higher than expected trial utilization or have quality issues that limit the utilization of the drug product, we may experience a significant
delay in our evofosfamide clinical program. In any event, we will need to order additional evofosfamide API and drug product and we have in the past experienced
delays in the receipt of satisfactory drug product, and any additional delays we may experience in the receipt of satisfactory evofosfamide API or drug product
could cause significant delays in our potential future evofosfamide clinical trials, which would harm our business. Moreover the need for additional supplies and
preparation for registration may require manufacturing process improvements in evofosfamide API and drug product. The manufacturing processes improvements
for the evofosfamide API may require facilities upgrades at our suppliers, which may lead to delays or disruption in supply, or delays in regulatory approval of
evofosfamide. Changes to the formulation of evofosfamide for our potential future clinical trials may also require bridging studies to demonstrate the comparability
of the new formulation with the old. These studies may delay our clinical trials and may not be successful. even if we are successful in raising the additional capital
necessary to meaningfully advance the development of evofosfamide, if we are not successful in procuring sufficient evofosfamide clinical trial material, we may
experience a significant delay in our evofosfamide clinical program. Finally, we have not engaged any backup or alternative suppliers for parts of our evofosfamide
supply chain for our potential future evofosfamide clinical trials. If we are required to engage a backup or alternative supplier, the transfer of technical expertise
and manufacturing process to the backup or alternative supplier would be difficult, costly and time-consuming and would increase the likelihood of a significant
delay or interruption in manufacturing or a shortage of supply of evofosfamide.
In any event, additional agreements for more supplies of each of our product candidates, including evofosfamide, will be needed to complete clinical
development and/or commercialize them. In this regard, we may need to enter into agreements for additional supplies of evofosfamide to commercialize it or
develop such capability itself. We cannot be certain that we can do so on favorable terms, if at all. We will need to satisfy all current good manufacturing practice,
or cGMP, regulations, including passing specifications. Our inability to satisfy these requirements could delay our clinical programs and the potential
commercialization of evofosfamide if approved for commercial sale.
If evofosfamide or any of our other product c andidates is approved by the FdA, the PMdA or other regulatory agencies for commercial sale, we will need
to have it manufactured in commercial quantities. It may not be possible to successfully manufacture commercial quantities of evofosfamide or increase the
manufacturing capacity for evofosfamide or any of our other product candidates in a timely or economically feasible manner. Prior to commercial launch of
evofosfamide, we may be required to manufacture additional validation batches, which the FdA, the PMdA and other regulatory agencies must review and
approve. If we are unable to successfully manufacture the additional validation batches or increase the manufacturing capacity for evofosfamide or any other
product candidates, the regulatory approval or commercial launch of that product candidate may be delayed, or there may be a shortage of supply which could limit
sales.
In addition, if the facility or the equipment in the facility that produces our product candidates is significantly damaged or destroyed, adversely impacted by
an action of a regulatory agency or if the facility is located in another country and trade or commerce with or exportation from such country is interrupted or
delayed, we may be unable to replace the manufacturing capacity quickly or inexpensively. The inability to obtain manufacturing agreements, the damage or
destruction of a facility on which we rely for manufacturing or any other delays in obtaining supply would delay or prevent us from completing our clinical trials
and commercializing our current product candidates.
In addition, the evofosfamide formulation includes excipients that might be available from a limited number of suppliers. We have not signed long term
supply agreements with these excipient suppliers. We will need to enter into long term supply agreements to
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ensure uninterrupted supply of these excipients to continuously manufacture clinical batches or commercial supplies, which we may be unable to do in a timely or
economically feasible manner or at all.
We also expect to rely on contract manufacturers or other third parties to produce sufficient quantities of clinical trial product for any other product
candidates that we may develop. It is possible that we might not be able to develop a formulation for evofosfami de with adequate quality that meets the need for
testing in our clinical trials. In any event, in order for us to commence any potential future clinical trials of our current and potential future product candidates ,
including our planned Phase 1 clinical trial of evofosfamide, we need to obtain or have manufactured sufficient quantities of clinical trial product and there can be
no assurance that we will be able to obtain sufficient quantities of clinical trial product in a timely manner or at all. Any delay in receiving sufficient supplies of
clinical trial product for our potential future studies could negatively impact our development programs.
We have no control over our manufacturers’ and suppliers’ compliance with manufacturing regulations, and their failure to comply could result in an
interruption in the supply of our product candidates.
The facilities used by our single source contract manufacturers must undergo an inspection by the FdA, the PMdA and other foreign agencies for
compliance with cGMP regulations, before the respective product candidates can be approved in their region. In the event these facilities do not receive a
satisfactory cGMP inspection for the manufacture of our product candidates, we may need to fund additional modifications to our manufacturing process, conduct
additional validation studies, or find alternative manufacturing facilities, any of which would result in significant cost to us as well as a delay of up to several years
in obtaining approval for such product candidate. In addition, our contract manufacturers, and any alternative contract manufacturer we may utilize, will be subject
to ongoing periodic inspection by the FdA and corresponding state agencies, the PMdA and other foreign agencies for compliance with cGMP regulations, similar
foreign regulations and other regulatory standards. We do not have control over our contract manufacturers’ compliance with these regulations and standards. Any
failure by our third-party manufacturers or suppliers to comply with applicable regulations could result in sanctions being imposed on them (including fines,
injunctions and civil penalties), failure of regulatory authorities to grant marketing approval of our product candidates, delays, suspension or withdrawal of
approvals, warning letters, license revocation, seizures or recalls of product candidates or products, operating restrictions and criminal prosecution.
We expect to rely on third parties to conduct some of our potential future clinical trials, and their failure to perform their obligations in a timely or
competent manner may delay development and commercialization of our product candidates.
We may use clinical research organizations to assist in conduct of our clinical trials. There are numerous alternative sources to provide these services.
However, we may face delays outside of our control if these parties do not perform their obligations in a timely or competent fashion or if we are forced to change
service providers. This risk is heightened for clinical trials conducted outside of the United states, where it may be more difficult to ensure that clinical trials are
conducted in compliance with FdA and applicable foreign regulatory requirements. Any third-party that we hire to conduct clinical trials may also provide services
to our competitors, which could compromise the performance of their obligations to us. If we experience significant delays in the progress of our future clinical
trials, if any, and in our plans to submit ndAs to the FdA and PMdA, the commercial prospects for product candidates could be harmed and our ability to generate
product revenue would be delayed or prevented.
We are dependent on Eleison Pharmaceuticals, Inc. to develop and commercialize glufosfamide
We are dependent upon eleison Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or eleison to whom we exclusively licensed glufosfamide in October 2009, to develop and
commercialize glufosfamide. Any profit sharing or other payments to us under the eleison license depend almost entirely upon the efforts of eleison, which may
not be able to raise sufficient funds to continue clinical development activities with glufosfamide. even if eleison is successful at raising sufficient funding, it may
not be successful in developing and commercializing glufosfamide. We may also be asked to provide technical assistance related to the development of
glufosfamide, which may divert our resources from other activities. If the eleison license terminates in such a way that glufosfamide reverts to us and we seek
alternative arrangements with one or more other parties to develop and commercialize glufosfamide, we may not be able to enter into such an agreement with
another suitable third party or third parties on acceptable terms or at all. In such event, since we have no further development plans for glufosfamide, we may not
receive any further return on our investment in glufosfamide.
Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
Hypoxia-targeted prodrug technology is not a platform technology broadly protected by patents, and others may be able to develop competitive drugs using
this approach.
Although we have U.s. and foreign issued patents that cover certain hypoxia- and AKr1C3 -targeted prodrugs, including evofosfamide, respectively, we
have no issued patents or pending patent applications that w ould prevent others from taking advantage of hypoxia-prodrug technology generally to discover and
develop new therapies for cancer or other diseases. Consequently, our
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competitors may seek to discover and develop potential therapeutics that operate by mech anisms of action that are the same or similar to the mechanism of action
of our hypoxia-prodrug product candidate.
We are dependent on patents and proprietary technology. If we fail to adequately protect this intellectual property or if we otherwise do not have exclusivity
for the marketing of our products, our ability to commercialize products could suffer.
Our commercial success will depend in part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent protection sufficient to prevent others from marketing our product
candidates, as well as to defend and enforce these patents against infringement and to operate without infringing the proprietary rights of others. We will only be
able to protect our product candidates from unauthorized use by third parties to the extent that valid and enforceable patents cover our product candidates or their
manufacture or use or if they are effectively protected by trade secrets. If our patent applications do not result in issued patents, or if our patents are found to be
invalid, we will lose the ability to exclude others from making, using or selling the inventions claimed therein. We have a limited number of patents and pending
patent applications.
The patent positions of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions. no
consistent policy regarding the breadth of claims allowed in biotechnology patents has emerged to date in the United states. The laws of many countries may not
protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as United states laws, and those countries may lack adequate rules and procedures for defending our
intellectual property rights. Changes in either patent laws or in interpretations of patent laws in the United states and other countries may diminish the value of our
intellectual property. We do not know whether any of our patent applications will result in the issuance of any patents and we cannot predict the breadth of claims
that may be allowed in our patent applications or in the patent applications we may license from others.
The degree of future protection for our proprietary rights is uncertain because legal means afford only limited protection and may not adequately protect our
rights or permit us to gain or keep our competitive advantage. For example:
•

we might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by each of our pending patent applications and issued patents, and we may have to
participate in expensive and protracted interference proceedings to determine priority of invention;

•

we might not have been the first to file patent applications for these inventions;

•

others may independently develop identical, similar or alternative product candidates to any of our product candidates;

•

our pending patent applications may not result in issued patents;

•

our issued patents may not provide a basis for commercially viable products or may not provide us with any competitive advantages or may be
challenged by third parties;

•

others may design around our patent claims to produce competitive products that fall outside the scope of our patents;

•

we may not develop additional patentable proprietary technologies related to our product candidates; or

•

the patents of others may prevent us from marketing one or more of our product candidates for one or more indications that may be valuable to our
business strategy.

Moreover, an issued patent does not guarantee us the right to practice the patented technology or commercialize the patented product. Third parties may
have blocking patents that could be used to prevent us from commercializing our patented products and practicing our patented technology. Our issued patents and
those that may be issued in the future may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented, which could limit our ability to prevent competitors from marketing the
same or related product candidates or could limit the length of the term of patent protection of our product candidates. In addition, the rights granted under any
issued patents may not provide us with proprietary protection or competitive advantages against competitors with similar technology. Furthermore, our competitors
may independently develop similar technologies. Moreover, because of the extensive time required for development, testing and regulatory review of a potential
product, it is possible that, before any of our product candidates can be commercialized, any related patent may expire or remain in force for only a short period
following commercialization, thereby reducing any advantage of the patent. Patent term extensions may not be available for these patents. If we are not able to
obtain adequate protection for, or defend, the intellectual property position of evofosfamide or any other potential future product candidates, then we may not be
able to retain or attract collaborators to partner our development programs, including evofosfamide. Further, even if we can obtain protection for and defend the
intellectual property position of evofosfamide or any potential future product candidates, we or any of our potential future strategic partners still may not be able to
exclude competitors from developing or marketing competing drugs. should this occur, we, and potential future strategic partners may not generate any revenues or
profits from evofosfamide or any potential future product candidates, or our revenue or profit potential would be significantly diminished.
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We rely on trade secrets and other forms of non-patent intellectual property protection. If we are unable to protect our trade secrets, other companies may
be able to compete more effectively against us.
We rely on trade secrets to protect certain aspects of our technology, especially where we do not believe patent protection is appropriate or obtainable.
However, trade secrets are difficult to protect, especially in the pharmaceutical industry, where much of the information about a product must be made public
during the regulatory approval process. Although we use reasonable efforts to protect our trade secrets, our employees, consultants, contractors, outside scientific
collaborators and other advisors may unintentionally or willfully disclose our information to competitors. enforcing a claim that a third party illegally obtained and
is using our trade secret information is expensive and time consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, courts outside the United states may be less
willing to or may not protect trade secrets. Moreover, our competitors may independently develop equivalent knowledge, methods and know-how.
If we are sued for infringing intellectual property rights of third parties or if we are forced to engage in an interference proceeding, it will be costly and time
consuming, and an unfavorable outcome in that litigation or interference would have a material adverse effect on our business.
Our ability to commercialize our product candidates depends on our ability to develop, manufacture, market and sell our product candidates without
infringing the proprietary rights of third parties. numerous United states and foreign patents and patent applications, which are owned by third parties, exist in the
general field of cancer therapies or in fields that otherwise may relate to our product candidates. If we are shown to infringe, we could be enjoined from use or sale
of the claimed invention if we are unable to prove that the patent is invalid. In addition, because patent applications can take many years to issue, there may be
currently pending patent applications, unknown to us, which may later result in issued patents that our product candidates may infringe, or which may trigger an
interference proceeding regarding one of our owned or licensed patents or applications. There could also be existing patents of which we are not aware that our
product candidates may inadvertently infringe or which may become involved in an interference proceeding.
The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are characterized by the existence of a large number of patents and frequent litigation based on allegations
of patent infringement. For so long as our product candidates are in clinical trials, we believe our clinical activities fall within the scope of the exemptions provided
by 35 U.s.C. section 271(e) in the United states, which exempts from patent infringement liability activities reasonably related to the development and submission
of information to the FdA. As our clinical investigational drug product candidates progress toward commercialization, the possibility of a patent infringement
claim against us increases. While we attempt to ensure that our active clinical investigational drugs and the methods we employ to manufacture them, as well as the
methods for their use we intend to promote, do not infringe other parties’ patents and other proprietary rights, we cannot be certain they do not, and competitors or
other parties may assert that we infringe their proprietary rights in any event.
We may be exposed to future litigation based on claims that our product candidates, or the methods we employ to manufacture them, or the uses for which
we intend to promote them, infringe the intellectual property rights of others. Our ability to manufacture and commercialize our product candidates may depend on
our ability to demonstrate that the manufacturing processes we employ and the use of our product candidates do not infringe third-party patents. If third-party
patents were found to cover our product candidates or their use or manufacture, we could be required to pay damages or be enjoined and therefore unable to
commercialize our product candidates, unless we obtained a license. A license may not be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all.
Risks Related To Our Industry
If our competitors are able to develop and market products that are more effective, safer or more affordable than ours, or obtain marketing approval before
we do, our commercial opportunities may be limited.
Competition in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries is intense and continues to increase, particularly in the area of cancer treatment. Most major
pharmaceutical companies and many biotechnology companies are aggressively pursuing oncology development programs, including traditional therapies and
therapies with novel mechanisms of action. Our cancer product candidates face competition from established biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies and
from generic pharmaceutical manufacturers. In particular, if approved for commercial sale for pancreatic cancer, evofosfamide would compete with Gemzar®,
marketed by eli lilly and Company; Tarceva®, marketed by roche/Genentech and Astellas Oncology; Abraxane® marketed by Celgene; and FOlFIrInOX,
which is a combination of generic products that are sold individually by many manufacturers. There may also be product candidates of which we are not aware at
an earlier stage of developmen t that may compete with evofosfamide or other potential future product candidates, we may develop. In short, each cancer indication
for which we are or may be developing product candidates has a number of established medical therapies with which our candidates will compete. Our
evofosfamide product candidate for targeting the tumor hypoxia is likely to be in highly competitive markets and may eventually compete with other therapies
offered by companies who are developing or were developing drugs that target tumor hypoxia.
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We also face potential competition from academic institutions, government agencies and private and public research institutions engaged in the discovery
and development of drugs and therapies. Many of our competitors have significantly grea ter financial resources and expertise in research and development,
preclinical testing, conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals, manufacturing, sales and marketing than we do. smaller or early-stage companies may
also prove to be signifi cant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and established pharmaceutical companies.
Our competitors may succeed in developing products that are more effective, have fewer side effects and are safer or more affordable than our product
candidates, which would render our product candidates less competitive or noncompetitive. These competitors also compete with us to recruit and retain qualified
scientific and management personnel, establish clinical trial sites and patient registration for clinical trials, as well as to acquire technologies and technology
licenses complementary to our programs or advantageous to our business. Moreover, competitors that are able to achieve patent protection obtain regulatory
approvals and commence commercial sales of their products before we do, and competitors that have already done so, may enjoy a significant competitive
advantage.
Our relationships with customers and third-party payors will be subject to applicable anti-kickback, fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and
regulations, which could expose us to criminal sanctions, civil penalties, contractual damages, reputational harm and diminished profits and future earnings.
Healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payors will play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of any product candidates for which
we obtain marketing approval. Our future arrangements with third-party payors and customers may expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other
healthcare laws and regulations that may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which we would market, sell and distribute our
products. As a biotechnology company, even though we do not and will not control referrals of healthcare services or bill directly to Medicare, Medicaid or other
third-party payors, federal and state healthcare laws and regulations pertaining to fraud and abuse and patients’ rights are and will be applicable to our business.
The laws that may affect our ability to operate include:
•

Federal healthcare Anti-Kickback statute will constrain our marketing practices, educational programs, pricing policies, and relationships with
healthcare providers or other entities, by prohibiting, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, receiving or
providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward, or in return for, either the referral of an individual for, or the
purchase, order or recommendation of, any good or service, for which payment may be made under a federal healthcare program such as Medicare and
Medicaid. A person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it to have committed a violation;

•

Federal civil and criminal false claims laws and civil monetary penalty laws impose criminal and civil penalties, including through civil whistleblower
or qui tam actions, against individuals or entities for knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, to the federal government, including the
Medicare and Medicaid programs, claims for payment that are false or fraudulent or making a false statement to avoid, decrease or conceal an
obligation to pay money to the federal government;

•

The Federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, imposes criminal and civil liability for executing a scheme to
defraud any healthcare benefit program and also created federal criminal laws that prohibit knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering
up a material fact or making any materially false statements in connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items or services.
similar to the Federal Anti-Kickback statute, a person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of these statutes or specific intent to violate
them to have committed a violation;

•

HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for economic and Clinical Health Act, or HITeCH, also imposes obligations, including
mandatory contractual terms, with respect to safeguarding the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information;

•

The federal physician sunshine requirements under the Affordable Care Act requires manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies
to report annually to HHs information related to payments and other transfers of value to physicians, other healthcare providers, and teaching
hospitals, and ownership and investment interests held by physicians and other healthcare providers and their immediate family members and
applicable group purchasing organizations; and

•

Analogous state and foreign laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws, may apply to sales or marketing arrangements and
claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by non-governmental third-party payors, including private insurers; some state laws require
pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance
promulgated by the federal government and may require drug manufacturers to report information related to payments and other transfers of value to
physicians and other healthcare providers or marketing expenditures and state and foreign laws that govern the privacy and security of health
information in specified circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and often are not preempted by HIPAA, thus
complicating compliance efforts.
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efforts to ensure that ou r business arrangements with third parties will comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations will involve substantial
costs. It is possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices may not comply with current or fut ure statutes, regulations or case law
involving applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our operations are found to be in violation of any of these laws or any other
governmental regulations that may apply to us, we may be s ubject to significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines, imprisonment,
exclusion from government funded healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. If any physicians
or other healthcare providers or entities with whom we expect to do business are found to not be in compliance with applicable laws, they may be subject to
criminal, civil or administrative sanctions, including exclusions from government funded healthcare programs.
There is a substantial risk of product liability claims in our business. If we do not obtain sufficient liability insurance, a product liability claim could result
in substantial liabilities.
Our business exposes us to significant potential product liability risks that are inherent in the development, manufacturing and marketing of human
therapeutic products. regardless of merit or eventual outcome, product liability claims may result in:
•

delay or failure to complete our clinical trials;

•

withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

•

decreased demand for our product candidates;

•

injury to our reputation;

•

litigation costs;

•

substantial monetary awards against us; and

•

diversion of management or other resources from key aspects of our operations.

If we suc ceed in marketing products, product liability claims could result in an FdA or foreign regulatory investigation of the safety or efficacy of our
products, our manufacturing processes and facilities or our marketing programs. An FdA or foreign regulatory investigation could also potentially lead to a recall
of our products or more serious enforcement actions, or limitations on the indications, for which they may be used, or suspension or withdrawal of approval.
We have product liability insurance that covers our clinical trials up to a $5 million annual aggregate limit. We intend to expand our insurance coverage to
include the sale of commercial products if marketing approval is obtained for our product candidates or any other compound that we may develop. However,
insurance coverage is expensive and we may not be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or at all, and the insurance coverage that we obtain
may not be adequate to cover potential claims or losses.
Even if we receive regulatory approval to market our product candidates, the market may not be receptive to our product candidates upon their commercial
introduction, which would negatively affect our ability to achieve profitability.
Our product candidates may not gain market acceptance among physicians, patients, healthcare payors and the medical community. The degree of market
acceptance of any approved products will depend on a number of factors, including:
•

the effectiveness of the product;

•

the prevalence and severity of any side effects;

•

potential advantages or disadvantages over alternative treatments;

•

relative convenience and ease of administration;

•

the strength of marketing and distribution support;

•

the price of the product, both in absolute terms and relative to alternative treatments; and

•

sufficient third-party coverage or reimbursement.

If our product candidates receive regulatory approval but do not achieve an adequate level of acceptance by physicians, patients, healthcare payors and the
medical community, we may not generate product revenues sufficient to attain profitability.
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If third-party payors do not cover or adequately reimburse patients for any of our product candidates, if approved for marketing, we may not be successful
in selling them.
Our ability to commercialize any approved products successfully will depend in part on the extent to which coverage and reimbursement will be available
from governmental and other third-party payors, both in the United states and in foreign markets. even if we succeed in bringing one or more products to the
market, the amount reimbursed for our products may be insufficient to allow us to compete effectively and could adversely affect our profitability. Coverage and
reimbursement by a governmental and other third-party payor may depend upon a number of factors, including a governmental or other third-party payor’s
determination that use of a product is:
•

a covered benefit under its health plan;

•

safe, effective and medically necessary;

•

appropriate for the specific patient;

•

cost-effective; and

•

neither experimental nor investigational.

Obtaining coverage and reimbursement approval for a product from each third-party and governmental payor is a time consuming and costly process that
could require us to provide supporting scientific, clinical and cost effectiveness data for the use of our products to each payor. We may not be able to provide data
sufficient to obtain coverage and reimbursement.
eligibility for coverage does not imply that any drug product will be reimbursed in all cases or at a rate that allows us to make a profit. Interim payments for
new products, if applicable, may also not be sufficient to cover our costs and may not become permanent. reimbursement rates may vary according to the use of
the drug and the clinical setting in which it is used, may be based on payments allowed for lower-cost drugs that are already reimbursed, may be incorporated into
existing payments for other products or services and may reflect budgetary constraints and/or Medicare or Medicaid data used to calculate these rates. net prices
for products also may be reduced by mandatory discounts or rebates required by government health care programs or by any future relaxation of laws that restrict
imports of certain medical products from countries where they may be sold at lower prices than in the United states.
The health care industry is experiencing a trend toward containing or reducing costs through various means, including lowering reimbursement rates,
limiting therapeutic class coverage and negotiating reduced payment schedules with service providers for drug products. The Medicare Prescription drug,
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003, or MMA, became law in november 2003 and created a broader prescription drug benefit for Medicare beneficiaries.
The MMA also contains provisions intended to reduce or eliminate delays in the introduction of generic drug competition at the end of patent or nonpatent market
exclusivity. The impact of the MMA on drug prices and new drug utilization over the next several years is unknown. The MMA also made adjustments to the
physician fee schedule and the measure by which prescription drugs are presently paid, changing from Average Wholesale Price to Average sales Price. The effects
of these changes are unknown but may include decreased utilization of new medicines in physician prescribing patterns, and further pressure on drug company
sponsors to provide discount programs and reimbursement support programs.
In March 2010, the United states Congress enacted the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and education
reconciliation Act, collectively, the Affordable Care Act, which, among other things, subjected manufacturers to new annual fees and taxes for certain branded
prescription drugs and included the following changes to the coverage and payment for drug products under government health care programs:
•

expanded manufacturers’ rebate liability under the Medicaid drug rebate Program by increasing the minimum rebate for both branded and generic
drugs and revising the definition of “average manufacturer price,” or AMP, for calculating and reporting Medicaid drug rebates on outpatient
prescription drug prices;

•

addressed a new methodology by which rebates owed by manufacturers under the Medicaid drug rebate Program are calculated for drugs that are
inhaled, infused, instilled, implanted or injected;

•

extended Medicaid drug rebates, previously due only on fee-for-service utilization, to Medicaid managed care utilization, and created an alternate
rebate formula for new formulations of certain existing products that is intended to increase the amount of rebates due on those drugs;

•

expanded the types of entities eligible for the 340B drug discount program that mandates discounts to certain hospitals, community centers and other
qualifying providers; and

•

established the Medicare Part d coverage gap discount program by requiring manufacturers to provide a 50% point-of-sale- discount off the negotiated
price of applicable brand drugs to eligible beneficiaries during their coverage gap period as a condition for the manufacturers’ outpatient drugs to be
covered under Medicare Part d.
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Other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted in the United states since the Affordable Care Act was enacted. In August 2011, the Budget
Control Act of 2011, among other things, created measures for spending reductions by Congress. A Joint select Committee on deficit reduction, tasked with
recommending a targeted deficit reduction of at least $1.2 trillion for the years 2013 through 2021, was unable to reach required goals, thereby triggering the
legislation’s automatic reduction to several government programs. This includes aggregate reductions of Medica re payments to providers up to 2% per fiscal year,
which went into effect in April 2013 and will remain in effect through 2024 unless additional Congressional action is taken. In January 2013, President Obama
signed into law the American Taxpayer relief Ac t of 2012, which, among other things, further reduced Medicare payments to several providers, including
hospitals and cancer treatment centers. Any reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or other government programs may result in a similar reduction in p
ayments from private payors, which may adversely affect our future profitability.
There have been, and we expect that there will continue to be, federal and state proposals to constrain expenditures for medical products and services, which
may affect reimbursement levels for our future products or otherwise result in pricing pressures with respect to our future products. In this regard, we expect further
federal and state proposals and healthcare reforms to continue to be proposed to limit the price of, or to curb pricing increases for, prescription drugs, including as a
result of negative publicity regarding drug pricing strategies by pharmaceutical companies and pricing increases on pharmaceutical products generally, which could
limit the prices that can be charged for our future products, which in turn may limit our commercial opportunity and/or negatively impact revenues from sales of
our future products. In addition, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid services frequently change product descriptors, coverage policies, product and service codes,
payment methodologies and reimbursement values. Third-party payors often follow Medicare coverage policy and payment limitations in setting their own
reimbursement rates and may have sufficient market power to demand significant price reductions.
Foreign governments tend to impose strict price controls, which may adversely affect our potential future profitability.
In some foreign countries, particularly in the european Union and Japan, prescription drug pricing is subject to governmental control. In these countries,
pricing negotiations with governmental authorities can take considerable time after the receipt of marketing approval for a product. To obtain reimbursement or
pricing approval in some countries, we may be required to conduct a clinical trial that compares the cost-effectiveness of our product candidate to other available
therapies. If reimbursement of our products is unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, our potential future profitability
will be negatively affected.
We may incur significant costs complying with environmental laws and regulations, and failure to comply with these laws and regulations could expose us
to significant liabilities.
Our research and development activities use biological and hazardous materials that are dangerous to human health and safety or the environment. We are
subject to a variety of federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the use, generation, manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of these materials and
wastes resulting from these materials. We are also subject to regulation by the Occupational safety and Health Administration, or OsHA, the California and federal
environmental protection agencies and to regulation under the Toxic substances Control Act. OsHA or the California or federal environmental protection agencies,
may adopt regulations that may affect our research and development programs. We are unable to predict whether any agency will adopt any regulations that could
have a material adverse effect on our operations. We have incurred, and will continue to incur, capital and operating expenditures and other costs in the ordinary
course of our business in complying with these laws and regulations. Although we believe our safety procedures for handling and disposing of these materials
comply with federal, state and local laws and regulations, we cannot entirely eliminate the risk of accidental injury or contamination from the use, storage, handling
or disposal of hazardous materials. In the event of contamination or injury, we could be held liable for any resulting damages, and any liability could significantly
exceed our insurance coverage.
•

reduced liquidity for our stockholders;

•

potential loss of confidence by employees and potential future partners or collaborators; and

•

loss of institutional investor interest and fewer business development opportunities.

Risks Related to Ownership of our Common Stock
We may not be able to correctly estimate our future operating expenses or our operating expenses may exceed our expectations, which could cause the
ownership percentage retained by the Threshold stockholders in the combined organization to be reduced.
Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, if Threshold’s net cash at the consummation of the merger is less than $12.5 million, the ownership
percentage of Threshold’s stockholders, option holders and warrant holders in the combined organization immediately following the consummation of the merger
will be reduced. As of december 31, 2016, we had cash and cash equivalents totaling $23.6 million. However, certain contingent payments related to the Merger,
including severance and change of control
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payments payable to our existing and former executive officers, will become due and payable in connection with the closing of the Merger.
Our operating expenses and expenses associated with the Merger and our obligations thereunder may exceed our estimates as a result of a variety of factors,
many of which are outside of its control. These factors include:
•

the time, resources and costs associated with the merger, including legal and accounting costs;

•

the costs associated with complying with its obligations under the Merger Agreement;

•

and

•

the costs of any claims or liabilities related to the proposed merger.

If we have not correctly estimated our future operating expenses or our operating expenses exceed our expectations, we may be below the $12.5 million
level at the time of the merger’s closing, which would result in an adjustment to the exchange ratio in the Merger Agreement such that the ownership percentage
retained by the our stockholders in the combined organization immediately following the merger may be reduced.
If we fail to continue to meet all applicable NASDAQ Global Market requirements and NASDAQ determines to delist our common stock, the delisting could
adversely affect the market liquidity of our common stock and the market price of our common stock could decrease.
Our common stock is listed on The nAsdAQ Global Market. In order to maintain our listing, we must meet minimum financial and other requirements,
including requirements for a minimum amount of capital, a minimum price per share and continued business operations so that we are not characterized as a
“public shell company.” On november 11, 2016, we received a notice from the staff (the “staff”) of The nAsdAQ stock Market llC (“nasdaq”) that, for the
previous 30 consecutive business days, the closing bid price for the Company’s common stock was below the $1.00 per share minimum bid price requirement for
continued listing on The nAsdAQ Capital Market under nasdaq listing rule 5550(a)(2) (the “Bid Price rule”). In accordance with nasdaq listing rule 5810(c)
(3)(A), the Company will have 180 calendar days, or until May 10, 2017, to regain compliance with the Bid Price rule. To regain compliance with the Bid Price
rule, the closing bid price of the Company’s common stock must be at least $1.00 per share for a minimum of 10 consecutive business days at any time during this
180-day period. If the Company regains compliance with the Bid Price rule, nasdaq will provide the Company with written confirmation and will close the
matter. If the Company does not regain compliance with the rule by May 10, 2017, the Company may be eligible for an additional 180 calendar day compliance
period. To qualify, the Company would need to meet, on the 180th day of the first compliance period, the continued listing requirement for market value of
publicly held shares and all other applicable standards for initial listing on The nAsdAQ Capital Market, with the exception of the bid price requirement, and
would need to provide written notice of its intention to cure the deficiency during the second compliance period by effecting a reverse stock split, if necessary. In
March 2017, the Company’s board of directors approved a reverse stock split, within a range which shall be no less than 5:1 or more than 15:1 of the Company’s
common and preferred stock, which would be contingent upon shareholder approval of the Merger and the stock split. However, if it appears to the staff that the
Company will not be able to cure the deficiency, or if the Company is not eligible for a second compliance period, nasdaq will notify the Company that its
common stock will be subject to delisting. In the event of such a notification, the Company may appeal the staff’s determination to delist its securities, but there
can be no assurance the staff would grant the Company’s request for continued listing. If we fail to continue to meet all applicable nAsdAQ Global Market
requirements, nasdaq may determine to delist our common stock from The nAsdAQ Global Market. If our common stock is delisted for any reason, it could
reduce the value of our common stock and its liquidity.
If our common stock is delisted as a result of our failure to comply with the Bid Price requirement or any other nasdaq continued listing requirement, we
would expect our common stock to be traded in the over-the-counter market, which could adversely affect the liquidity of our common stock. Additionally,
delisting would substantially impair our ability to raise additional funds to fund our operations, to meaningfully advance the development of evofosfamide and/or to
acquire or in-license additional product candidates or development programs, and we could face other significant material adverse consequences, including:
•

a limited availability of market quotations for our common stock;

•

a reduced amount of news and analyst coverage for us;

•

reduced liquidity for our stockholders;

•

potential loss of confidence by employees and potential future partners or collaborators; and

•

loss of institutional investor interest and fewer business development opportunities.
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The price of our common stock has been and may continue to be volatile.
The stock markets in general, the markets for biotechnology stocks and, in particular, the stock price of our common stock, have experienced extreme
volatility. Further price declines in our common stock could result from general market and economic conditions and a variety of other factors, including:
•

announcements regarding the development of our product candidates, including any delays in any potential future clinical trials, and investor
perceptions of our ability to advance the development of evofosfamide;

•

adverse results or delays in potential future clinical trials of evofosfamide;

•

our ability to raise additional capital to advance the development of evofosfamide and the terms of any related financing arrangements;

•

announcements of regulatory approval or non-approval of our product candidates, or delays in the applicable regulatory agency review process;

•

adverse actions taken by regulatory agencies with respect to our product candidates, clinical trials, manufacturing processes or sales and marketing
activities;

•

our ability to enter into new collaborative, licensing or other strategic arrangements with respect to our product candidates;

•

the terms and timing of any future collaborative, licensing or other strategic arrangements that we may establish;

•

announcements of technological innovations, patents or new products by us or our competitors;

•

regulatory developments in the United states, Japan and other foreign countries;

•

any lawsuit involving us or our product candidates;

•

our ability to comply with the minimum listing requirements of The nAsdAQ stock Market llC;

•

announcements concerning our competitors, or the biotechnology or pharmaceutical industries in general;

•

developments concerning any strategic alliances or acquisitions we may enter into;

•

actual or anticipated variations in our operating results;

•

changes in recommendations by securities analysts or lack of analyst coverage;

•

deviations in our operating results from the estimates of analysts;

•

sales of our common stock by us, including under our sales agreement with Cowen and Company, llC, or Cowen;

•

sales of our common stock by our executive officers, directors and significant stockholders or sales of substantial amounts of common stock; and

•

additional losses of any of our key scientific or management personnel.

In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a particular company’s securities, litigation has often been brought against that company.
Any such lawsuit could consume resources and management time and attention, which could adversely affect our business.
If there are large sales of our common stock, the market price of our common stock could drop substantially. In addition, a significant number of shares of
our common stock are subject to issuance upon exercise of outstanding options and warrants, which upon such exercise would result in dilution to our security
holders.
If we or our existing stockholders sell a large number of shares of our common stock or the public market perceives that we or our existing stockholders
might sell shares of our common stock, the market price of our common stock could decline significantly. As of december 31, 2016, we had 71,560,294
outstanding shares of common stock, substantially all of which may be sold in the public market without restriction, subject to any affiliate restrictions. On
november 2, 2015, we entered into a sales agreement with Cowen, under which we may sell shares of our common stock from time to time through Cowen, as our
agent for the offer and sale of the shares, in an aggregate amount not to exceed $50 million. Though our ability to sell shares of common stock through Cowen
under our sales agreement with Cowen is practically limited or precluded altogether due to our currently-depressed stock price, to the extent that we sell shares of
our common stock pursuant to the sales agreement with Cowen in the future, our stockholders will experience dilution. In addition, a significant number of shares
of our common stock are subject to issuance upon the exercise of outstanding options and warrants. On February 18, 2015, we issued warrants to purchase an
aggregate of 8,300,000 shares of our common stock, at an initial exercise price per share of $10.86, which exercise price was adjusted to $3.62 on January 21,
2016. In addition, as of
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december 31, 2016, there were 10,941,745 shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding o ptions having a weighted-average exercise
price of $3.00 per share. Although we cannot determine at this time how many of the currently outstanding options and warrants will ultimately be exercised, the
options and warrants will likely be exercised only if the exercise price is below the market price of our common stock. To the extent that the options and warrants
are exercised, additional shares of our common stock will be issued that will be eligible for resale in the public market, which will result in d ilution to our security
holders.
Failure to maintain effective internal controls in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 could have a material adverse effect on
our stock price.
section 404 of the sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the related rules and regulations of the securities and exchange Commission, or seC, require annual
management assessments of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. If we fail to maintain the adequacy of our internal control over
financial reporting, as such standards are modified, supplemented or amended from time to time, we may not be able to ensure that we can conclude on an ongoing
basis that we have effective internal control over financial reporting in accordance with section 404 of the sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the related rules and
regulations of the seC. If we cannot favorably assess, or our independent registered public accounting firm is unable to provide an unqualified attestation report on,
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, investor confidence in the reliability of our financial reports may be adversely affected, which
could have a material adverse effect on our stock price.
Our certificate of incorporation, our bylaws and Delaware law contain provisions that could discourage another company from acquiring us and may
prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management.
Provisions of delaware law, where we are incorporated, our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a merger or
acquisition that stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which you might otherwise receive a premium for your shares. In addition, these
provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for stockholders to
replace or remove our board of directors. These provisions include:
•

authorizing the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock without any need for action by stockholders;

•

providing for a classified board of directors with staggered terms;

•

requiring supermajority stockholder voting to effect certain amendments to our certificate of incorporation and bylaws;

•

eliminating the ability of stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders;

•

prohibiting stockholder action by written consent; and

•

establishing advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted on by
stockholders at stockholder meetings.

Claims for indemnification by our directors and officers may reduce our available funds to satisfy successful third-party claims against us and may reduce
the amount of money available to us.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that we will indemnify our directors and officers, in each
case to the fullest extent permitted by delaware law.
In addition, as permitted by section 145 of the delaware General Corporation law, our amended and restated bylaws and our indemnification agreements
that we have entered into with our directors and officers provide that:
•

We will indemnify our directors and officers for serving us in those capacities or for serving other business enterprises at our request, to the fullest
extent permitted by delaware law. delaware law provides that a corporation may indemnify such person if such person acted in good faith and in a
manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the registrant and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, had
no reasonable cause to believe such person’s conduct was unlawful.

•

We may, in our discretion, indemnify employees and agents in those circumstances where indemnification is permitted by applicable law.

•

We are required to advance expenses, as incurred, to our directors and officers in connection with defending a proceeding, except that such directors or
officers shall undertake to repay such advances if it is ultimately determined that such person is not entitled to indemnification.
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•

The rights conferred in our amended and restated bylaws are not exclusive, and we are authorized to enter into indemnification agreements with our
directors, officers, employees and age nts and to obtain insurance to indemnify such persons.

•

We may not retroactively amend our amended and restated bylaw provisions to reduce our indemnification obligations to directors, officers, employees
and agents.

Our ability to use our net operating losses to offset future taxable income, if any, may be subject to certain limitations.
In general, under section 382 of the Internal revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change”
(generally defined as a greater than 50-percentage-point cumulative change (by value) in the equity ownership of certain stockholders over a rolling three-year
period) is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change net operating losses, or nOls, to offset future taxable income. If we undergo additional
ownership changes (some of which changes may be outside our control), our ability to utilize our nOls could be further limited by section 382 of the Code. Our
nOls may also be impaired under state law. Accordingly, we may not be able to utilize a material portion of our nOls. Furthermore, our ability to utilize our
nOls is conditioned upon our attaining profitability and generating U.s. federal taxable income. We have incurred net losses since our inception and anticipate that
we will continue to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future; thus, we do not know whether or when we will generate the U.s. federal taxable income
necessary to utilize our nOls. see the risk factors described above under “risks related to related to Our Financial Performance and Operations.”
We have never paid dividends on our common stock, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. We do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the
foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings to fund the development and growth of our business. As a result, capital
appreciation, if any, of our common stock will be our stockholders’ sole source of gain for the foreseeable future.
Our employment agreements with our executive officers and certain other employees may require us to pay severance benefits to any of those persons who
are terminated under specified circumstances, including in connection with a change of control of us, which could harm our financial condition or results.
Our executive officers and certain other employees are parties to employment agreements that contain change of control and severance provisions providing
for severance and other benefits and acceleration of vesting of stock options in the event of a termination of employment under specified circumstances. The
payment of these severance benefits could harm our financial condition and results. In addition, these potential severance payments may discourage or prevent third
parties from seeking a business combination with us .
ITEM 1B.

UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

none.
ITEM 2.

PROPERTIES

We have a noncancelable facility sublease agreement for 31,104 square feet of laboratory space and office space located in south san Francisco, California,
which serves as our corporate headquarters. The lease began on October 1, 2011 and will expire on April 30, 2017. In March 2017, the Company also determined
that it would not pursue a new lease when the current lease expires in April 2017 at the south san Francisco facility We believe our facilities are suitable and
adequate for our current needs and that adequate facilities will be available to support our needs following termination of our existing leases.
ITEM 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not a party to any material legal proceedings.
ITEM 4.

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

not applicable.
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PART II
ITEM 5.

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information
Our common stock has been traded on The nAsdAQ Capital Market under the symbol “THld”. Prior to that time there was no public market for our
stock. The following table lists quarterly information on the price range of our common stock based on the high and low reported sale prices for our common stock
as reported by the nAsdAQ Capital Market for the periods indicated below.
High

Year Ended December 31, 2016:
First Quarter
second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter
Year Ended December 31, 2015:
First Quarter
second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

Low

$
$
$
$

0.62
0.77
1.48
0.68

$
$
$
$

0.21
0.30
0.46
0.35

$
$
$
$

4.69
4.62
5.28
4.44

$
$
$
$

3.22
3.29
3.54
0.45

There were approximately 69 holders of record of our common stock as of February 28, 2017. On February 28, 2017, the last reported sales price per share
of our common stock was $ 0.61 per share.
Dividends
We have never declared or paid any dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain any future earnings to fund the development and expansion
of our business, and therefore we do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay
dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, restrictions
contained in future financing instruments and other factors our board of directors deems relevant.
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
none.
Repurchases of Equity Securities
none.
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Stock Performance Graph
The following graph shows the total stockholder return of an investment of $100 in cash on december 31, 2011 for (i) our common stock; (ii) the nAsdAQ
Composite Index; and (iii) the nAsdAQ Biotechnology Index through december 31, 2016. Pursuant to applicable seC rules, all values assume reinvestment of
the full amount of all dividends; however, no dividends have been declared on our common stock to date. The stockholder return shown in the graph below is not
necessarily indicative of future performance, and we do not make or endorse any predictions as to future stockholder returns.
This section is not “soliciting material,” is not deemed filed with the seC and is not to be incorporated by reference in any filing by us under the securities
Act or the exchange Act, whether made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation language in any such filing.
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ITEM 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following tables reflect selected consolidated summary financial data for each of the last five fiscal years and are derived from our audited financial
statements. This data should be read in conjunction with Part II, Item 7, “Management’s discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and results of
Operations” and Part II, Item 8, “Financial statements and supplementary data”, appearing elsewhere in this Annual report on Form 10-K.
Years Ended December 31,
2015
2014
2013
(In thousands, except per share data)

2016

revenue
Operating expenses:
research and development (1)
General and administrative (1)
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Interest income (expense), net
Other income (expense), net
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes
Provision (benefit ) for income taxes
net income (loss)
net income (loss) per common share:
Basic
diluted

$

—

$

76,915

$

16,554
7,808
24,362
(24,362)
147
121
(24,094)
—
(24,094) $

40,271
9,716
49,987
26,928
125
16,769
43,822
—
43,822

$
$

(0.34) $
(0.34) $

0.62
0.54

Weighted average number of shares used in net loss per
common share calculations:
Basic
diluted
(1) Includes employee and non-employee non-cash stockbased compensation of:
research and development
General and administrative

71,524
71,524

$
$

1,281
1,808

$
$

$

23,551
21,558
24,283
4,395
19,888
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4,090
2,711

2015

$

48,680
42,342
53,669
12,823
40,846

14,722

$

12,495

$

5,867

$

35,832
10,141
45,973
(31,251)
121
9,344
(21,786)
(202)
(21,584) $

29,334
9,185
38,519
(26,024)
136
(2,325)
(28,213)
202
(28,415) $

18,786
7,080
25,866
(19,999)
80
(51,216)
(71,135)
—
(71,135)

$
$

(0.36) $
(0.49) $

(0.49) $
(0.49) $

(1.31)
(1.31)

70,242
73,483

2016

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities
Working capital
Total assets
Total liabilities
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)

$

2012

60,335
63,386

$
$

3,123
2,365

57,832
57,832

$
$

As of December 31,
2014
(In thousands)

$

58,600 $
40,706
68,396
92,372
(23,976)

2,562
2,360

54,219
54,219

$
$

2013

82,033 $
58,993
104,118
127,593
(23,475)

1,521
1,489

2012

70,848
70,199
89,521
103,374
(13,853)

ITEM 7.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion may contain forward-looking statements based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties,
including those set forth under the heading “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our actual results and the timing of selected events
discussed below could differ materially from those expressed in, or implied by, these forward-looking statements.
Overview
We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company that has historically used our expertise in the tumor microenvironment to discover and develop
therapeutic and diagnostic agents that selectively target tumor cells for the treatment of patients living with cancer. Most recently, the Company has devoted
substantially all of its research, development, clinical efforts and financial resources to its two therapeutic product cand idates based on hypoxia-activated prodrug
technology in the clinic: evofosfamide and tarloxotinib; and its imaging agent product candidate: [18F]-HX4. In december 2015, we announced topline results
from two pivotal Phase 3 clinical trials of evofosfamid e: TH-Cr-406 conducted by Threshold in patients with soft tissue sarcoma and MAesTrO conducted by
Merck KGaA, darmstadt, Germany (“, or Merck KGaA”), in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer; and that neither trial met its primary endpoint of
demonstrating a statistically significant improvement in overall survival. Of particular note based on the data from the september 1, 2015 cut-off date for the
MAesTrO trial, a meaningful improvement in overall survival was reported for a subgroup of 123 Asian patients (enrolled at Japanese and south Korean sites) in
which the risk of death was reduced by 48 percent for patients on the treatment arm compared to patients on the control arm. The hazard ratio (“Hr”) for this
subgroup was 0.52 (95% confidence interval (or “CI”: 0.32 – 0.85). In particular and based upon Merck KGaA’s MAesTrO data, the 116 patients from Japan
from the treatment arm had a median overall survival of 13.6 months versus 9.1 months for those patients on the control arm with significant improvements in
progression free survival, objective response rates, and reductions in the pancreatic cancer biomarker, CA19-9. no new safety findings were identified in the
MAesTrO study and the safety profile was consistent with that previously reported in othe r studies of evofosfamide plus gemcitabine. Based on the results of our
analyses, we discussed potential registration pathways with Japan’s Pharmaceuticals and Medical devices Agency (PMdA). In March 2017, we received minutes
from the Company’s formal mee ting with the PMdA indicating that the Company’s analysis of the data from the randomized Phase III study, eMr200592-001
(n=693), conducted under a special Protocol Agreement with the FdA, and the data from the supporting randomized Phase II study, TH-Cr-4 04 (n=214),would
not provide adequate efficacy data to support the submission of a new drug Application (“JndA”) for evofosfamide for the treatment of patients with locally
advanced unresectable or metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma previously untreated with chemotherapy. We are currently in discussions with the PMdA to
clarify the scope of a new Phase 3 clinical trial for which the PMdA would consider necessary to accept a JndA for evofosfamide in Japan based on the previous
results observed in the Japanese sub-population. Our current evofosfamide development strategy is limited to the Company-sponsored Phase I clinical trial of
evofosfamide in combination with immune checkpoint antibodies in collaboration with researchers and clinicians at The University of Texas Md Anderson Cancer
Center, initiated March 1, 2017 and investigator-sponsored clinical trials of evofosfamide in combination with antiangiogenic therapies in a variety of tumor types
as described in more detail below under “Our Product Candidates in Part 1 Item 1. Business section.”
Our second product candidate, tarloxotinib, was a prodrug designed to selectively release a covalent (irreversible) eGFr tyrosine kinase inhibitor under
hypoxic conditions. In september, 2016, the Company announced that its Phase 2 proof-of-concept trial evaluating tarloxotinib bromide for the treatment of
patients with mutant eGFr-positive, T790M-negative advanced non-small cell lung cancer(nsClC) progressing on an eGFr tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TH-Cr601) did not achieve its primary interim response rate endpoint. While the Company’s other Phase 2 proof-of-concept trial evaluating tarloxotinib bromide for the
treatment of patients with recurrent or metastatic squamous cell carcinomas of the skin met its primary interim response rate endpoint, the other two arms of the
study, evaluating tarloxotinib bromide for the treatment of patients with recurrent or metastatic squamous cell carcinomas of the head and neck did not achieve their
primary interim response rate endpoint, and the overall results from the two trials didn't meet the activity thresholds required to justify further development
investment by the Company. Accordingly, no further clinical development of tarloxotinb or HX4 is planned. We plan to present preliminary results from both trials
at an upcoming medical meeting.
Following the announcement of the evofosfamide clinical trial results, our board of directors commenced a process of evaluating strategic alternatives to
maximize stockholder value. To assist with this process, our board of directors engaged a financial advisory firm to help explore our available strategic alternatives,
including possible mergers and business combinations, a sale of part or all of our assets, collaboration and licensing arrangements and/or equity and debt
financings.
In March 2017, the Company entered into a Merger Agreement with Molecular Templates, Inc. (“Molecular Templates”), pursuant to which a whollyowned subsidiary of ours will merge with and into Molecular Templates, with Molecular Templates surviving as a wholly-owned subsidiary of us. Molecular
Templates and we believe that the merger will result in a pharmaceutical company focused on the development and global distribution of safer products less prone
tor resistance useful in the treatment of cancer and other disorders. The number of shares of common stock of the Company to be issued in respect of each
Molecular Templates share will be based upon the
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relative stipulated values of each of the Company and Molecular Templ ates as determined pursuant to the Merger Agreement. The stipulated value of the
Company is subject to downward adjustment based upon the Company’s net cash balance at the closing of the transaction. Assuming that no such adjustment is
applicable, immediat ely following the closing of the transaction, Molecular Templates equity holders are expected to own approximately 65.6% of the outstanding
common stock of the Company on a fully-diluted basis. Consummation of the transaction is subject to certain closing conditions, including, among other things,
approval by the stockholders of the Company of the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement and related matters. The Merger Agreement contains
certain termination rights for both the Company and Molecula r Templates, and further provides that, upon termination of the Merger Agreement under specified
circumstances, the Company may be required to pay Molecular Templates a termination fee of $750,000 and reimburse certain fees and expenses incurred by
Molecul ar Templates. Although we have entered into the Merger Agreement and intend to consummate the merger, there is no assurance that we will be able to
successfully consummate the merger on a timely basis, or at all.
If the Merger is not completed, the Company will reconsider strategic alternatives and could pursue one of the following courses of action:
•

Pursue another strategic transaction . The Company may resume the process of evaluating a potential strategic transaction.

•

Develop evofosfamide successfully in parallel with partnering TH-3424 and/or HX4and broadening our pipeline by in-licensing or acquiring new
product candidates. We are currently in ongoing discussions with the PMdA to clarify the scope of a new clinical trial for which the PMdA would
consider necessary to accept a JndA for evofosfamide in Japan based on the previous results observed in the Japanese sub-population in the Phase 3
MAesTrO clinical trial. In addition, we are in the process of completing our analyses of the available biomarker data from the Phase 3 MAesTrO
trial in patients with pancreatic cancer with the goal of identifying additional subgroups of patients that may benefit from treatment with evofosfamide
and gemcitabine. In parallel, we intend to complete the Phase 1 clinical trial of evofosfamide in combination with immune checkpoint antibodies in
collaboration with researchers and clinicians at The University of Texas Md Anderson Cancer Center and several IsTs as described in more detail
below under “Product Candidates.” TH-3424 is our small-molecule drug candidate, discovered at Threshold, being evaluated for the potential
treatment of hepatocellular (liver) cancer, castrate resistant prostate cancer, T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemias, and other cancers expressing high
levels of aldo-keto reductase family 1 member C3, or AKr1C3. Tumors overexpressing AKr1C3 can be resistant to radiation therapy and
chemotherapy. TH-3424 is a prodrug in preclinical development that selectively releases a potent dnA cross-linking agent in the presence of
AKr1C3. Preliminary nonclinical toxicology studies including biochemical, in vitro cell-based and in vivo animal-based characterization of its
pharmacological properties were presented at the 2016 Annual Meeting of the American Association for Cancer research (AACr) in April 2016. The
preliminary nonclinical studies suggested an adequate therapeutic index. We believe that the preliminary nonclinical study results warrant continued
development of TH-3424 in Investigational new drug (Ind)-enabling toxicology studies in collaboration with Ascenta Pharmaceuticals, ltd. which
we expect will be completed by the fourth quarter of 2017. Our ability to advance the clinical development of evofosfamide is dependent upon our
ability to obtain additional funding, including entering into new collaborative or partnering arrangements for evofosfamide, TH-3424 and/or HX4. In
this regard, we are currently seeking pharmaceutical and diagnostic partners for TH-3424 and HX4 with a commercial presence in oncology. subject to
our ability to obtain additional funding, we also intend to evaluate opportunities with academic institutions or pharma- and biopharmaceutical
companies to potentially in-license or acquire new product candidates.

•

Dissolve and liquidate the Company's assets . If, for any reason, the Merger does not close, the board of directors currently intends to attempt to
complete another strategic transaction like the Merger. If the Board cannot complete another strategic transaction in a reasonable period of time or
decides to no longer continue to pursue the development of evofosfamide or to partner TH-3424 and HX4, then the Board intends to sell or otherwise
dispose of the Company’s various assets. If the board of directors determines to sell or otherwise dispose of the Company's various assets, any
remaining cash proceeds would be distributed to its stockholders. In that event, the Company would be required to pay all of its debts and contractual
obligations, and to set aside certain reserves for potential future claims, and there would be no assurances as to the amount or timing of available cash
remaining to distribute to stockholders after paying its obligations and setting aside funds for reserve.

We were in corporated in October 2001. We have devoted substantially all of our resources to research and development of our product candidates,
principally evofosfamide and tarloxotinib . We have not generated any revenue from the commercial sales of our product candidates, and since inception we have
funded our operations through the private placement and public offering of equity securities and through payments received under our former collaboration with
Merck KGaA. As of december 31, 2016 and 2015, we had cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of $23.6 million and $48.7 million, respectively. We
currently have no ongoing collaborations for the development and commercialization of evofosfamide, and no source of revenue . However, we continue to seek
out new strategic partners for the continued development of TH-3424, , as well as new in-licensing opportunities for us and funding for those opportunities. If
these efforts are not successful, we may be unable to continue as a going concern.
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subject to our ab ility to obtain additional funding and to otherwise advance the development of evofosfamide , we expect to devote substantial resources to
research and development in future periods as we potentially start additional clinical trials on our own or with a pot ential future strategic partner or collaborator.
While we expect to incur additional research and development expenses in the absence of additional funding as a result of the planned Phase 1 clinical trial of
evofosfamide in collaboration with researchers and clinicians at The University of Texas Md Anderson Cancer Center and our ongoing preclinical development of
TH-3424, research and development expenses are expected to decrease in 2016 compared to 2015 primarily as a result of Merck KGaA’s and our decisi on to cease
further joint development of evofosfamide , our decision to cease further enrollment in all Threshold-sponsored clinical trials of evofosfamide and our decision to
cease further development of tarloxotinib and, to a lesser extent, the impact of workforce reduction s implemented in december 2015 and in september 2016.
However , apart from the planned Phase 1 clinical trial of evofosfamide , we cannot currently predict whether and to what extent we may continue or increase
product candidate developmen t activities in future periods, if at all, and what our future cash needs may be for any such activities.
We believe that our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities will be sufficient to fund our projected operating requirements for the next twelve
months based upon current operating plans and spending assumptions as a standalone company. However, we will need to raise substantial additional capital to
meaningfully advance the clinical development of evofosfamide, whether through new collaborative, partnering or other strategic arrangements or otherwise, and to
in-license or otherwise acquire and deve lop additional product candidates or programs. In particular, our ability to meaningfully advance the clinical development
of evofosfamide is dependent upon our ability to enter into new partnering, collaborative or other strategic arrangements for evofosfamide and TH-3424, or to
otherwise obtain sufficient additional funding for such development, particularly since we are no longer eligible to receive any further milestone payments or other
funding from Merck KGaA for evofosfamide, including the 70% of worldwide development costs for evofosfamide that were previously borne by Merck KGaA.
If we are unable to secure additional funding on a timely basis or on terms favorable to us, we may be required to cease or reduce certain development projects, to
conduct additional workforce reductions, to sell some or all of our technology or assets or to merge all or a portion of our business with another entity. Insufficient
funds may require us to delay, scale back, or eliminate some or all of our activities, and if we are unable to obtain additional funding, there is uncertainty regarding
our continued existence.
Revenue
We have not generated any revenue from the commercial sales of our product candidates since our inception and do not expect to generate any revenue from
the commercial sales of our product candidates in the near term. We also currently have no ongoing collaborations for the development and commercialization of
our product candidates and no source of revenue. We recognized revenue of $0 million, $76.9 million and $14.7 million during the years ended december 31,
2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively, from the amortization of the $110 million in upfront and milestone payments earned in 2012 and 2013 from our former
collaboration with Merck KGaA. We were amortizing the upfront and milestone payments over the estimated period of performance (product development period)
which we estimated to end on March 31, 2020, for the nine months ended september 30, 2015 and year ended december 31, 2014. As a result of our and Merck
KGaA’s decision to cease further joint development of evofosfamide in december 2015, we immediately recognized $65.9 million of the remaining deferred
revenue into revenue during the quarter ended december 31, 2015. In addition, as a result of the subsequent termination of the collaboration with Merck KGaA in
March 2016, we are no longer eligible to receive any further milestone payments or other funding from the collaboration.
Research and Development Expenses
research and development expenses consist primarily of costs of conducting clinical trials, salaries and related costs for personnel including non-cash stockbased compensation, costs of clinical materials, costs for research projects and preclinical studies, costs related to regulatory filings, and facility costs. Contracting
and consulting expenses are a significant component of our research and development expenses as we rely on consultants and contractors in many of these areas.
We recognize expenses as they are incurred. Our accruals for expenses associated with preclinical and clinical studies and contracts associated with clinical
materials are based upon the terms of the service contracts, the amount of services provided and the status of the activities.
General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related costs for our personnel in the executive, public relations, finance, patent,
corporate development and other administrative functions, including non-cash stock-based compensation, as well as consulting costs for functions for which we
either do not staff or only partially staff, including market research and recruiting. Other costs include professional fees for legal and accounting services, insurance
and facility costs.
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Stock-Based Compensation
We recognize stock-based compensation in accordance with the fair value provisions of Accounting standard Codification (“AsC”) 718, “Compensation—
Stock Compensation.” refer to the discussion of accounting treatment of stock based compensation below under “ Critical Accounting Policies .”
Fair Value of Warrants
AsC 815 “Derivatives and Hedging” requires that stock warrants with certain terms need to be accounted for as a liability with changes to their fair value
recognized in the consolidated statements of operations under Other income (expense). refer to the discussion of accounting treatment of fair value of warrants
below under “ Critical Accounting Policies .”
Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
Revenue
We recognized $0 million, $76.9 million and $14.7 million in revenue for the years ended december 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively, from the
amortization of the aggregate of $110 million in upfront and milestone payments earned in 2013 and 2012 from our former collaboration with Merck KGaA. We
were amortizing the upfront payment and milestones earned over the period of performance (product development period) which we estimated to end on March 31,
2020, for the nine months ended september 30, 2015 and year ended december 31, 2014. As a result of Merck KGaA’s and our decision to cease further joint
development of evofosfamide in december 2015, we immediately recognized $65.9 million of the remaining deferred revenue into revenue during the quarter
ended december 31, 2015. In addition, as a result of the subsequent termination of our collaboration with Merck KGaA in March 2016, we are no longer eligible
to receive any further milestone payments or other funding from the collaboration.
We expect no revenue in 2017 due to the termination of our collaboration with Merck KGaA and the resulting accelerated recognition of all deferred
revenue related to the former collaboration in 2015. nor do we expect any revenue in 2017 from our other collaborations where are products are an earlier stage of
development.
Research and Development
research and development expenses were $16.6 million for the year ended december 31, 2016, compared to $40.3 million for the year ended december 31,
2015 and $35.8 million for the year ended december 31, 2014. The $23.7 million decrease in expenses was due primarily to a $14.1 million decrease in employee
related expenses (including a $2.8 million decrease in noncash stock-based stock compensation expense), a $8.3 million decrease in clinical development expenses
net of the reimbursement for Merck KGaA’s 70% share of total development expenses for evofosfamide, and a decrease of $1.3 million in consulting expenses.
The decrease in employee related expenses was primarily due to the reductions in workforce of 38 employees in clinical development and discovery research in
december 2015 and september 2016. As a result of the termination of our former collaboration with Merck KGaA , we are no longer entitled to any reimbursement
for evofosfamide development expenses apart from Merck KGaA’s 70% reimbursement obligation for costs to wind down the discontinued trials and return the
evofosfamide rights back to us. The $4.5 million increase in 2015 compared to 2014, net of reimbursement for Merck KGaA’s 70% share of total development
expenses for evofosfamide, was due primarily to a $2.2 million increase in evofosfamide clinical development expenses, a $2.7 million increase in employee
related expenses, including a $1.0 million increase in non-cash stock based compensation expense. The increase in payroll expenses was also due to severance
expense of $2.2 million related to the reduction in workforce of 34 employees in clinical development and discovery research in december 2015. Partially
offsetting these increases was a $0.4 million decrease in consulting expenses.

60

during the years ended december 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, we were engaged in three primary research and development programs: the development of
evofosfamide, which was the subject of two pivotal Phase 3 clinical trials and multiple Phase 2 and Phase 1 clinical trials; the clinical development of tarloxotinib,
which was the subject of two Phase 2 proof of concept trials; and our discovery research program aimed at identifyin g new drug candidates. research and
development expenses consist primarily of costs of conducting clinical trials, salaries and related costs for personnel including noncash stock-based compensation,
costs of clinical materials, costs for research projects and preclinical studies, costs related to regulatory filings, and facility costs. Contracting and consulting
expenses are a significant component of our research and development expenses as we rely on consultants and contractors in many of these areas. Th e following
table summarizes our research and development expenses (net of reimbursement for Merck KGaA’s 70% share of total development expenses in the case of
evofosfamide) attributable to each of our programs for each period presented:
Research and Development Expenses by Project (in thousands):

2016

evofosfamide
Tarloxotinib
discovery research
Total research and development expenses

$

$

Years ended December 31,
2015

11,190
4,487
877
16,554

$

$

30,111
4,945
5,215
40,271

$

$

2014

30,094
258
5,480
35,832

research and development expenses associated with evofosfamide for 2016 were $11.2 million net of the reimbursement for Merck KGaA’s 70% share of
total development expenses for evofosfamide compared to $30.1 million net of the reimbursement for Merck KGaA’s 70% share of total development expenses for
evofosfamide for 2015, and $30.1 million for 2014. The decrease of $18.9 million in 2016 compared to the same period in 2015 was due to Merck KGaA’s and our
joint decision to cease further development in evofosfamide in december 2015 and the related discontinuation of enrollment in and closure of all companysponsored evofosfamide trials. research and development expenses for evofosfamide were flat in 2015 compared to 2014, net of reimbursement for Merck KGaA’s
70% share of total development expenses for evofosfamide, due to a $1.2 million increase in employee related expenses, including a $0.6 million increase in noncash stock based compensation, which was offset by a $0.7 million decrease in clinical development expenses and a $0.6 million decrease in consulting expenses.
research and developments expenses associated with tarloxotinib, which we licensed rights to in september 2014, were $4.5 million in 2016 compared to
$4.9 million in 2015 and $0.3 million in 2014. The decrease of $0.4 million in 2016, compared to the same period in 2015, was due primarily to the completion of
enrollment of two Phase 2 proof-of-concept clinical trials of tarloxotinib during the quarter ended septemb er 30, 2016. In addition, during the quarter ended
september 30, 2016, we determined to cease any further development of tarloxotinib based on the interim results from the two Phase 2 proof-of-concept trials of
tarloxotinib, which contributed to the decrease. With our decision to cease any further development of tarloxotinib, we expect a decrease in our tarloxotinib
expense for 2017 related only to winding down of the trials in the first quarter of 2017. The increase of $4.6 million in 2015 compared to 2014 was due to the
initiation of two Phase 2 proof-of-concept clinical trials of tarloxotinib in 2015. discovery research and development expenses were $0.9 million for 2016, $5.2
million for 2015 and $5.5 million for 2014. With the reduction in workforce enacted in december of 2015 pursuant to which we eliminated our in-house discovery
research activities, we experienced a substantial decrease in our discovery research expense for 2016 and currently expect the same for 2017.
The largest component of our total operating expenses has historically been our ongoing investment in our research and development activities, primarily
with respect to the development of evofosfamide. subject to our ability to obtain additional funding and to otherwise advance the dev elopment of evofosfamide ,
we expect to devote substantial resources to research and development in future periods as we start additional clinical trials with Molecular Templates or on our
own or with a potential future strategic partner or collaborator. While we expect to incur additional research and development expenses in the absence of additional
funding as a result of the planned Phase 1 clinical trial of evofosfamide in collaboration with researchers and clinicians at The University of Texas Md Anderson
Cancer Center , research and development expenses are expected to decrease in 2017 compared to 2016 primarily as a result of Merck KGaA’s and our decision to
cease further joint development of evofosfamide, our decision to cease further enrollment in all Threshold-sponsored clinical trials of evofosfamide other than the
Phase 1 clinical with The University of Texas Md Anderson Cancer Center and our decision to cease further development of tarloxotinib. In addition, the
reductions in workforce implemented in december 2015 and september 2016, will also result in a decrease in employee-related expenses.
The process of conducting the clinical research necessary to obtain FdA and foreign regulatory approvals is costly, uncertain and time consuming. We
consider the active management of our research and development programs to be critical to our long-term success. The actual probability of success for
evofosfamide and potential future clinical product candidates may be impacted by a variety of factors, including, among others, the quality of the product
candidate, early clinical data, investment in the program and the availability of adequate funding, competition, manufacturing capability and commercial viability.
Furthermore, our strategy depends upon our ability to enter into potential new partnering, collaborative or other strategic arrangements with third parties to assist in
the development of evofosfamide and TH-3424, or to otherwise obtain sufficient additional funding to permit such development. In the
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even t we enter into partnering or collaborative arrangements for evofosfamide or TH-3424 , the preclinical development or clinical trial process for a product
candidate and the estimated completion date may largely be under the control of that third party and n ot under our control. We cannot forecast with any degree of
certainty which of our current and potential future product candidates will be subject to future collaborations or how such arrangements would affect our
development plans or capital requirements. In addition, the length of time required for clinical development of a particular product candidate and our development
costs for that product candidate may be impacted by the scope and timing of enrollment in clinical trials for the product candidate, un anticipated additional clinical
trials that may be required, future decisions to develop a product candidate for subsequent indications, and whether in the future we decide to pursue development
of the product candidate with a collaborator or independently . For example, evofosfamide may have the potential to be approved for multiple indications, and we
do not yet know how many of those indications we and a potential future collaborator will pursue. In this regard, the decision to pursue regulatory approval for
subsequent indications will depend on several variables outside of our control, including the strength of the data generated in our prior and ongoing clinical studies
and the willingness of potential collaborators to jointly fund such additional work. Furthermore, the scope and number of clinical studies required to obtain
regulatory approval for each pursued indication is subject to the input of the applicable regulatory authorities, and we have not yet sought such input for all
potential indications t hat we may elect to pursue, and even after having given such input applicable regulatory authorities may subsequently require additional
clinical studies prior to granting regulatory approval based on new data generated by us or other companies, or for oth er reasons outside of our control.
The risks and uncertainties associated with our research and development projects are discussed more fully in Item 1A—risk Factors. As a result of the
risks and uncertainties discussed in Item 1A—risk Factors and above, we are unable to determine with any degree of certainty the duration and completion costs of
our research and development projects, anticipated completion dates or when and to what extent we will receive cash inflows from the commercialization and sale
of a product candidate, including evofosfamide. To date, we have not commercialized any of our product candidates and in fact may never do so.
General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses were $7.8 million for 2016, compared to $9.7 million for 2015 and $10.1 million for 2014. The $1.9 million decrease
in 2016 was due to a $1.5 million decrease in employee related expenses and a $0.4 million decrease in consulting expenses. Our general and administrative
expenses decreased in 2016 compared t o 2015 due to the termination of the collaboration with Merck KGaA and to a lesser extent, due to the reductions in
workforce in december 2015 and september 2016.We currently expect our general and administrative expenses to decrease in 2017 compared to 2016 due to the
termination of the collaboration with Merck KGaA and to a lesser extent, due to the reductions in workforce in september 2016. The $0.4 million decrease in 2015
compared to 2014 was primarily related to a decrease in consulting expenses.
Interest Income (Expense), Net
Interest income (expense) net for 2016 was $0.1 million of interest income compared to $0.1 million of net interest income for 2015 and $0.1 million of net
interest income for 2014.
Other Income (Expense)
Other income (expense) for 2016 was non-cash income of $0.1 million compared to non-cash income of $16.8 million for 2015 and non-cash income of
$9.3 million for 2014. The non-cash income for 2016 compared to 2015 and 2015 compared to the non-cash income for 2014 was due to a decrease in the fair value
of outstanding warrants to purchase common stock as a result of a decrease in the underlying stock price.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
We have not generated and do not expect to generate revenue from sales of our product candidates in the near term. We also currently have no ongoing
collaborations for the development and commercialization of our product candidates and no source of revenue. since our inception, we have funded our operations
primarily through private placements and public offerings of equity securities and through payments received under our former collaboration with Merck KGaA.
To date, we have received upfront and milestone payments of $110 million under our former collaboration with Merck KGaA. As a result of the termination of our
collaboration with Merck KGaA in March 2016, we are no longer eligible to receive any further milestone payments from Merck KGaA, including the 70% of
worldwide development costs for evofosfamide that were previously borne by Merck KGaA.
In February 2015, we completed an underwritten public offering of 8,300,000 shares of our common stock and accompanying warrants to purchase up to
8,300,000 shares of our common stock. net proceeds from the sale of common stock and accompanying warrants, excluding the proceeds, if any, from the exercise
of the warrants issued in the offering, were approximately $28.1 million after deducting the underwriting discount and offering expenses payable by us.
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The warrants issued in the February 2015 offering carried an initial exercise price of $10.86 per share and are exercisable through the date that is five years
from the issuance date. On January 21, 2016, pursuan t to the terms of the warrants the warrant exercise price for all warrants was adjusted to $3.62. The adjusted
exercise price of the warrants is also further subject to adjustment in the event of certain stock dividends and distributions, stock splits, sto ck combinations,
reclassifications or similar events affecting our common stock. I n addition, in the event of a Change of Control, as defined in the warrant agreement, at the request
of the warrant holders delivered before the 90th day after such Change o f Control, the Company (or the successor entity) shall purchase the warrants from the
warrant holders by paying to the warrant holders, within five Business days after such request (or, if later, on the effective date of the Change of Control), cash in
an amount equal to the Black scholes Value, as defined in the warrant agreement, of the remaining unexercised portion of the warrants on the date of such Change
of Control. The Black scholes Value will be determined based on the key level 3 inputs as defined in the warrant agreement. The cost of purchasing the
unexercised Warrants from the warrant holders in the event of the Merger will not affect the Company’s net cash as defined in the Merger Agreement
The warrants must be exercised for cash, except that if we fail to maintain an effective registration statement covering the exercise of the warrants, the
warrants may be exercised on a net, or cashless basis. In addition, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions set forth in the warrants, at our option, we have
the right to force the holders of the warrants to exercise their warrants in full if the volume-weighted average price of our common stock for any 20 consecutive
trading-day period beginning after April 20, 2016 exceeds $18.00 per share.
during the year ended december 31, 2014, we received approximately $4.8 million from the exercise of warrants to purchase approximately 2.3 million
shares of common stock. We had cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of $23.6 million and $48.7 million at december 31, 2016 and december 31,
2015, respectively, available to fund operations.
net cash used in operating activities for december 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 was $25.1 million, $38 million and $27.7 million, respectively. The decrease of
$12.9 million in 2016 compared to 2015, in cash used in operations was due to a decrease in payments of operating cash expenses, partially offset by a decrease in
the 70% cash reimbursement of expenses related to our former collaboration with Merck KGaA. The increase of $10.3 million in 2015 compared to 2014, in cash
used in operations was primarily attributable to the $12.5 million of milestone payment received from the Merck KGaA collaboration in 2014.
net cash provided by investing activities for the year ended december 31, 2016 was $26 million due primarily to proceeds from maturities of marketable
securities of $43.4 million, offset by purchases of investments of $17.4 million. net cash provided by investing activities during the year ended december 31, 2015
was $10.3 million, primarily due to sales and maturities of marketable securities of $67.2 million, partially offset by purchases of investments of $56.8 million. net
cash provided by investing activities during the year ended december 31, 2014 was $23.3 million, primarily due to sales and maturities of marketable securities of
$68.5 million, partially offset by purchases of investments of $44.9 million.
net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended december 31, 2016 was $28,000 of proceeds from the exercise of stock options and purchase
rights under our equity plans. net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended december 31, 2015 was $28.9 million and was primarily due to the $28.1
million net proceeds received from the completion of our underwritten public offering in February 2015. net cash provided by financing activities for the year
ended december 31, 2014 was $5.5 million and was primarily due to the approximately $4.8 million proceeds from the exercise of warrants to purchase shares of
common stock during 2014.
We believe that our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities will be sufficient to fund our projected operating requirements for the next twelve
months based upon current operating plans and spending assumptions . However, we will need to raise substantial additional capital to meaningfully advance the
clinical development of evofosfamide, whether through new collaborative, partnering or other strategic arrangements or otherwise, and to in-license or otherwise
acquire and develop additional product candidates or programs. In particular, our ability to meaningfully advance the clinical development of evofosfamide is
dependent upon our ability to enter into new partnering, collabora tive or other strategic arrangements for evofosfamide and TH-3424, or to otherwise obtain
sufficient additional funding for such development, particularly since we are no longer eligible to receive any further milestone payments or other funding from
Merck KGaA for evofosfamide, including the 70% of worldwide development costs for evofosfamide that were previously borne by Merck KGaA.
While we have been able to fund our operations to date, we currently have no ongoing collaborations for the development and commercialization of
evofosfamide, and no source of revenue, nor do we expect to generate revenue for the foreseeable future. We also do not have any commitments for future external
funding. Until we can generate a sufficient amount of product revenue, which we may never do, we expect to finance future cash needs through a variety of
sources, including:
•

the public equity market;

•

private equity financing;
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•

collaborative arrangements;

•

licensing arrangements; and/or

•

public or private debt.

Our ability to raise additional funds and the terms upon which we are able to raise such funds have been severely harmed by the negative results reported
from our two pivotal Phase 3 clinical trials of evofosfamide and our decision to discontinue development of tarloxotinib, and may in the future be adversely
impacted by the uncertainty regarding the prospects for future development of evofosfamide and our ability to advance the development of e vofosfamide or
otherwise realize any return on our investments in e vofosfamide , if at all. Our ability to raise additional funds and the terms upon which we are able to raise such
funds may also be adversely affected by the uncertainties regarding our financial condition, the sufficiency of our capital resources, our ability to maintain the
listing of our common stock on The nAsdAQ Capital Market and recent and potential future management turnover. As a result of these and other factors, we
cannot be certain that sufficient funds will be available to us or on satisfactory terms, if at all. To the extent we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities,
our stockholders may experience significant dilution, particularly given our currently depressed stock price, and debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive
covenants. If adequate funds are not available, we may be required to significantly reduce or refocus our operations or to obtain funds through arrangements that
may require us to relinquish rights to our product candidates, technologies or potential markets, any of which could result in our stockholders having little or no
continuing interest in our evofosfamide or TH-3424 programs as stockholders or otherwise, or which could delay or require that we curtail or eliminate some or all
of our development activities or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
On november 11, 2016, we received a notice from the staff (the “staff”) of The nAsdAQ stock Market llC (“nasdaq”) that, for the previous 30
consecutive business days, the closing bid price for the Company’s common stock was below the $1.00 per share minimum bid price requirement for continued
listing on The nAsdAQ Capital Market under nasdaq listing rule 5550(a)(2) (the “Bid Price rule”). In accordance with nasdaq listing rule 5810(c)(3)(A), the
Company will have 180 calendar days, or until May 10, 2017, to regain compliance with the Bid Price rule. To regain compliance with the Bid Price rule, the
closing bid price of the Company’s common stock must be at least $1.00 per share for a minimum of 10 consecutive business days at any time during this 180-day
per iod. If the Company regains compliance with the Bid Price rule, nasdaq will provide the Company with written confirmation and will close the matter. If the
Company does not regain compliance with the rule by May 10, 2017, the Company may be eligible for an additional 180 calendar day compliance period. To
qualify, the Company would need to meet, on the 180th day of the first compliance period, the continued listing requirement for market value of publicly held
shares and all other applicable standards for initial listing on The nAsdAQ Capital Market, with the exception of the bid price requirement, and would need to
provide written notice of its intention to cure the deficiency during the second compliance period by effecting a reverse stock split, if necessary. In March 2017, the
Company’s board of directors approved a reverse stock split, within a range which shall be no less than 5:1 or more than 15:1 of the Company’s common and
preferred stock, which would be contingent upon shareholder approval of the Merger and the stock split. However, if it appears to the staff that the Company will
not be able to cure the deficiency, or if the Company is not eligible for a second compliance period, nasdaq will notify the Company that its common stock will be
subject to delisting. In the event of such a notification, the Company may appeal the staff’s determination to delist its securities, but there can be no assurance the
staff would grant the Company’s request for continued listing. If we fail to meet these requirements, including the Bid Price requirement, nasdaq may notify us
that we have failed to meet the minimum listing requirements and initiate the delisting process. If our common stock is delisted, this would, among other things,
substantially impair our ability to raise additional funds to fund our operations, to advance the development of evofosfamide and TH-3424 and/or to acquire or inlicense additional product candidates or development programs, and could result in the loss of institutional investor interest and fewer development opportunities
for us.
If we are unable to secure additional funding on a timely basis or on terms favorable to us, we may be required to cease or reduce any product development
activities, to conduct additional workforce reductions, to sell some or all of our technology or assets or to merge all or a portion of our business with another entity.
Insufficient funds may require us to delay, scale back, or eliminate some or all of our activities, and if we are unable to obtain additional funding, there is
uncertainty regarding our continued existence.
Obligations and Commitments
We lease certain of our facilities under noncancelable leases, which qualify for operating lease accounting treatment under AsC 840, “Leases,” and, as
such, these facilities are not included on our consolidated balance sheets. We entered into a noncancelable facility sublease agreement for 28,650 square feet of
laboratory space and office space located in south san Francisco, California, which serves as our corporate headquarters. The lease began on October 1, 2011 and
will expire on April 30, 2017. The aggregate rent for the term of the lease is approximately $3.4 million. In addition, the lease requires us to pay certain taxes,
assessments, fees and other costs associated with the premises, in amounts yet to be determined. In connection with the execution of the lease we paid a security
deposit of approximately $60,000.
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Our major outstanding contractual obligations consist of amounts due under our operating lease agreements and purchase commitments under con tract
research, development and clinical supply agreements. Contractual obligations and related scheduled payments as of december 31, 2016 are as follows (in
thousands):
Less than one
year

Total

Facilities leases
Purchase commitments
Total

$

260
277
537

$

$
$

260
277
537

One to three
years

$
$

—
—
—

Four to five
years

$
$

—
—
—

After five
years

$
$

—
—
—

We have not included milestone or royalty payments or other contractual payment obligations in the table above if the amount and timing of such
obligations are unknown or uncertain.
“At-the-Market” Sales Agreement
On november 2, 2015, we entered into a sales agreement, with Cowen and Company, llC, or Cowen, or the Cowen sales Agreement, which provides that,
upon the terms and subject to the conditions and limitations set forth in the Cowen sales Agreement, we may elect to issue and sell shares of our common stock
having an aggregate offering price of up to $50.0 million from time to time through Cowen as our sales agent. sales of our common stock through Cowen, if any,
will be made on The nAsdAQ Capital Market by means of ordinary brokers’ transactions at market prices, in block transactions or as otherwise agreed by us and
Cowen. subject to the terms and conditions of the sales agreement, Cowen would use commercially reasonable efforts to sell our common stock from time to time,
based upon our instructions (including any price, time or size limits or other customary parameters or conditions we may impose). We are not obligated to make
any sales of common stock under the Cowen sales Agreement. We would pay Cowen an aggregate commission rate of up to 3.0% of the gross proceeds of the
sales price per share of any common stock sold under the Cowen sales Agreement. Although the Cowen sales Agreement remains in effect, the Cowen sales
Agreement is not currently a practical source of liquidity for us. In this regard, given our currently-depressed stock price, we are significantly limited in our ability
to sell shares of common stock through Cowen under the Cowen sales Agreement since the issuance and sale of common stock under the Cowen sales Agreement,
if it occurs, would be effected under a registration statement on Form s-3 that we filed with the securities and exchange Commission, and in accordance with the
rules governing those registration statements, we generally can only sell shares of our common stock under that registration statement in an amount not to exceed
one-third of our public float, which limitation for all practical purposes precludes our ability to obtain any meaningful funding through the Cowen sales Agreement
at this time. even if our stock price and public float substantially increases, the number of shares we would be able to sell under the Cowen sales Agreement would
be limited in practice based on the trading volume of our common stock. In addition, we must maintain the effectiveness of our registration statement on Form s-3
to be filed with the securities and exchange Commission in order to sell any common stock under the Cowen sales Agreement. We have not yet sold any common
stock pursuant to the Cowen sales Agreement
License and Development Agreements
Agreement with Merck KGaA
On March 10, 2016, we terminated the global license and co-development agreement (“license Agreement”) for evofosfamide with Merck KGaA,
darmstadt, Germany (“Merck”), originally entered into February 2, 2012. Under the terms of the Termination Agreement, all rights under the original agreement
were returned to Threshold, as well as all rights to Merck KGaA technology developed under the license Agreement. The Termination Agreement provides digit
tiered royalties on sales and milestone payments to Merck KGaA contingent upon the future successful development and commercialization of evofosfamide. To
date we have received upfront and milestone payments of $110 million. We previously recorded these as deferred revenue and amortized them over the estimated
performance period. As a result of Merck KGaA’s and our decision to cease further joint development of evofosfamide in december 2015, we immediately
recognized $65.9 million of the remaining deferred revenue into revenue during the quarter ended december 31, 2015. Also as a result of the termination of the
agreement we are no longer eligible to receive any further milestone payments from Merck KGaA.
Threshold will be responsible for the commercialization of evofosfamide. Threshold is evaluating further development and commercialization opportunities
for evofosfamide with other partners.
Agreement with Auckland Uniservices Ltd
On september 23, 2014, we entered into an exclusive license agreement with Auckland Uniservices ltd., a wholly-owned company of the University of
Auckland. Pursuant to the agreement, we licensed exclusive worldwide rights to a development program based on tarloxotinib from the University of Auckland.
Under the terms of this agreement, we made no upfront payment but we are required to pay all costs of development, as well as possible annual license
maintenance fees starting in september 2017.
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Agreement with Ascenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
On February 1, 2016, we entered into a patent assignment and development agreement with Ascenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Pursuant to the agreement, we
granted Ascenta exclusive rights in China, Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan to manufacture, develop and commercialize TH-3424 for the treatment of cancer in
humans and animals, and certain other uses. Under the agreement, Ascenta is responsible for pre-Ind activities for the development of TH-3424 and if an Ind
Application is filed in one of these countries Ascenta’s rights can be expanded to include Japan, south Korea, singapore, Malaysia, Thailand, Turkey and
India. Ascenta would be responsible for the development, manufacture and commercialization of TH-3424 in those countries and Threshold has rights to
development, manufacture and commercialization in the rest of the world.
Under the agreement, Ascenta will pay us 30% of patent prosecution costs before they are assigned. If an initial new drug (Ind) application is accepted in
the U.s, Threshold will reimburse 50% of approved development expenses incurred associated with filing the Ind. The agreement will remain in effect as long as
Ascenta continues to develop TH-3424 in its territory. each party is entitled to terminate the agreement upon the other party’s material breach after expiration of a
60-day cure period (30 days in the event of a payment breach). The parties are entitled to mutually terminate the agreement. In addition, Ascenta may terminate the
agreement upon change of control of Threshold or 60 days prior to receipt of marketing approval from the CFdA for TH-3424. Following any termination, all
assigned rights will revert to us.
Agreement with Eleison Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
On January 8, 2016, we amended the exclusive license agreement with eleison. Pursuant to the original agreement effective on October, 18, 2009, we
granted eleison exclusive worldwide rights to manufacture, develop and commercialize glufosfamide for the treatment of cancer in humans and animals, and
certain other uses. Under the agreement, eleison is responsible for the development, manufacturing and marketing of glufosfamide.
Under the amendment, eleison will pay us 30% of its profits from commercialization on a quarterly basis, beginning on the date of first commercial sale, if
any. eleison has the right to sublicense some or all of its rights under the agreement, and will pay us 30% of amounts received under any sublicenses, including,
without limitation, any royalty payments, license fee payments, milestone payments and payments for any equity or debt purchases by a sublicensee, within 30 days
of the receipt of any such amounts or payments by eleison. In addition, eleison is now required to pay us up to $175 million in potential sales-based milestone
payments. eleison will bear all costs associated with development, commercialization and patent prosecution, and will control product development and
commercialization. In addition, eleison will be responsible for all royalty and milestone payments due under certain agreements pursuant to which we licensed
rights related to glufosfamide. The agreement contemplates that eleison, to satisfy its diligence obligations, will raise sufficient funds to continue clinical
development activities with glufosfamide. In the event that eleison fails to satisfy its diligence obligations, we may, at our option, terminate the agreement for
material breach or convert the license granted under the agreement to a non-exclusive license.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of december 31, 2016 and 2015, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred
to as structured finance or special purpose entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other
contractually narrow or limited purposes. In addition, we do not engage in trading activities involving non-exchange traded contracts. Therefore, we are not
materially exposed to any financing, liquidity, market or credit risk that could arise if we had engaged in these relationships.
Income Taxes
For the years ended december 31, 2016 and 2015, we did not record an income tax provision due to net operating losses and the inability to record an
income tax benefit. For the year ended december 31, 2014, we recorded an income tax benefit of $0.2 million, which was related to state minimum taxes recorded
in the previous year. As of december 31, 2016, we had accumulated approximately $143 million and $94 million in federal and state net operating loss
carryforwards, respectively, to reduce future taxable income. If not utilized, our federal and state net operating loss carryforwards begin to expire in 2021 and 2017
for federal and state tax purposes, respectively. Our net operating loss carryforwards are subject to certain limitations on annual utilization in case of changes in
ownership, as defined by federal and state tax laws.
At december 31, 2016, we had research credit carryforwards of approximately $10.5 million and $5.9 million for federal and California state income tax
purposes, respectively. If not utilized the federal carryforward will expire in 2022. The state research credit carryforward does not have an expiration date.
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We have not recorded a benefit from our net operating loss or research credit carryforwards because we believe that it is uncertain that we will have
sufficient income from future operations to realize the carryforwards prior to their expi ration. Accordingly, we have established a valuation allowance against the
deferred tax asset arising from the carryforwards.
Critical Accounting Policies
Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our consolidated financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United states of America. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements
requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and expenses and related disclosures. We review our estimates on
an ongoing basis. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. While our significant accounting policies are described in more detail in
the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual report on Form 10-K, we believe the following accounting policies to be critical to the
judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.
Revenue Recognition
We recognize revenue in accordance with AsC 605 “revenue recognition”, subtopic AsC 605-25 “revenue with Multiple element Arrangements” and
subtopic AsC 605-28 “revenue recognition-Milestone Method”, which provides accounting guidance for revenue recognition for arrangements with multiple
deliverables and guidance on defining the milestone and determining when the use of the milestone method of revenue recognition for research and development
transactions is appropriate, respectively.
Our 2015 and 2014 revenues are related to our former collaboration with Merck KGaA, which was entered in February 2012 and terminated in March 2016.
Our former collaboration with Merck KGaA provided for various types of payments to us, including non-refundable upfront license, milestone and royalty
payments. We recognize revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, the price is fixed or
determinable, and collectability is reasonably assured. We also received reimbursement for Merck KGaA’s 70% share for eligible worldwide development
expenses for evofosfamide under our former collaboration with Merck KGaA. such reimbursement was reflected as a reduction of operating expenses and not as
revenue.
For multiple-element arrangements, each deliverable within a multiple deliverable revenue arrangement is accounted for as a separate unit of accounting if
both of the following criteria are met: (1) the delivered item or items have value to the customer on a standalone basis and (2) for an arrangement that includes a
general right of return relative to the delivered item(s), delivery or performance of the undelivered item(s) is considered probable and substantially in our control.
The deliverables under the Merck KGaA agreement were determined to be a single unit of accounting and as such the revenue relating to this unit of accounting
was recorded as deferred revenue and recognized ratably over the term of its estimated performance period under the agreement, which was the product
development period. We determine the estimated performance period, and it was periodically reviewed based on the progress of the related product development
plan. The effect of a change made to an estimated performance period and therefore revenue recognized ratably occurred on a prospective basis in the period that
the change was made. We were amortizing the upfront and milestone payments from our collaboration with Merck KGaA over the estimated period of performance
(product development period) which we estimated to end on March 31, 2020, for the nine months ended september 30, 2015 and year ended december 31, 2014.
As a result of Merck KGaA’s and our decision to cease further joint development of evofosfamide in december 2015, we immediately recognized $65.9 million of
the remaining deferred revenue into revenue during the quarter ended december 31, 2015.
deferred revenue associated with a non-refundable payment received under a collaborative agreement for which the developmental performance obligations
are terminated will result in an immediate recognition of any remaining deferred revenue in the period that termination occurred provided that all performance
obligations have been satisfied.
We recognize revenue from milestone payments when: (i) the milestone event is substantive and its achievability has substantive uncertainty at the inception
of the agreement, and (ii) we do not have ongoing performance obligations related to the achievement of the milestone earned. Milestone payments are considered
substantive if all of the following conditions are met: the milestone payment (a) is commensurate with either our performance subsequent to the inception of the
arrangement to achieve the milestone or the enhancement of the value of the delivered item or items as a result of a specific outcome resulting from our
performance subsequent to the inception of the arrangement to achieve the milestone, (b) relates solely to past performance, and (c) is reasonable relative to all of
the deliverables and payment terms (including other potential milestone consideration) within the arrangement. see note 3, “Collaboration Arrangements”, in the
notes to the Consolidated Financial statements included in Part II, Item 8. “Financial statements and supplementary data” in this Annual report on Form 10-K,
for analysis of each milestone event deemed to be substantive or non-substantive.
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determining whether and when some of these revenue recognition criteria have been satisfied often involves assumptio ns and judgments that can have a
significant impact on the timing and amount of revenue we report. Changes in assumptions or judgments or changes to the elements in an arrangement could cause
a material increase or decrease in the amount of revenue that we report in a particular period.
Stock-Based Compensation
We account for stock options and stock purchase rights related to our equity incentive plans under the provisions of AsC 718 which requires the recognition
of the fair value of stock-based compensation. The fair value of stock options and esPP shares was estimated using a Black-scholes option valuation model. This
model requires the input of subjective assumptions including expected stock price volatility, expected life and estimated forfeitures of each award. The fair value of
equity-based awards is amortized ratably over the requisite service period of the award. due to the limited amount of historical data available to us, particularly
with respect to stock-price volatility, employee exercise patterns and forfeitures, actual results could differ from our assumptions.
We account for equity instruments issued to non-employees in accordance with the provisions of AsC 718 and AsC 505, “Equity.” As a result, the noncash charge to operations for non-employee options with service or other performance criteria is affected each reporting period by changes in the estimated fair
value of our common stock, as the underlying equity instruments vest. The two factors which most affect these changes are the price of the common stock
underlying stock options for which stock-based compensation is recorded and the volatility of the stock price. If our estimates of the fair value of these equity
instruments change, it may have the effect of significantly changing compensation expense.
Fair Value of Warrants
AsC 815 provides guidance that clarifies the determination of whether an instrument (or an embedded feature) is indexed to an entity’s own stock, which
would qualify for classification as a liability. The guidance requires stock warrants with certain terms be classified as a liability and to be fair valued at each
reporting period, with the changes in fair value recognized in our consolidated statements of operations. We fair value the warrants using a Black scholes valuation
model, which requires the use of significant judgment and estimates related to the inputs used in the model and can result in significant swings in the fair market
valuation primarily due to changes in the price of our common stock. since the outstanding common stock warrants are fair valued at the end of each reporting
period, any significant change in the underlying assumptions to the Black scholes valuation model, including the volatility and price of our common stock, may
have a significant impact on the expense we recognize related to these common stock warrants.
Preclinical and Clinical Trial Accruals
Most of our preclinical and clinical trials are performed by third party contract research organizations, or CrOs, and clinical supplies are manufactured by
contract manufacturing organizations, or CMOs. Invoicing from these third parties may be monthly based upon services performed or based upon milestones
achieved. We accrue these expenses based upon our assessment of the status of each clinical trial and the work completed, and upon information obtained from the
CrOs and CMOs. Our estimates are dependent upon the timeliness and accuracy of data provided by the CrOs and CMOs regarding the status and cost of the
studies, and may not match the actual services performed by the organizations. This could result in adjustments to our research and development expenses in future
periods or restatement of prior periods. To date we have had no significant adjustments.
Marketable Securities
We classify all of our marketable securities as available-for-sale. We carry these investments at fair value, based upon the levels of inputs described below,
and unrealized gains and losses are included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) which is reflected in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
loss. The amortized cost of securities in this category is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretions of discounts to maturity. such amortization is
included in interest income. realized gains and losses are recorded in our statements of operations. If we believe that an other-than-temporary decline exists, it is
our policy to record a write-down to reduce the investments to fair value and record the related charge as a reduction of interest income.
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We adopted AsC 820, “Fair Value and Measurements, in the first quarter of 2008. AsC 820 defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received
for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageou s market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants on the measurement date. AsC 820 also establishes a fair value hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and
minimize the use of uno bservable inputs when measuring fair value. The standard describes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:
Level 1 —Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 —Observable inputs other than level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active, or
other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities. Our short-term
investments primarily utilize broker quotes in a non-active market for valuation of these securities.
Level 3 —Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
AsC 820 requires us to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. If a financial instrument uses inputs that fall in
different levels of the hierarchy, the instrument will be categorized based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value calculation. Our financial
assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis include securities available for sale. securities available for sale include money market funds, government
securities, commercial paper and corporate debt securities.
Accounting for Income Taxes
Our income tax policy records the estimated future tax effects of temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and amounts reported
in the accompanying balance sheets, as well as operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. We have recorded a full valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax
assets, as based on available objective evidence; it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized. In the event that we were to determine
that we would be able to realize our deferred tax assets in the future, an adjustment to the deferred tax assets would result in an income tax benefit in the period
such determination is made.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting standards Board (“FAsB”) issued an accounting standard update regarding revenue from customer contracts to
transfer goods and services or non-financial assets unless the contracts are covered by other standards (for example, insurance or lease contracts). Under the new
guidance, an entity should recognize revenue in connection with the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration
that the entity expects to be entitled to receive in exchange for those goods or services. In addition, the new standard requires that reporting companies disclose the
nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. In August 2015, the FAsB deferred the effective date of
the update by one year, with early adoption on the original effective date permitted. The updates are effective for us beginning in the first quarter of the fiscal year
2018. The new revenue standard may be applied retrospectively to each prior period presented or retrospectively with the cumulative effect recognized as of the
date of adoption. We are currently evaluating the impact of this accounting standard update on our consolidated financial statements.
In november 2015, the FAsB issued an accounting standard update for the presentation of deferred income taxes. Under this new guidance, deferred tax
liabilities and assets should be classified as noncurrent in a classified balance sheet. The update is effective for us beginning in the first quarter of fiscal year 2018
with early adoption permitted as of the beginning of an interim or annual reporting period. Additionally, this guidance may be applied either prospectively or
retrospectively to all periods presented. We are currently evaluating the impact the standard will have on our financial statements.
In February 2016, the FAsB issued an accounting standard update, which requires the recognition of lease assets and lease liabilities arising from operating
leases in the statement of financial position. We will adopt the standard effective the first quarter of 2019 and do not anticipate that this new accounting guidance
will have a material impact on our consolidated statement of operations.
In March 2016, the FAsB issued an accounting standard update, which simplifies several aspects of the accounting for share-based payments, including
immediate recognition of all excess tax benefits and deficiencies in the income statement, changing the threshold to qualify for equity classification up to the
employees' maximum statutory tax rates, allowing an entity-wide accounting policy election to either estimate the number of awards that are expected to vest or
account for forfeitures as they occur, and clarifying the classification on the statement of cash flows for the excess tax benefit and employee taxes paid when an
employer withholds shares for tax-withholding purposes. We are evaluating the full effect this accounting update may have on our consolidated financial
statements and will adopt the standard effective the first quarter of 2017.
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ITEM 7A.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATI VE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISKS

Interest Rate Risk . Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates to our cash equivalents on deposit in highly liquid money market funds
and investments in short-term marketable securities. The primary objective of our cash investment activities is to preserve principal while at the same time
maximizing the income we receive from our invested cash without significantly increasing risk of loss. We invest in high-quality financial instruments, which
currently have weighted average maturity of less than one year. We do not use derivative financial instruments in our investment portfolio. Our cash and
investments policy emphasizes liquidity and preservation of principal over other portfolio considerations. Our investment policy also limits the amount we may
invest in any one type of investment issuer, thereby reducing credit risk concentrations. Our investment portfolio is subject to interest rate risk and will fall in value
if market interest rates rise. However, due to the short duration of our investment portfolio we believe an increase in the interest rates of ten percent would not be
material to our financial condition or results of operations.
In addition, we do not have any material exposure to foreign currency rate fluctuations as we operate primarily in the United states. Although we conduct
some clinical and safety studies, and manufacture active pharmaceutical product and some drug product with vendors outside the United states, most of our
transactions are denominated in U.s. dollars.
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Report of Independent Regist ered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Threshold Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Threshold Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of december 31, 2016 and 2015, and the related
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
december 31, 2016. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United states). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to
perform an audit of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis
for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Threshold
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., at december 31, 2016 and 2015, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended december 31, 2016, in conformity with U.s. generally accepted accounting principles.
/s/ ernst & Young llP
redwood City, California
March 27, 2017
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THRESHOLD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
December 31,
2016

AsseTs
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities, current
Collaboration receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Other assets
Total assets

$

$

lIABIlITIes And sTOCKHOlders’ eQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Collaboration payable
Accrued clinical and development expenses
Accrued liabilities
Total current liabilities
Warrant liability
deferred rent
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (note 7)
stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value:
Authorized: 2,000,000 shares; no shares issued and outstanding.
Common stock, $0.001 par value:
Authorized: 150,000,000 shares at december 31, 2016 and 2015; Issued and
outstanding: 71,560,294 and 71,462,059 shares at december 31, 2016 and 2015,
respectively.
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

10,551
13,000
—
623
24,174
109
—
24,283

$

822
129
777
888
2,616
1,743
36
4,395

$

$

—

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2015

72
373,352
(2)
(353,534)
19,888
24,283

9,589
39,091
1,891
2,599
53,170
333
166
53,669

725
—
6,834
3,269
10,828
1,864
131
12,823

—

$

71
370,236
(21)
(329,440)
40,846
53,669

THRESHOLD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in thousands, except per share data)
Years Ended December 31,
2015

2016

revenue
Operating expenses:
research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Interest income (expense), net
Other income (expense), net
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes
Provision (benefit) for income taxes
net income (loss)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Unrealized gain (loss) on available for sale securities
Comprehensive income (loss)

$

—

$

16,554
7,808
24,362
(24,362)
147
121
(24,094)
—
(24,094)

net income (loss) per common share:
Basic
diluted
Weighted average number of shares used in per common share calculations:
Basic
diluted

2014

$

40,271
9,716
49,987
26,928
125
16,769
43,822
—
43,822

14,722
35,832
10,141
45,973
(31,251)
121
9,344
(21,786)
(202)
(21,584)

$

19
(24,075)

$

(8)
43,814

$

(41)
(21,625)

$

(0.34)

$

0.62

$

(0.36)

$

(0.34)

$

0.54

$

(0.49)

71,524

70,242

60,335

71,524

73,483

63,386

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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76,915

THRESHOLD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Common Stock
Shares
Amount

Balances, december 31, 2013
exercise of warrants to purchase common stock
Issuance of common stock pursuant to stock
plans
stock-based compensation
reclassification of fair value of warrants
exercised from liability to equity
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on marketable
securities
net loss
Balances, december 31, 2014
Issuance of common stock to certain investors,
net of issuance costs of $1.9 million
exercise of warrants to purchase common stock
Issuance of common stock pursuant to stock
plans
stock-based compensation
reclassification of fair value of warrants
exercised from liability to equity
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on marketable
securities
net income
Balances, december 31, 2015
Issuance of common stock pursuant to stock
plans
stock-based compensation
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on marketable
securities
net loss
Balances, december 31, 2016

59,232,611
3,437,348

$

59
3

$

328,116
4,831

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

$

28
—

Accumulated
Deficit

$

Total
Stockholders’
Equity
(Deficit)

(351,678) $
—

(23,475)
4,834

228,274
—

1
—

685
5,488

—
—

—
—

686
5,488

—

—

10,116

—

—

10,116

—
—
62,898,233

—
—
63

—
—
349,236

$

$

$

(41)
—
(13) $

—
(21,584)
(373,262) $

(41)
(21,584)
(23,976)

8,300,000
10,000

8
—

13,445
25

—
—

—
—

13,453
25

99,759
154,067

—
—

712
6,801

—
—

—
—

712
6,801

—

—

17

—

—

17

—
—
71,462,059

—
—
71

—
—
370,236

98,235
—

1
—

27
3,089

—
—
71,560,294

—
—
72

—
—
373,352

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(8)
—
(21)
—
—
19
—
(2)

—
43,822
(329,440)
—
—
—
(24,094)
(353,534)

(8)
43,822
40,846
28
3,089
19
(24,094)
19,888

THRESHOLD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
Years Ended December 31,
2015

2016

Cash flows from operating activities:
net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
depreciation and amortization
stock-based compensation expense
Change in common stock warrant value
(Gain) loss on sale of investments, property and equipment
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Collaboration receivable/payable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued clinical and development expenses
Accrued liabilities
deferred rent
deferred revenue
net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment
Acquisition of marketable securities
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities
Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities
net cash provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock and warrants, net of offering
expenses
net cash provided by financing activities
net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

$

$

(24,094)

$

$

(21,584)

423
3,089
(121)
(122)

1,002
6,801
(16,773)
14

1,309
5,488
(9,344)
(3)

2,020
2,142
97
(6,057)
(2,381)
(95)
—
(25,099)

5,357
(774)
(1,349)
836
89
(112)
(76,916)
(38,003)

10,846
1,314
385
(1,446)
19
3
(14,722)
(27,735)

—
(17,448)
131
—
43,350
26,033

(109)
(56,793)
—
1,997
65,223
10,318

(224)
(44,911)
—
14,584
53,878
23,327

28
28
962
9,589
10,551

28,883
28,883
1,198
8,391
9,589

5,520
5,520
1,112
7,279
8,391

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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43,822

2014

$

THRESHOLD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Description of Operations and Basis of Presentation
Threshold Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company” or “Threshold”) was incorporated in the state of delaware on October 17, 2001. The Company is a
biotechnology company using its expertise in the tumor microenvironment to discover and develop therapeutic agents that selectively target tumor cells for the
treatment of patients living with cancer. In June 2005, the Company formed a wholly-owned subsidiary, THld enterprises (UK), limited in the United Kingdom
in connection with conducting clinical trials in europe. As of december 31, 2016, there has been no financial activity related to this entity.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United states of
America and include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, and reflect the elimination of intercompany accounts and transactions.
Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with AsC 605 “revenue recognition”, subtopic AsC 605-25 “revenue with Multiple element
Arrangements” and subtopic AsC 605-28 “revenue recognition-Milestone Method”, which provides accounting guidance for revenue recognition for
arrangements with multiple deliverables and guidance on defining the milestone and determining when the use of the milestone method of revenue recognition for
research and development transactions is appropriate, respectively.
The Company’s revenues were related to its former collaboration arrangement with Merck KGaA, which was entered in February 2012. The collaboration
with Merck KGaA provided for various types of payments to the Company, including non-refundable upfront license, milestone and royalty payments. The
Company recognizes revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, the price is fixed or
determinable, and collectability is reasonably assured. The Company also received reimbursement for Merck KGaA’s 70% share for eligible worldwide
development expenses for evofosfamide (formerly TH-302). such reimbursement was reflected as a reduction of operating expenses. In March 2016, the Company
and Merck KGaA agreed to terminate the collaboration and all rights evofosfamide were returned to the Company.
For multiple-element arrangements, each deliverable within a multiple deliverable revenue arrangement is accounted for as a separate unit of accounting if
both of the following criteria are met: (1) the delivered item or items have value to the customer on a standalone basis and (2) for an arrangement that includes a
general right of return relative to the delivered item(s), delivery or performance of the undelivered item(s) is considered probable and substantially in the
Company’s control. The deliverables under the Merck KGaA agreement were determined to be a single unit of accounting and as such the revenue relating to this
unit of accounting was recorded as deferred revenue and recognized ratably over the term of its estimated performance period under the agreement, which was the
product development period. The Company determines the estimated performance period and it was periodically reviewed based on the progress of the related
product development plan. The effect of a change made to an estimated performance period and therefore revenue recognized ratably would occur on a prospective
basis in the period that the change was made.
deferred revenue associated with a non-refundable payment received under a collaborative agreement for which the developmental performance obligations
are terminated will result in an immediate recognition of any remaining deferred revenue in the period that termination occurred provided that all performance
obligations have been satisfied.
The Company recognizes revenue from milestone payments when: (i) the milestone event is substantive and its achievability has substantive uncertainty at
the inception of the agreement, and (ii) the Company does not have ongoing performance obligations related to the achievement of the milestone earned. Milestone
payments are considered substantive if all of the following conditions are met: the milestone payment (a) is commensurate with either the Company’s performance
subsequent to the inception of the arrangement to achieve the milestone or the enhancement of the value of the delivered item or items as a result of a specific
outcome resulting from the Company’s performance subsequent to the inception of the arrangement to achieve the milestone, (b) relates solely to past performance,
and (c) is reasonable relative to all of the deliverables and payment terms (including other potential milestone consideration) within the arrangement. see note 3,
“Collaboration Arrangements,” for analysis of milestone events deemed to be substantive or non-substantive.

77

Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United states of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
significant estimates, assumptions and judgments made by management include those related to the valuation of equity and related instruments, revenue
recognition, stock-based compensation and clinical trial accrued liabilities.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with original maturities of three months or less on the date of purchase, to be cash
equivalents. All cash and cash equivalents are held in the United states of America in financial institutions or money market funds, which are unrestricted as to
withdrawal or use.
Marketable Securities
The Company classifies its marketable securities as “available-for-sale.” such marketable securities are recorded at fair value and unrealized gains and
losses are recorded as a separate component of stockholders’ equity until realized. realized gains and losses on sale of all such securities are reported in net loss,
computed using the specific identification cost method. The Company places its marketable securities primarily in U.s. government securities, money market
funds, corporate debt securities, commercial paper and certificates of deposit.
The Company’s investments are subject to a periodic impairment review. The Company recognizes an impairment charge when a decline in the fair value of
its investments below the cost basis is judged to be other-than-temporary. The Company considers various factors in determining whether to recognize an
impairment charge, including the length of time and extent to which the fair value has been less than the Company’s cost basis, the financial condition and nearterm prospects of the investee, and the Company’s intent and ability to hold the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in
the market value.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts of certain of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts payable and accrued liabilities
approximate fair value due to their relatively short maturities. estimated fair values for marketable securities, which are separately disclosed in note 4, “Fair Value
Measurements and Marketable securities,” are based on quoted market prices for the same or similar instruments. The counterparties to the agreements relating to
the Company’s investment securities consist of the Us Treasury, various major corporations, governmental agencies and financial institutions with high credit
standing.
Fair Value of Warrants
AsC 815 “derivatives and Hedging” provides guidance that clarifies the determination of whether an instrument (or an embedded feature) is indexed to an
entity’s own stock, which would qualify for classification as a liability. The guidance requires common stock warrants with certain terms be classified as a liability
and to be fair valued at each reporting period, with the changes in fair value recognized in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. We fair value the
outstanding common stock warrants using a Black scholes valuation model at the end of each reporting period. The carrying amount of the common stock warrant
liability represents its estimated fair value.
Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of risk consist principally of cash, cash equivalents and marketable
securities. The Company invests in a variety of financial instruments, such as, but not limited to, certificates of deposit, corporate and municipal bonds, United
states Treasury and agency securities. The Company is exposed to credit risk in the event of default by the financial institutions for amounts in excess of Federal
deposit Insurance Corporation insured limits. The Company performs periodic evaluations of the relative credit standings of these financial institutions, and by
policy, limits the amount of credit exposure with any one financial institution or commercial issuer.
Other Risks and Uncertainties
The Company has not generated and does not expect to generate revenue from sales of our product candidates in the near term. The Company also currently
has no ongoing collaborations for the development and commercialization of its product candidates and no source of revenue. since the Company’s inception, the
Company has funded its operations primarily through private placements
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and public offerings of equity securities and through payments received under its former collabora tion with Merck KGaA. The Company has incurred significant
losses since its inception. The Company continues to incur substantial expenses related to development and, subject to the Company’s ability to raise additional
funding, management believes that it will continue to do so for the foreseeable future. On March 10, 2016, the Company terminated the global license and codevelopment agreement (“license Agreement”) for evofosfamide with Merck KGaA, darmstadt, Germany (“Merck”), originally entered into Febr uary 2,
2012. To date, the Company has received $110 million in upfront and milestone payments from this collaboration. As a result of the termination of the agreement
the Company is no longer eligible to receive any further milestone payments or other fu nding from Merck KGaA including the 70% of worldwide development
costs for evofosfamide that were previously borne by Merck KGaA. see further details in note 3, “Collaboration Arrangements”.
The Company believes that its cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities will be sufficient to fund its projected operating requirements for the next 12
months based upon current operating plans and spending assumptions. However the Company will need to raise additional capital to advance the clinical
development of its product candidates, whether through new collaborative or partnering arrangements or otherwise, and to in-license or otherwise acquire and
develop additional product candidates or programs. In particular, the Company’s ability to advance the clinical development of its lead product candidate,
evofosfamide, is dependent upon its ability to enter into new collaborative or partnering arrangements for evofosfamide and TH-3424, or to otherwise obtain
sufficient additional funding for such development, particularly since the Company is no longer eligible to receive any further milestone payments or other funding
from Merck KGaA, including the 70% of worldwide development costs for evofosfamide that were previously borne by Merck KGaA.
While the Company has been able to fund its operations to date, the Company currently has no ongoing collaborations for the development and
commercialization of its product candidates and no source of revenue, nor does the Company expect to generate revenue for the foreseeable future. The Company
also does not have any commitments for future external funding. Until the Company can generate a sufficient amount of product revenue, which it may never do,
the Company expects to finance future cash needs through a variety of sources, including:
•

the public equity market;

•

private equity financing;

•

collaborative arrangements;

•

licensing arrangements; and/or

•

public or private debt.

The Company’s ability to raise additional funds and the terms upon which it is able to raise such funds have been severely harmed by the negative results
reported from the Company’s two pivotal Phase 3 clinical trials of evofosfamide , and may in the future be adversely impacted by the uncertainty regarding the
prospects for future development of evofosfamide and the Company’s ability to advance the development of e vofosfamide, or otherwise realize any return on its
investments in e vofosfamide , if at all. The Company’s ability to raise additional funds and the terms upon which it is able to raise such funds may also be
adversely affected by the uncertainties regarding its financial condition, the sufficiency of its capital resources, the Company’s ability to maintain the listing of its
common stock on The nAsdAQ Capital Market and recent and potential future management turnover. As a result of these and other factors, the Company cannot
be certain that sufficient funds will be available to it or on satisfactory terms, if at all. To the extent the Company raises additional funds by issuing equity
securities, its stockholders may experience significant dilution, particularly given the Company’s currently depressed stock price, and debt financing, if available,
may involve restrictive covenants. If adequate funds are not available, the Company may be required to significantly reduce or refocus its operations or to obtain
funds through arrangements that may require the Company to relinquish rights to its product candidates, technologies or potential markets, any of which could
result in the Company’s stockholders having little or no continuing interest in the Company’s evofosfamide program as stockholders or otherwise, or which could
delay or require that the Company curtail or eliminate some or all of its development programs or otherwise have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the Company may have to delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate some of its development,
which could delay the time to market for any of its product candidates, if adequate funds are not available. To the extent that additional capital is raised through the
sale of equity or convertible debt securities, the issuance of such securities would result in ownership dilution to existing stockholders. There are no assurances that
the Company will be able to raise additional financing on terms acceptable to the Company.
If the Company is unable to secure additional funding on a timely basis or on terms favorable to the Company , the Company may be required to cease or
reduce certain development projects, to conduct additional workforce reductions, to sell some or all of its technology or assets or to merge all or a portion of the
Company’s business with another entity. Insufficient funds may require the Company to delay, scale back, or eliminate some or all of its activities, and if the
Company is unable to obtain additional funding, there is uncertainty regarding the Company’s continued existence.
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The Company’s lead product candidate, evofosfamide, has not received any regulatory approvals. To achieve profitable operations, the Company must
successfully develop, test, manufacture and market its product candidates, including evofosfamide. With respect to evofosfam ide, the Company’s ability to
advance the clinical development of evofosfamide is dependent upon its ability to enter into new collaborative or partnering arrangements for evofosfamide, or to
otherwise obtain sufficient additional funding for such developm ent. In addition, the Company’s development of TH-3424 is at an early stage and it is possible that
TH-3424 may not be found to be safe or effective in the ongoing Ind enabling studies of TH-3424 and the Company may otherwise fail to realize the anticipate d
benefits of its partnering or licensing of this product candidate. There can be no assurance that evofosfamide or any other of the Company’s potential future product
candidates will be developed successfully or manufactured at an acceptable cost and with appropriate performance characteristics, or that such products will be
successfully marketed. These factors could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s future financial results.
Any products developed by the Company will require approval from the U.s. Food and drug Administration (“FdA”) or foreign regulatory agencies prior
to commercial sales. There can be no assurance that the Company’s products will receive the necessary approvals. If the Company is denied such approvals or such
approvals are delayed, it could have a material adverse effect on the Company.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
the related assets, generally three years. leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the improvement, or
the lease term, if shorter. Accordingly, leasehold improvements are being amortized over lease terms of approximately 4-6 years. Maintenance and repairs are
charged to operations as incurred. Upon sale or retirement of assets, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the balance sheet and the
resulting gain or loss is reflected in operations. The Company reviews its property, plant and equipment assets for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.
Comprehensive loss
Comprehensive loss is comprised of the Company’s net loss and other comprehensive income (loss). Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale marketable
securities represents the only component of other comprehensive income (loss).
Research and Development expenses
research and development expenses consist of costs such as salaries and benefits, laboratory supplies, facility costs, consulting fees and fees paid to
contract research organizations, clinical trial sites, laboratories, other clinical service providers and contract manufacturing organizations. research and
development expenses are expensed as incurred.
Clinical Trial Accruals
The Company’s preclinical and clinical trials are performed by third party contract research organizations (CrOs) and/or clinical investigators, and clinical
supplies are manufactured by contract manufacturing organizations (CMOs). Invoicing from these third parties may be monthly based upon services performed or
based upon milestones achieved. The Company accrues these expenses based upon its assessment of the status of each clinical trial and the work completed, and
upon information obtained from the CrOs and CMOs. The Company’s estimates are dependent upon the timeliness and accuracy of data provided by the CrOs
and CMOs regarding the status and cost of the studies, and may not match the actual services performed by the organizations. This could result in adjustments to
the Company’s research and development expenses in future periods. To date the Company has had no significant adjustments.
Bonus Accruals
The Company has bonus programs for eligible employees. Bonuses are determined based on various criteria, including the achievement of corporate,
departmental and individual goals. Bonus accruals are estimated based on various factors, including target bonus percentages per level of employee and probability
of achieving the goals upon which bonuses are based. The Company’s management periodically reviews the progress made towards the goals under the bonus
programs. As bonus accruals are dependent upon management’s judgments of the likelihood of achieving the various goals, it is possible for bonus expense to vary
significantly in future periods if changes occur in those management estimates.
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Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes under the liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the
difference between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected
to affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts expected to be realized.
Segments
The Company has one reportable segment and uses one measurement of results of operations to manage its business. All long-lived assets are maintained in
the United states of America.
Stock-Based compensation
The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with AsC 718, “Compensation—Stock Compensation,” which requires measurement
of all employee stock-based compensation awards using a fair-value method and recording of such expense in the consolidated financial statements over the
requisite service period.
The Company accounts for equity instruments issued to non-employees in accordance with the provisions of AsC 718 and AsC 505, “Equity,” which
require that such equity instruments are recorded at their fair value on the measurement date. The measurement of stock-based compensation is subject to periodic
adjustment as the underlying equity instruments vest.
see note 9 “equity Incentive Plans and stock Based Compensation” for further discussion.
Restructuring Charges
restructuring charges are primarily comprised of severance costs, contract and program termination costs, asset impairments and costs of facility
consolidation and closure. restructuring charges are recorded upon approval of a formal management plan and are included in the operating results of the period in
which such plan is approved and the expense becomes estimable.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting standards Board (“FAsB”) issued an accounting standard update regarding revenue from customer contracts to
transfer goods and services or non-financial assets unless the contracts are covered by other standards (for example, insurance or lease contracts). Under the new
guidance, an entity should recognize revenue in connection with the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration
that the entity expects to be entitled to receive in exchange for those goods or services. In addition, the new standard requires that reporting companies disclose the
nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. The updates are effective for the Company beginning in
the first quarter of the fiscal year 2018. In August 2015, the FAsB deferred the effective date of the update by one year, with early adoption on the original
effective date permitted. The new revenue standard may be applied retrospectively to each prior period presented or retrospectively with the cumulative effect
recognized as of the date of adoption. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this accounting standard update on its consolidated financial statements.
In november 2015, the FAsB issued an accounting standard update for the presentation of deferred income taxes. Under this new guidance, deferred tax
liabilities and assets should be classified as noncurrent in a classified balance sheet. The update is effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter of fiscal
year 2017 with early adoption permitted as of the beginning of an interim or annual reporting period. Additionally, this guidance may be applied either
prospectively or retrospectively to all periods presented. The Company does not expect this standard to have a material impact on its consolidated financial
statements.
In February 2016, the FAsB issued an accounting standard update, which requires the recognition of lease assets and lease liabilities arising from operating
leases in the statement of financial position. The Company will adopt the standard effective the first quarter of 2019 and does not anticipate that this new
accounting guidance will have a material impact on its consolidated statements of operations.
In March 2016, the FAsB issued an accounting standard update, which simplifies several aspects of the accounting for share-based payments, including
immediate recognition of all excess tax benefits and deficiencies in the income statement, changing the threshold to qualify for equity classification up to the
employees' maximum statutory tax rates, allowing an entity-wide accounting policy election to either estimate the number of awards that are expected to vest or
account for forfeitures as they occur, and clarifying the classification on the statement of cash flows for the excess tax benefit and employee taxes paid when an
employer withholds
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shares for tax-withholding purposes. The Company is evaluating the full effect this accounting update may have on it s consolidated financial statements and will
adopt the standard effective the first quarter of 2017.
NOTE 2—NET INCOME (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE
Basic net income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the
period. diluted net income (loss) per common share is computed by giving effect to all potential dilutive common shares, including outstanding options and
warrants.
Potential dilutive common shares also include the dilutive effect of the common stock underlying in-the-money stock options and warrants that were
calculated based on the average share price for each period using the treasury stock method. Under the treasury stock method, the proceeds from the exercise of an
option or warrant is assumed to be used to repurchase shares in the current period. In addition, the average amount of compensation cost for in-the-money options,
if any, for future service that the Company has not yet recognized when the option is exercised, is also assumed to repurchase shares in the current period.
A reconciliation of the numerator and denominator used in the calculation is as follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):
Years Ended December 31,
2015

2016

numerator:
net income (loss) - basic
less: noncash income from change in fair value of
common stock warrants

$

(24,094) $
—

net income (loss) - diluted

43,822

2014

$

(21,584)

$

(30,928)

3,906

9,344

(24,094)

39,916

denominator:
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding
dilutive effect of equity incentive awards
dilutive effect of warrants

71,524
—
—

70,242
1,873
1,368

60,335
—
3,051

Weighted-average common shares outstanding and dilutive
potential common share-diluted

71,524

73,483

63,386

net income (loss) per share:
Basic

$

(0.34) $

0.62

$

(0.36)

diluted

$

(0.34) $

0.54

$

(0.49)

The following warrants, outstanding options and purchase rights under the Company’s 2004 employee stock Purchase Plan (“2004 Purchase Plan”) were
excluded from the computation of diluted net income (loss) per common share for the periods presented because including them would have had an antidilutive
effect (in thousands)

2016

shares issuable upon exercise of warrants
shares issuable upon exercise of stock options
shares issuable related to the esPP

Years Ended December 31,
2015

8,300
10,942
31

8,300
6,750
34

2014

—
8,169
67

NOTE 3—COLLABORATION ARRANGEMENTS
Agreement with Merck KGaA
On February 3, 2012, the Company entered into a global license and co-development agreement, or license Agreement, with Merck KGaA, of darmstadt,
Germany, to co-develop and commercialize evofosfamide, the Company’s small molecule hypoxia-targeted drug. Under the terms of the license Agreement,
Merck KGaA received co-development rights, exclusive global commercialization rights and provided the Company with an option to co-commercialize
evofosfamide in the United states. To date the Company received $110 million in upfront and milestone payments. The milestones earned to date were not deemed
to be substantive milestones because the work related to the achievement of these items was predominately completed prior to the inception of the arrangement or
was not commensurate with Company’s performance subsequent to the inception of the arrangement to achieve the milestone.
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The Company’s deliverables under the license Agreement with Merck KGaA, which included delivery of the rights and license for evofosfamide and
performance of research and de velopment activities, were determined to be a single unit of accounting. The delivered license did not have standalone value at the
inception of the arrangement due to the Company’s proprietary expertise with respect to the licensed compound and related on going developmental participation
under the license Agreement, which was required for Merck KGaA to fully realize the value from the delivered license. Therefore, the revenue relating to this unit
of accounting was recorded as deferred revenue and recogniz ed over the estimated performance period under the license Agreement, which is the product
development period. The Company recorded $42.5 million of milestones earned in 2013 and $67.5 million of upfront payment and milestones earned in 2012 as
deferred re venue and was amortizing them ratably over its estimated period of performance, which the Company estimated to end on March 31, 2020 for the year
ended december 31, 2014. As a result, the Company recognized $14.7 million of revenue in 2014. The Company rec ognized $76.9 million of revenue in 2015 due
to Merck KGaA’s decision to cease further joint development of evofosfamide in december 2015, which resulted in the immediate recognition of the remaining
deferred revenue into revenue during the quarter ended d ecember 31, 2015. Further, in March 2016, Merck KGaA exercised its right to terminate the license
Agreement and all rights were returned to Threshold, as well as all rights to Merck technology developed under the license Agreement. Also as a result of the
termination of the license Agreement the Company was no longer eligible to receive any further milestone payments from Merck KGaA.
Merck KGaA also paid 70% of worldwide development expenses for evofosfamide and as a result the Company earned a $1.6 million in 2016, which
expenses were solely for trial wind-down efforts, compared to $11.6 million and $21.9 million reimbursement for eligible worldwide development expenses for
evofosfamide from Merck KGaA in 2015 and 2014, respectively. such earned reimbursement has been reflected as a reduction of research and development
expenses. With the decision to cease further joint development of evofosfamide and the termination of the license Agreement the Company is no longer eligible to
receive payments from Merck KGaA for expenses related to further development of evofosfamide other than for costs to wind down the discontinued trials and
return the evofosfamide rights back to the Company through the year ended december 31, 2016.
NOTE 4—FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AND MARKETABLE SECURITIES
The Company accounts for its marketable securities in accordance with AsC 820 “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures.” AsC 820 defines fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair value in GAAP, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. AsC 820 defines fair value as the exchange
price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. AsC 820 also establishes a fair value hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize the
use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The standard describes three levels of inputs that may be used to
measure fair value:
Level 1 —Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 —Observable inputs other than level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active, or
other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.
Level 3 —Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
The Company utilizes the market approach to measure fair value for its financial assets and liabilities. The market approach uses prices and other relevant
information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities. For level 2 securities that have market prices from multiples
sources, a “consensus price” or a weighted average price for each of these securities can be derived from a distribution-curve-based algorithm which includes
market prices obtained from a variety of industrial standard data providers (e.g. Bloomberg), security master files from large financial institutions, and other thirdparty sources. level 2 securities with short maturities and infrequent secondary market trades are typically priced using mathematical calculations adjusted for
observable inputs when available.

83

The following table sets forth the Company’s financial assets (cash equivalents and available-for-sale marketable securities) at fair value on a recurring
basis as of december 31, 201 6 and 2015:
Fair Value as of
December 31,
2016

(in thousands)

Money market funds
Corporate debt securities
Government securities
Commercial paper
Total cash equivalents and marketable securities

$

$

2,746
4,206
5,299
10,966
23,217

Basis of Fair Value Measurements
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3

$

$

Fair Value as of
December 31,
2015

(in thousands)

Money market funds
Certificates of deposit
Corporate debt securities
Government securities
Municipal securities
Commercial paper
Total cash equivalents and marketable securities

$

$

5,421
696
12,571
21,769
1,908
6,145
48,510

2,746
—
—
—
2,746

$

$

—
4,206
5,299
10,966
20,471

$

—
—
—
—
—

$

Basis of Fair Value Measurements
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3

$

$

5,421
—
—
—
—
—
5,421

$

$

—
696
12,571
21,769
1,908
6,145
43,089

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$

The Company invests in highly-liquid, investment-grade securities. The following is a summary of the Company’s available-for-sale securities at
december 31, 2016 and 2015:
As of December 31, 2016 (in thousands):

Money market funds
Corporate debt securities
Government securities
Commercial paper
less cash equivalents
Total marketable securities

Cost Basis

$

$

As of December 31, 2015 (in thousands):

Money market funds
Certificates of deposit
Corporate debt securities
Municipal securities
Government securities
Commercial paper
less cash equivalents
Total marketable securities

2,746 $
4,208
5,299
10,966
23,219
(10,217)
13,002 $

Cost Basis

$

$

Unrealized
Gain

5,421 $
696
12,578
1,908
21,783
6,145
48,531
(9,419)
39,112 $

Unrealized
Loss

—
—
1
—
1
—
1

Fair
Value

$

— $
(2)
(1)
—
(3)
—
(3) $

$

Unrealized
Gain

Unrealized
Loss

—
—
1
—
—
—
1
—
1

$

$

— $
—
(8)
—
(14)
—
(22)
—
(22) $

2,746
4,206
5,299
10,966
23,217
(10,217)
13,000
Fair
Value

5,421
696
12,571
1,908
21,769
6,145
48,510
(9,419)
39,091

There were no realized gains or losses in 2016 and 2015. The Company recognized realized gains of $3,000 in 2014. There were no realized losses in 2014.
The Company realized no gains that were previously classified as unrealized gains and losses in accumulated other comprehensive income at december 31, 2014.
As of december 31, 2016, weighted average maturity for the Company’s available for sale securities was approximately 1.7 months, with the longest
maturity being June 2017.
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The following table provides the breakdown of the marketable securities with unrealized losses at december 31, 2016 (in thousands):
In loss position for less
than twelve months
Fair
Unrealized
Value
Loss

As of December 31, 2016 (in thousands):

Government securities
Corporate debt securities
Total marketable securities

$

1,997
3,391
5,388

$

$

(1)
(2)
(3)

$

The Company classifies financial instruments in level 3 of the fair value hierarchy when there is reliance on at least one significant unobservable input to
the valuation model. In addition to these unobservable inputs, the valuation models for level 3 financial instruments typically also rely on a number of inputs that
are readily observable either directly or indirectly. The only level 3 financial instruments are warrants. The Company determined the fair value of the liability
associated with its warrants to purchase 8.3 million shares of outstanding common stock using a Black-scholes Model. see detailed discussion in note 8—
stockholders’ equity.
NOTE 5—PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment comprise the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2016

Computer and office equipment
laboratory equipment
leasehold improvements

$

less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Total property and equipment, net

$

2015

532 $
1,108
523
2,163
(2,054)
109 $

532
1,894
523
2,949
(2,616)
333

depreciation and amortization expense was $0.2 million, $0.3 million and $0.4 million for the years ended december 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014,
respectively.
NOTE 6—BALANCE SHEET COMPONENTS
Accrued liabilities comprise the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2016

Payroll and employee related expenses
Accrued severance benefits
Professional services
Other accrued expenses
Total accrued liabilities

$

$

2015

416
—
425
47
888

$

$

593
2,280
163
233
3,269

In december 2015, the Company adopted a plan to reduce its operating expenses, following its decision to discontinue joint development of evofosfamide
under its former collaboration with Merck KGaA. The plan included a reduction of approximately 40 full-time employees in both research and development and
general and administrative areas of the Company. As a result of the staffing reduction, the Company incurred severance benefits of approximately $2.5 million
during the quarter ended december 31, 2015, which included approximately $0.2 million of non-cash stock compensation expense related to the extension of posttermination exercise period for the outstanding vested stock options for the affected employees. The payout of the accrued severance benefits at december 31, 2015
was completed in the first quarter of 2016.
In september 2016, the Company adopted a plan to further reduce its operating expenses, following its decision to discontinue development of tarloxotinib.
The plan included a reduction of approximately 5 full-time employees in research and development and general administrative areas of the Company. As a result of
the staffing reduction, the Company incurred expenses related to severance benefits of approximately $0.7 million during the quarter ended september 30, 2016,
which included $0.2 million of
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noncash stock compensation expense related to the extension of post-termination exercise period for the outstanding vested stock options for the affected
employees. The payout of the accrued expenses related to severance benefits at september 30, 2016 was completed in October 2016.
NOTE 7—COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The Company leases certain of its facilities under noncancelable leases, which qualify for operating lease accounting treatment under AsC 840, “Leases,”
and, as such, these facilities are not included on its consolidated balance sheets.
The Company has a noncancelable facility sublease agreement for 31,104 square feet of laboratory space and office space located in south san Francisco,
California, which serves as the Company’s corporate headquarters. The lease began on October 1, 2011 and will expire on April 30, 2017. The aggregate rent for
the term of the lease is approximately $3.4 million. In addition, the lease requires the Company to pay certain taxes, assessments, fees and other costs associated
with the premises. The Company is responsible for the costs of certain tenant improvements associated with the leased space. In connection with the execution of
the lease the Company paid a security deposit of approximately $60,000. In november 2013, the Company entered into a noncancelable facility lease agreement for
7,934 square feet of additional office space located in south san Francisco, California. The lease began on december 1, 2013 and would have expired on
december 31, 2016. The aggregate rent for the original term of the lease was approximately $0.7 million. The Company terminated the lease for additional office
space in June 2015.
As of december 31, 2016, the future rental payments required by the Company for its facility under its noncancelable operating lease were as follows (in
thousands):
Year Ending December 31,

2017
Thereafter
Total

$
$

260
—
260

rent expense for the years ended december 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 was $0.7 million, $0.7 million and $0.8 million, respectively.
The Company’s purchase commitments at december 31, 2016 were $0.3 million, which are primarily for the manufacture and testing of active
pharmaceutical ingredient (API) or drug product for clinical testing.
Indemnification
The Company enters into indemnification provisions under its agreements with other companies in the ordinary course of business, including business
partners, contractors and parties performing its clinical trials. Pursuant to these arrangements, the Company indemnifies, holds harmless, and agrees to reimburse
the indemnified parties for losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified party as a result of the Company’s activities. The duration of these indemnification
agreements is generally perpetual. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under these agreements is not
determinable. The Company has never incurred costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these indemnification agreements. As a result, the Company
believes the estimated fair value of these agreements is minimal. The Company maintains commercial general liability insurance and products liability insurance to
offset certain of its potential liabilities under these indemnification provisions. Accordingly, the Company has not recognized any liabilities relating to these
agreements as of december 31, 2016.
The Company’s bylaws provide that it is required to indemnify its directors and officers against liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service
as directors or officers, other than liabilities arising from willful misconduct of a culpable nature, to the fullest extent permissible by applicable law; and to advance
their expenses incurred as a result of any proceeding against them as to which they could be indemnified.
NOTE 8—STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common Stock
On August 1, 2014, the Company entered into an at market issuance sales agreement, or the MlV sales Agreement, with MlV & Co. llC, or MlV, which
provided that, upon the terms and subject to the conditions and limitations set forth in the MlV sales Agreement, the Company could elect to issue and sell shares
of its common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $30.0 million from time to time through MlV as the Company’s sales agent. The Company did not
sell any common stock under the MlV sales Agreement.
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On november 2, 2015, the Company entered into a sales agreement, with Cowen, or the Cowen sales Agreement, which provides that, upon the terms and
subject to the conditions and limitations set forth in the Cowen sales Agreement, the Company may elect to issue and sell shares of its common stock having an
aggregate offering price of up to $50.0 million from time to time through Cowen as the Company’s sales agent. I n connection with the Company’s entry into the
Cowen sales Agreement, the Company terminated the MlV sales Agreement. sales of the Company’s common stock through Cowen, if any, will be made on The
nAsdAQ Capital Market by means of ordinary brokers’ transa ctions at market prices, in block transactions or as otherwise agreed by the Company and Cowen.
subject to the terms and conditions of the sales agreement, Cowen will use commercially reasonable efforts to sell the Company’s common stock from time to
time, based upon the Company’s instructions (including any price, time or size limits or other customary parameters or conditions the Company may impose). The
Company is not obligated to make any sales of common stock under the Cowen sales Agreement. The Compa ny will pay Cowen an aggregate commission rate of
up to 3.0% of the gross proceeds of the sales price per share of any common stock sold under the Cowen sales Agreement. Although the Cowen sales Agreement
remains in effect, the Cowen sales Agreement is not currently a practical source of liquidity for the Company. In this regard, given the currently-depressed price of
the Company’s common stock, the Company is significantly limited in its ability to sell shares of common stock through Cowen under the Cowen sales Agreement
since the issuance and sale of common stock under the Cowen sales Agreement, if it occurs, would be effected under a registration statement on Form s-3 that the
Company filed with the securities and exchange Commission, and in accordance w ith the rules governing those registration statements, the Company generally
can only sell shares of its common stock under that registration statement in an amount not to exceed one-third of the Company’s public float, which limitation for
all practical p urposes precludes the Company’s ability to obtain any meaningful funding through the Cowen sales Agreement at this time. even if the Company’s
stock price and public float substantially increases, the number of shares the Company would be able to sell unde r the Cowen sales Agreement would be limited in
practice based on the trading volume of the Company’s common stock. The Company had not sold any common stock under the Cowen sales Agreement as of
december 31, 2016.
On February 18, 2015, the Company completed an underwritten public offering of 8.3 million shares of its common stock and accompanying warrants to
purchase up to 8.3 million shares of common stock. net proceeds from the sale of common stock and accompanying warrants, excluding the proceeds, if any, from
the exercise of the warrants issued in the offering, were approximately $28.1 million after deducting the underwriting discount and offering expenses payable by
the Company.
The warrants issued in the February 2015 offering carried an initial exercise price of $10.86 per share and are exercisable through the date that is five years
from the issuance date. On January 21, 2016 (“the Adjustment date”), which was the 30th trading day following the date on which top-line efficacy data from the
Company’s Phase 3 clinical trial of evofosfamide plus doxorubicin versus doxorubicin alone in patients with locally advanced unresectable or metastatic soft tissue
sarcoma and Phase 3 MAesTrO clinical trial of evofosfamide in combination with gemcitabine in patients with previously untreated, locally advanced
unresectable or metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma was publicly announced by the Company, the warrant exercise price was adjusted to $3.62. The adjusted
exercise price was based on the average of the volume-weighted average price of the Company’s common stock for each of the 20 trading days immediately
preceding January 21, 2016, subject to a ceiling of $10.86 and floor of $3.62. The adjusted exercise price of the warrants is also further subject to adjustment in the
event of certain stock dividends and distributions, stock splits, stock combinations, reclassifications or similar events affecting the Company’s common stock. The
warrants must be exercised for cash, except that if the Company fails to maintain an effective registration statement covering the exercise of the warrants, the
warrants may be exercised on a net, or cashless basis. In addition, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions set forth in the warrants, at the Company’s option,
the Company had the right to force the holders of the warrants to exercise their warrants in full if the volume-weighted average price of the Company’s common
stock for any 20 consecutive trading-day period beginning after the 90th day following the Adjustment date exceeds $18.00 per share. In addition, in the event of a
Change of Control, as defined in the warrant agreement, at the request of the warrant holders delivered before the 90th day after such Change of Control, the
Company (or the successor entity) shall purchase the warrants from the warrant holders by paying to the warrant holders, within five Business days after such
request (or, if later, on the effective date of the Change of Control), cash in an amount equal to the Black scholes Value, as defined in the warrant agreement, of the
remaining unexercised portion of the warrants on the date of such Change of Control. The Black scholes Value will be determined based on the key level 3 inputs
as defined in the warrant agreement.
On March 16, 2011, the Company sold to certain investors an aggregate of 14,313,081 shares of its common stock for a purchase price equal to $2.05 per
share and, for a purchase price of $0.05 per share, warrants exercisable for a total of 5,725,227 shares of its common stock for aggregate gross proceeds equal to
$30.1 million in connection with the offering. net proceeds generated from the offering were approximately $27.8 million which includes underwriter discounts
and estimated offering costs. The warrants have a five-year term and an exercise price equal to $2.46 per share of common stock. The number of shares issuable
upon exercise of the warrants and the exercise price are subject to adjustment for subdivisions and stock splits, stock dividends, combinations, reorganizations,
reclassifications, consolidations, mergers or sales of properties and assets and upon the issuance of certain assets or securities to holders of the Company’s common
stock, as applicable. As of March 16, 2016 all such warrants had been exercised or expired.
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O n October 5, 2009, the Company sold to certain investors an aggregate of 18,324,599 shares of its common stock for a purchase price equal to $1.86 per
share and, for a purchase price of $0.05 per share, warrants exercisable for a total of 7,329,819 shares of its common stock for aggregate gross proceeds equal to
$35.0 million in connection with the offering. net proceeds generated from the offering were $33.1 million. The warrants had a five-year term and an exercise price
equal to $2.23 per share of common stock. The exercise price of the warrants was subject to adjustment in certain circumstances, including certain issuances of
securities at a price equal to less than the then current exercise price. In addition, the number of shares issuable upon exercise of the warrants and the exercise price
was subject to adjustment for subdivisions and stock splits, stock dividends, combinations, reorganizations, reclassifications, consolidations, mergers or sales of
properties and assets and upon the issuance of certa in assets or securities to holders of the Company’s common stock, as applicable. As a result of the offering on
March 16, 2011, the exercise price of the warrants exercisable for a total of 7,329,819 shares of common stock sold to investors in October 2009 that had an
original exercise price of $2.23 per share, was subsequently reduced to $2.05 per share pursuant to the terms of such warrants. As of October 5, 2014, all such
warrants had been fully exercised.
Common Stock Warrant Valuation
The Company accounts for its common stock warrants under guidance now codified in AsC 815 that clarifies the determination of whether an instrument
(or an embedded feature) is indexed to an entity’s own stock, which would qualify for classification as a liability or equity. The guidance required the Company’s
outstanding warrants to be classified as liabilities and to be fair valued at each reporting period, with the changes in fair value recognized as other income (expense)
in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.
In 2014, warrants to purchase 2,106,792 shares of common stock were cashless exercised for 1,108,582 shares of common stock. In addition, warrants to
purchase 2,328,766 shares of common stock were exercised on a cash basis for net proceeds of approximately $4.8 million. As of the date of exercise of the
warrants, the Company transferred the fair value of the warrants of approximately $10.1 million from warrant liability into stockholders’ equity (deficit) in 2014.
At december 31, 2014, all warrants related to the October 2009 offering had been exercised. during the years ended december 31, 2014, a change in fair
value of $1.3 million non-cash income related to the October 2009 warrants was recorded as other income (expense) in the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations.
On March 16, 2016, warrants outstanding, which were initially issued by the Company in an underwritten public offering in March 2011, to purchase 3.8
million shares of common stock expired and noncash income of $38,000 related to the expired warrants was recognized as other income (expense) in the
Company’s consolidated statement of operations. At december 31, 2015, the Company had March 2011 warrants outstanding to purchase 3.8 million shares of
common stock, having an exercise price of $2.46 per share. The fair value of these warrants on december 31, 2015 was determined using a Black scholes valuation
model with the following key level 3 inputs:
December 31,
2015

risk-free interest rate
expected life (in years)
dividend yield
Volatility
stock price

$

0.16%
0.21
—
179%
0.48

during the years ended december 31, 2015 and 2014, a change in the fair value of $3.9 million of non-cash income and $8.0 million of non-cash income
related to the March 2011 warrants was recorded as other income (expense) in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations, respectively.
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At both december 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company had warrants outstanding to purchase 8,300,000 shares of common stock, having an initial exercise
price of $10.86 per share, which warrants were issued by the Company in the February 2015 offering. The exerci se price was adjusted to $3.62 on January 21,
2016 pursuant to the terms of warrant. The fair value of these warrants on december 31, 2016 and 2015 was determined using a Black scholes valuation model
with the following key level 3 inputs:
December 31,
2016

risk-free interest rate
expected life (in years)
dividend yield
Volatility
stock price

December 31,
2015

1.93%
3.13
—
135%
0.44
$

$

1.76%
4.14
—
112%
0.48

during the years ended december 31, 2016 and 2015, a change in fair value of $83,000 and $12.9 million of non-cash income, respectively, related to the
February 2015 warrants was recorded as other income (expense) in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.
The following table sets forth the Company’s financial liabilities, related to warrants issued in the March 2011 and February 2015 offerings, subject to fair
value measurements as of december 31, 2016 and 2015:
Fair Value as of
December 31,
2016

(in thousands)

February 2015 warrants

$

1,743

Basis of Fair Value Measurements
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3

$

Fair Value as of
December 31,
2015

(in thousands)

March 2011 warrants
February 2015 warrants
Total common stock warrants

$
$

38
1,826
1,864

—

$

—

$

—
—
—

$

$

—
—
—

$

Warrant
Liability
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1,743

Basis of Fair Value Measurements
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3

The following table is a reconciliation of the warrant liability measured at fair value using level 3 inputs (in thousands):

Balance at december 31, 2013
exercise of common stock warrants during 2014
Change in fair value of common stock warrants during 2014
Balance at december 31, 2014
Initial fair value of common stock warrant related to
February 2015 offering
exercise of common stock warrants during 2015
Change in fair value of common stock warrants during 2015
Balance at december 31, 2015
Change in fair value related to expired March 2016
common stock warrants
Change in fair value of common stock warrants during 2016
Balance at december 31, 2016

$

$

23,421
(10,116)
(9,344)
3,961
14,693
(17)
(16,773)
1,864

$

(38)
(83)
1,743

$
$

38
1,826
1,864

NOTE 9—EQUITY INCENTIVE PLANS AND STOCK BASED COMPENSATION
2004 Equity Incentive Plan
The 2004 equity Incentive Plan (“2004 Plan”) provided for the grant of incentive stock options, nonstatutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, stock
awards and cash awards to employees and consultants. stock options were granted under the 2004 Plan with an exercise price not less than 100% of the fair market
value of the common stock on the date of grant. stock options under the 2004 Plan were granted with terms of up to ten years and generally vested over a period of
four years. The share reserve under the 2004 Plan was subject to automatic annual increases and on January 1, 2014 an additional 1,250,000 shares of common
stock were added to the share reserve under the 2004 Plan. The 2004 Plan expired pursuant to its terms on April 7, 2014. no additional awards have been or will be
made after April 7, 2014 under the 2004 Plan.
2014 Equity Incentive Plan
In May 2014, the Company adopted the 2014 equity Incentive Plan (“2014 Plan”). The terms of the 2014 Plan provide for the grant of incentive stock
options, nonstatutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards, other stock awards, and performance awards that
may be settled in cash, stock, or other property. stock options may be granted under the 2014 Plan with an exercise price not less than 100% of the fair market
value of the common stock on the date of grant. stock options under the 2014 Plan may be granted with terms of up to ten years and generally vest over a period of
four years, with the exception of grants to non-employee directors and consultants where the vesting period is or may be shorter. The total number of shares of the
Company’s common stock initially reserved for issuance under the 2014 Plan was equal to the sum of (i) 6,000,000 newly reserved shares plus (ii) up to 6,626,157
additional shares (the “Prior Plan shares”) that may be added to the 2014 Plan in connection with the forfeiture or expiration of awards outstanding under the 2004
Plan as of May 15, 2014 (the “returning shares”). The Prior Plan shares will be added to the share reserve under the 2014 Plan only as and when such shares
become returning shares.
Activity under the 2004 and 2014 Plans is set forth below:
Shares
Available
for Grant

Balances, december 31, 2013
Additional shares reserved
shares expired
Options granted
Options exercised
Options canceled
Balances, december 31, 2014
Additional shares reserved
Options granted
Options exercised
Options canceled
Balances, december 31, 2015
Additional shares reserved
Options granted
Options exercised
Options canceled
Balances, december 31, 2016

175,236
7,250,000
(1,286,025)
(1,895,250)
—
179,532
4,423,493
—
(2,290,500)
—
1,327,547
3,460,540
—
(3,072,500)
1,156,704
1,544,744
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Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Outstanding Options
Number of
Exercise
Shares
Price

6,526,506
—
—
1,895,250
(73,282)
(179,532)
8,168,942
—
2,290,500
(99,759)
(1,327,547)
9,032,136
—
3,072,500
(6,187)
(1,156,704)
10,941,745

$

0.42–7.75

$

2.91–4.99
0.64–4.90
1.64–6.18
0.42–7.75

$

0.48-5.06
0.79-4.90
1.30-7.75
0.42–7.75

$

0.38-0.55
0.48-0.55
0.42-5.09
0.42–7.75

$

3.66

$

3.78
1.43
4.63
3.69

$

4.36
1.75
4.39
3.77

$

0.53
0.53
2.50
3.00

At december 31, 2016, stock options outstanding and exercisable by exercise price were as follows:

Range of
Exercise
Prices

$0.38-$0.53
$0.55-$0.55
$0.79-$1.44
$1.49-$3.62
$3.87-$4.43
$4.45-$7.75
$0.38-$7.75

Number
Outstanding

1,153,000
1,414,999
1,769,313
2,472,416
1,430,358
2,701,659
10,941,745

Options Outstanding
Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)

9.29
8.86
2.47
4.55
6.99
3.93
5.44

Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number
Exercisable

0.49
0.55
1.35
2.67
4.36
6.00
3.00

265,717
315,934
1,769,313
2,225,880
849,104
2,650,117
8,076,065

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

0.49
0.55
1.35
2.57
4.33
6.02
3.47

The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding and options exercisable as of december 31, 2016 were $13,000 and $6,000, respectively. As of
december 31, 2016, the ending options vested and expected to vest was 10.9 million and the aggregate intrinsic value of these options was $13,000. The weighted
average remaining contractual life and weighted average exercise price of these options were 5.4 years and $3.00, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value is
calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying awards and the quoted price of the Company’s common stock for options that were in-themoney at december 31, 2016.
The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the years ended december 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 were $4,000, $0.3 million and $0.2 million,
respectively, determined at the date of the option exercise. Cash received from stock option exercises were $3,000, $0.4 million and $0.1 million for the years
ended december 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The Company issues new shares of common stock upon exercise of options. In connection with these
exercises, there was no tax benefit realized by the Company due to its current loss position.
2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
On January 1, 2016 and 2015 an additional 100,000 shares was authorized for issuance under the 2004 employee stock Purchase Plan (“2004 Purchase
Plan”) pursuant to the annual automatic increase to the authorized shares under the 2004 Purchase Plan. The 2004 Purchase Plan contains consecutive, overlapping
24 month offering periods. each offering period includes four six-month purchase periods. The price of the common stock purchased will be the lower of 85% of
the fair market value of the common stock at the beginning of an offering period or at the end of the purchase period. For the year ended december 31, 2016,
employees had purchased 92,048 shares of common stock under the 2004 Purchase Plan at an average price of $0.25. For the year ended december 31, 2015,
employees had purchased 154,067 shares of common stock under the 2004 Purchase Plan at an average price of $3.49. At december 31, 2016, 134,789 shares were
authorized and available for issuance under the 2004 Purchase Plan.
Stock-based Compensation
The Company recognizes stock-based compensation in accordance with AsC 718, “Compensation—Stock Compensation.” Under this guidance, stockbased compensation cost is based on the recognition of the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of AsC 815 over the service period,
which is generally the vesting period. In addition, AsC 718 requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods
if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. stock-based compensation expense, which consists of the compensation cost for employee stock options and esPP,
and the value of options issued to non-employees for services rendered, was allocated to research and development and general and administrative in the
consolidated statements of operations as follows (in thousands):
2016

stock-based compensation expense:
research and development
General and administrative

$
$
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Years Ended December 31,
2015

1,281
1,808
3,089

$
$

4,090
2,711
6,801

$
$

2014

3,123
2,365
5,488

Employee Stock-based Compensation Expense
Valuation Assumptions
The Company estimated the fair value of stock options granted using the Black-scholes option-pricing formula and a single option award approach. This
fair value is being amortized ratably over the requisite service periods of the awards, which is generally the vesting period. The fair value of employee stock
options and employee purchase rights under the Company’s 2004 Purchase Plan was estimated using the following weighted-average assumptions for the years
ended december 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014:
2016

Employee Stock Options
risk-free interest rate
expected life (in years)
dividend yield
Volatility
Weighted-average fair value of stock options granted
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
risk-free interest rate
expected life (in years)
dividend yield
Volatility
Weighted-average fair value of esPP purchase rights

Years Ended December 31,
2015

2014

$

1.60%
5.97
—
108%
0.44
$

1.70%
5.99
—
83%
3.06
$

1.83%
5.98
—
94%
2.89

$

0.56%
1.24
—
161%
0.22
$

0.39%
1.24
—
50%
1.58
$

0.20%
1.24
—
49%
1.60

To determine the expected term of the Company’s employee stock options granted, the Company utilized the simplified approach as defined by seC staff
Accounting Bulletin no. 107, “Share-Based Payment” . To determine the risk-free interest rate, the Company utilized an average interest rate based on U.s.
Treasury instruments with a term consistent with the expected term of the Company’s stock based awards. To determine the expected stock price volatility for the
Company’s stock based awards, the Company considers its historical volatility and its industry peers. The fair value of all the Company’s stock based awards
assumes no dividends as the Company does not anticipate paying cash dividends on its common stock.
The Company recognized $3.1 million, $6.7 million and $5.4 million of stock-based compensation expense related to stock options granted and purchase
rights granted under the Company’s equity compensation plans, for the years ended december 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. As of december 31, 2016,
the total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock-based awards granted to employees under the Company’s equity compensation plans was
approximately $3.5 million before estimated forfeitures. This cost will be recorded as compensation expense ratably over the remaining weighted average requisite
service period of approximately 2.4 years.
Non-employee Stock-based Compensation Expense
stock-based compensation expense related to stock options granted to non-employees is recognized ratably, as the stock options are earned. The Company
issued options to non-employees, which generally vest ratably over the time period the Company expects to receive services from the non-employee. The values
attributable to these options are amortized over the service period and the unvested portion of these options was remeasured at each vesting date. The Company
believes that the fair value of the stock options is more reliably measurable than the fair value of the services received. The fair value of the stock options granted
were revalued at each reporting date using the Black-scholes valuation model as prescribed by AsC 505-50 Equity-Based Payments to Non-Employees using the
following assumptions:

2016

risk-free interest rate
expected life (in years)
dividend yield
expected volatility

Years Ended December 31,
2015

1.70%
10
—
111%

2.14%
10
—
103%

2014

2.52%
10
—
97%

The stock-based compensation expense will fluctuate as the fair market value of the common stock fluctuates. In connection with the grant of stock options
to non-employees, the Company recorded stock-based compensation of approximately $6,000, $0.1 million and $0.1 million for the years ended december 31,
2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
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NOTE 10— INCOME TAXES
For the years ended december 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company did not record an income tax provision due to net operating losses and the inability to
record an income tax benefit. For the year ended december 31, 2014, the Company recorded an income tax benefit of $0.2 million, which was related to state
minimum taxes recorded in the prior year.
A reconciliation of income taxes at the statutory federal income tax rate to net income taxes included in the accompanying statements of operations is as
follows (in thousands):
2016

U.s. federal taxes (benefit) at statutory rate
state federal income tax benefit
Unutilized (utilized) net operating losses
stock-based compensation
research and development credits
Tax assets not benefited
nondeductible warrant expense
Other
Total

$

$

2015

(8,192) $
(261)
7,238
393
(1,552)
2,398
(41)
17
— $

2014

14,900 $
(448)
(11,287)
898
(3,135)
4,732
(5,703)
43
— $

(7,407)
(571)
9,809
730
(952)
1,322
(3,177)
44
(202)

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant components of the net deferred tax assets are as follows (in thousands):
December 31,
2016

Capitalized start-up costs
net operating loss carryforwards
research and development credits
deferred stock compensation
Other (accruals, reserves, depreciation)
Total deferred tax assets
less: Valuation allowance
net deferred tax assets

$

$

78 $
54,250
13,761
5,191
362
73,642
(73,642)
— $

2015

103
47,725
11,354
5,130
359
64,671
(64,671)
—

At december 31, 2016, the Company had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $143 million and $94 million, respectively,
available to offset future taxable income. The Company’s federal and state net operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2021 and 2017, respectively, if
not used before such time to offset future taxable income or tax liabilities. For federal and state income tax purposes, a portion of the Company’s net operating loss
carryforward is subject to certain limitations on annual utilization in case of changes in ownership, as defined by federal and state tax laws. The annual limitation
may result in the expiration of the net operating loss before utilization.
The net operating loss deferred tax asset balance as of december 31, 2016 includes $0.5 million of excess tax benefits from stock option exercises.
At december 31, 2016, the Company had federal research and development tax credits of approximately $10.5 million, which expire in the year beginning
2022, and state research and development tax credits of approximately $5.9 million, which have no expiration date.
The Company has established a valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty surrounding the realization of such assets. The
valuation allowance decreased by $6.2 million for the year ended december 31, 2015 and increased by $9 million and by $7.8 million for the years ended
december 31, 2016 and 2014, respectively.
The Company adopted AsC Topic 740-10-50 “ Accounting for Uncertainty of Income Taxes ” (“AsC Topic 740-10-50”), on January 1, 2007. The Company
does not believe that its unrecognized tax benefits will change over the next twelve months.
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The following table summarizes the activity related to the Company’s gross unrecognized tax benefits:
(in thousands)

2016

Gross unrecognized tax benefits at January 1,
Gross increases (decreases) related to prior year tax positions
Gross increases (decreases) related to current year tax
positions
settlements
expiration of the statute of limitations for the assessment of
taxes
Gross unrecognized tax benefits at december 31,

$

2015

1,100
—

$

1,100
—

—
—

$

—
1,100

—
—
—
1,100

$

The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense. As of december 31, 2016 and 2015, the
Company had no accrued interest or penalties due to the Company’s net operating losses available to offset any tax adjustment. The Company currently has no
federal or state tax examinations in progress nor has it had any federal or state tax examinations since its inception. As a result of the Company’s net operating loss
carryforwards, all of its tax years are subject to federal and state tax examination.
NOTE 11—EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN
In november 2002, the Company implemented a 401(k) plan to provide a retirement savings program for the employees of the Company. The 401(k) plan is
maintained for the exclusive purpose of benefiting the 401(k) plan participants. The 401(k) plan is intended to operate in accordance with all applicable state and
federal laws and regulations and, to the extent applicable, the provisions of department of labor regulations issued pursuant to erIsA section 404(c). As of
december 31, 2016, the Company has not made any contributions to the 401(k) plan.
NOTE 12—QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
The following table presents certain unaudited quarterly financial information for the eight quarters ended december 31, 2016. This information has been
prepared on the same basis as the audited consolidated financial statements and includes all adjustments necessary to state fairly the unaudited quarterly results of
operations. net loss per common share, basic and diluted for the four quarters of each fiscal year, may not sum to the total for the fiscal year because of the
different weighted average number of shares outstanding in each of the periods.
First
Quarter

2016

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

(in thousands, except per share data)

revenue

$

-

net income (loss)

$

(7,852) $

(6,864) $

(5,696) $

(3,682)

net income (loss) per common share
Basic

$

(0.11) $

(0.10) $

(0.08) $

(0.05)

$

(0.11) $

(0.10) $

(0.08) $

(0.05)

diluted

$

First
Quarter

2015

-

$

Second
Quarter

-

$

Third
Quarter

-

Fourth
Quarter

(in thousands, except per share data)

revenue

$

net income (loss)

$

(11,154) $

net income (loss) per common share
Basic

$
$

diluted
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3,681

$

3,680

$

3,680

$

65,874

(8,306) $

(6,431) $

69,713

(0.17) $

(0.12) $

(0.09) $

0.98

(0.17) $

(0.12) $

(0.09) $

0.86

NOTE 13—SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
In March 2017, the Company entered into a definitive Merger Agreement (“Merger Agreement”), with Molecular Templates, Inc. (“Molecular Templates”),
a private company limited by shares incorporated and registered in the United states and the shareholders of Molecular Templates, pursuant to which the
shareholders of Molecular Templates will become the majority owners of the Company. The number of shares of common stock of the Company to be issued in
respect of each Molecular Templates share will be based upon the relative stipulated values of each of the Company and Molecular Templates as determined
pursuant to the Merger Agreement. The stipulated value of the Company is subject to downward adjustment based upon the Company’s net cash balance at the
closing of the transaction. Assuming that no such adjustment is applicable, immediately following the closing of the transaction, Molecular Templates equity
holders are expected to own approximately 65.6% of the outstanding common stock of the Company on a fully-diluted basis. Consummation of the transaction is
subject to certain closing conditions, including, among other things, approval by the stockholders of the Company of the transactions contemplated by the Merger
Agreement and related matters. The Merger Agreement contains certain termination rights for both the Company and Molecular Templates, and further provides
that, upon termination of the Merger Agreement under specified circumstances, the Company may be required to pay Molecular Templates a termination fee of
$0.8 million. Any strategic transaction that is completed ultimately may not deliver the anticipated benefits or enhance shareholder value.
In connection with execution of the Merger Agreement, the Company made a bridge loan to Molecular Templates pursuant to a note purchase agreement
and promissory notes (the “notes”) up to an aggregate principal amount of $4.0 million with an initial closing held on March 24, 2017 for a principal amount of
$2.0 million. If the Merger Agreement is terminated prior to the to the maturity date of the notes, the outstanding principal of the notes plus all accrued and
unpaid interest shall become due and payable upon the earlier of (i) the consummation of a qualified financing by Molecular Templates of at least $10.0 million,
(ii) the occurrence of a Molecular Templates liquidity event, or (iii) the four-month anniversary of the termination of the Merger Agreement, and such amounts
shall be credited against any termination fees owed by the Company to Molecular Templates pursuant to the Merger Agreement.
In addition on March 16, 2017, the Company and Molecular Templates received from longitude Venture Partners III, l.P. (“longitude”) an equity
Commitment letter (the “Commitment letter”), pursuant to which, immediately following the Closing of the Merger, longitude will purchase $20 million of
equity securities in the Company. longitude’s investment is subject to certain conditions, including the Closing of the Merger and the Company having secured
commitments from additional investors for the purchase of an additional $20 million of such securities (the “Financing”). The Financing will be accomplished in a
private placement exempt from registration under section 4(a)(2) and regulation d under the securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “securities Act”), and the
rules promulgated thereunder. The securities to be sold in the Financing have not been registered under the securities Act, or any state securities laws, and may not
be offered or sold in the United states except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the securities Act
and applicable state securities laws. The closing of the Merger is not contingent upon the completion of this Financing.
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ITEM 9.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

none.
ITEM 9A.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We conducted an evaluation as of december 31, 2016, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal
executive officer and principal financial officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, which are defined under
seC rules as controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it
files under the securities exchange Act of 1934 (exchange Act) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within required time periods and that the
information accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer is appropriate, to allow
timely decisions, regarding required disclosure. Based upon that evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that, as of such
date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in rule 13a-15(f) of the
exchange Act. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable
detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only
in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on criteria established in the Internal Control—Integrated
Framework (2013 Framework) issued by the Committee of sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Management’s assessment included evaluation
of such elements as the design and operating effectiveness of key financial reporting controls, process documentation, accounting policies, and our overall control
environment. Based on this evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of december 31, 2016.
Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls
Our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our
internal control over financial reporting will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are
resource constraints, and the benefit of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation
of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within our company have been detected. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting
There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in rule 13a-15(f) of the exchange Act) that occurred during the fourth
quarter of the year ended december 31, 2016 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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ITEM 9B.

OTHER INFORMATION
PART III

The information required by Part III is omitted from this report because we will file a definitive proxy statement within 120 days after the end of our 2016
fiscal year pursuant to regulation 14A for our 2017 Annual Meeting of stockholders, or the 2017 Proxy statement, will be filed pursuant to regulation 14A of the
securities exchange Act of 1934, as amended. If the 2017 Proxy statement is not filed within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual
report on Form 10-K, the omitted information will be included in an amendment to this Annual report on Form 10-K filed not later than the end of such 120-day
period.
ITEM 10.

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item will be contained in the 2017 Proxy statement and is hereby incorporated by reference.
ITEM 11 .

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item will be contained in the 2017 Proxy statement and is hereby incorporated by reference.
ITEM 12.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

The information required by this item will be contained in the 2017 Proxy statement and is hereby incorporated by reference.
ITEM 13.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item will be contained in the 2017 Proxy statement and is hereby incorporated by reference.
ITEM 14.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item will be contained in the 2017 Proxy statement and is hereby incorporated by reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15.

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

The following documents are being filed as part of this report:
(1)

The following financial statements of the Company and the report of ernst & Young llP are included in Part II, Item 8:
report of Independent registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance sheets
Consolidated statements of Operations and Comprehensive loss
Consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity
Consolidated statements of Cash Flows
notes to Consolidated Financial statements

(2)

All financial statement supporting schedules are omitted because the information is inapplicable or presented in the notes to Consolidated Financial
statements.

(3)

A list of exhibits filed with this report or incorporated herein by reference is found in the exhibit Index immediately following the signature page of
this Annual report.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of section 13 or 15(d) of the securities exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
THRESHOLD PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
March 27, 2017

By:

/s/ H ArOld e. s elICK , P H .d.
Harold E. Selick, Ph.D.
Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY
KnOW All PersOns BY THese PresenTs, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Harold e. selick, Ph.d. and
Joel A. Fernandes, and each of them, with full power to act without the other, such person’s true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of
substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Form 10-K,
and to file the same, with exhibits and schedules thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the securities and exchange Commission, granting
unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing necessary or desirable to be done
in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact
and agents, or any of them, or their or his or her substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the securities and exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

/s/ H ArOld e. s elICK , P H .d.

Title

Date

Chief executive Officer (principal executive officer)

March 27, 2017

Vice President, Finance and Controller (principal
financial and accounting officer)

March 27, 2017

director

March 27, 2017

director

March 27, 2017

director

March 27, 2017

director

March 27, 2017

director

March 27, 2017

director

March 27, 2017

Harold E. Selick, Ph.D.

/s/ J Oel A. F ernAndes
Joel A. Fernandes

/s/ J eFFreY W. B Ird , M.d., P H .d.
Jeffrey W. Bird, M.D., Ph.D.

/s/ B rUCe C. C OZAdd
Bruce C. Cozadd

/s/ d AVId r. H OFFMAnn
David R. Hoffmann

/s/ W IlFred e. J AeGer , M.d.
Wilfred E. Jaeger, M.D.

/s/ G eOrGe G. C. P ArKer , P H .d.
George G. C. Parker, Ph.D.

/s/ d AVId r. P ArKInsOn , M.d.
David R. Parkinson, M.D.
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EXHIBIT INDEX
EXHIBIT
NUMBER

DESCRIPTION

2.1†

Agreement and Plan of Merger and reorganization, dated March 16, 2017, by and among the Company, Molecular Templates and Merger sub
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 2.1 to the registrant’s Current report on Form 8-K, as amended (File no. 001-32979), filed on March 17,
2017)

3.1

Amended and restated Certificate of Incorporation of the registrant, as subsequently amended (incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.1 to the
registrant’s Annual report on Form 10-K (File no. 001-32979) filed on March 6, 2014)

3.2

Amended and restated Bylaws of the registrant (incorporated by reference to exhibit 3.1 to the registrant’s Current report on Form 8-K, as
amended (File no. 001-32979), filed on september 30, 2016)

4.1

Form of Warrant issued pursuant to the registrant’s prospectus supplement, dated February 11, 2015, and accompanying prospectus (incorporated
by reference to exhibit 4.9 to the registrant’s Annual report on Form 10-K (File no. 001-32979) filed on March 3, 2015)

10.1+

2004 Amended and restated equity Incentive Plan of the registrant, as amended (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s
Annual report on Form 10-K (File no. 001-32979) filed on March 15, 2012)

10.2+

2004 employee stock Purchase Plan of the registrant As Amended and restated effective May 22, 2009 (incorporated by reference to
exhibit 99.2 to the registrant’s registration statement on Form s-8 (File no. 333-164865) filed on February 11, 2010)

10.3+

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between the registrant and its officers and directors (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.9 to
Amendment no. 3 to the registrant’s registration statement on Form s-1, as amended (File no. 333-114376), filed on december 6, 2004)

10.4+

Form of notice of Grant of stock Options and Option Agreement under the 2004 equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.25
(File no. 000-51136) to the registrant’s Current report on Form 8-K filed on March 17, 2006)

10.5+

2014 equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current report on Form 8-K (File no. 001-32979) filed
on May 21, 2014).

10.6+

Form of stock Option Grant notice and Option Agreement for employees under the 2014 equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current report on Form 8-K (File no. 001-32979) filed on May 21, 2014).

10.7+

Form of stock Option Grant notice and Option Agreement for non-employee directors under the 2014 equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Current report on Form 8-K (File no. 001-32979) filed on May 21, 2014).
Offer letter by and between the registrant and Joel A. Fernandes dated november 1, 2007 (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.36 to the
registrant’s Current report on Form 8-K (File no. 001-32979) filed on november 2, 2007)

10.8+
10.9+

Form of Amended and restated Change of Control severance Agreement for employees at the senior Vice President level and above (incorporated
by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current report on Form 8-K (File no. 001-32979) filed on April 12, 2012)

10.10+

Change of Control severance Agreement by and between the registrant and Tillman e. Pearce, dated as of April 9, 2012, (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current report on Form 8-K (File no. 001-32979) filed on April 12, 2012)

10.11+

Change of Control severance Agreement by and between the registrant and stewart M. Kroll dated April 9, 2012 (incorporated by reference to
exhibit 10.3 to our Current report on Form 8-K (File no. 001-32979) filed on April 12, 2012)

10.12+

Form of Change of Control severance Agreement for employees at the Vice President level (incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.9 to the
registrant’s Annual report on Form 10-K (File no. 001-32979) filed on March 3, 2015)

10.13†

exclusive license Agreement, effective as of October 5, 2009, by and between the registrant and eleison Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.26 to the registrant’s Annual report on Form 10-K (File no. 001-32979) filed on March 8, 2010)

EXHIBIT
NUMBER

DESCRIPTION

10.14 †

license and Co-development Agreement between the registrant and Merck KGaA, dated February 2, 2012 (incorporated by reference to exhibit
10.1 to the registrant’s Quarterly report on Form 10-Q (File no. 001-32979), filed on August 6, 2012)

10.15†

Amendment to license and Co-development Agreement between the registrant and Merck KGaA, dated december 2, 2013 (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.11 to the registrant’s Annual report on Form 10-K (File no. 001-32979) filed on March 6, 2014)

10.16

sales Agreement between the registrant and Cowen and Company, llC, dated november 2, 2015 (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to
the registrant’s Quarterly report on Form 10-Q (File no. 001-32979), filed on november 2, 2015)

10.17

sublease by and between the registrant and exelixis, Inc. dated as of July 25, 2011 (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s
Quarterly report on Form 10-Q (File no. 001-32979), filed on november 3, 2011)

10.18+

Advisory Board Agreement by and between the registrant and david r. Parkinson, M.d. (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the
registrant’s Quarterly report on Form 10-Q (File no. 001-32979), filed on May 1, 2014)

10.19+

non-employee director Compensation Policy, adopted by the Board of directors of the registrant on March 20, 2014 (incorporated by reference
to exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Quarterly report on Form 10-Q (File no. 001-32979), filed on May 1, 2014)

10.20+

Change of Control severance Agreement by and between the registrant and nipun davar, dated as of June 5, 2015 (incorporated by reference to
exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Quarterly report on Form 10-Q (File no. 001-32979), filed on July 30, 2015)

10.21†

Termination Agreement, dated March 10, 2016, by and between Threshold Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Merck KGaA, darmstadt, Germany
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Quarterly report on Form 10-Q (File no. 001-32979), filed on May 5, 2016).

10.22†

Amendment to exclusive license Agreement by and between the registrant and eleison Pharmaceuticals, Inc., dated January 8, 2016
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Quarterly report on Form 10-Q (File no. 001-32979), filed on May 5, 2016).

10.23+

Change of Control severance Agreement by and between the registrant and Joel Fernandes, dated as of March 11, 2016 (incorporated by reference
to exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Quarterly report on Form 10-Q (File no. 001-32979), filed on May 5, 2016).

10.24

Form of Company support Agreement, dated March 16, 2017, by and between Molecular Templates and each of the parties named in each
agreement therein (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current report on Form 8-K, as amended (File no. 001-32979),
filed on March 17, 2017).

10.25

Form of Molecular Templates support Agreement, dated March 16, 2017, by and between the Company and each of the parties named in each
agreement therein (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current report on Form 8-K, as amended (File no. 001-32979),
filed on March 17, 2017).

10.26

Form of Company lock-Up Agreement, dated March 16, 2017, by and between the Company and each of the parties named in each agreement
therein (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Current report on Form 8-K, as amended (File no. 001-32979), filed on
March 17, 2017).

10.27

Form of Molecular Templates lock-Up Agreement, dated March 16, 2017, by and between the Company and each of the parties named in each
agreement therein (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.4 to the registrant’s Current report on Form 8-K, as amended (File no. 001-32979),
filed on March 17, 2017)

12.1*

statement of Computation of ratio of earnings to Fixed Charges and ratio of earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred stock dividends

23.1*

Consent of Independent registered Public Accounting Firm

24.1*

Power of Attorney (included on the signature page hereto).

31.1*

Certification of Principal executive Officer Pursuant to rule 13a-14(a) and rule 15d-14(a) of the securities and exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, pursuant to section 302 of the sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

EXHIBIT
NUMBER

DESCRIPTION

31.2*

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to rule 13a-14(a) and rule 15d-14(a) of the securities and exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, pursuant to section 302 of the sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1**

Certification of Principal executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.s.C. section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to section 906 of the sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

32.2**

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.s.C. section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to section 906 of the sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

101.Ins

XBrl Instance document

101.sCH

XBrl Taxonomy extension schema document

101.CAl

XBrl Taxonomy extension Calculation linkbase document

101.deF

XBrl Taxonomy extension definition linkbase document

101.lAB

XBrl Taxonomy extension labels linkbase document

101.Pre

XBrl Taxonomy extension Presentation linkbase document

*
†
+
**

Filed herewith.
Confidential treatment granted as to certain portions, which portions have been omitted and filed separately with the seC.
Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
Furnished herewith. This certification is not deemed filed for purposes of section 18 of the exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liability of that
section, and is not deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the securities Act or the exchange Act.

Exhibit 12.1
Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Ratio of Earnings to
Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends
2012

earnings:
Income (loss) before income taxes
Add Fixed Charges (from below)
Total income (loss) to cover fixed charges
Fixed Charges:
Interest expense
Interest component of rent expense (1)
Total fixed charges
ratio of earnings to fixed charges (2)

$

Year Ended December 31,
2014

2013

(71,135)
225
(70,910)

$

(28,213)
187
(28,026)

$

(21,786)
250
(21,536)

2015

$

2016

43,822
221

$

(24,094)
202

44,043

(23,892)

—
225

—
187

—
250

—
221

—
202

225

187

250

221

202

n/A(3)

n/A(3)

n/A(3)

221

n/A(3)

(1)

represents the estimated portion of rental expense from operating leases that is considered by us to be representative of interest.

(2)

We have not had any preferred stock outstanding during the periods presented; therefore, the ratio of earnings to (and the deficiency of earnings available to
cover) combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends is the same as our ratio of earnings to (and the deficiency of earnings available to cover) fixed
charges alone.

(3)

earnings were insufficient to cover fixed charges for this period. The amount of the coverage deficiency was $71.1 million, $28.2 million, $21.8 million and
$24.1million for the years ended december 31, 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2016, respectively.

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements on Form s-3 (no. 333-202043, no. 333-207745, no. 333-195084) and
registration statements on Form s-8 (no. 333-210089, 333-202476,no. 333-196249, no. 333-187107, 333-180149, no. 333-173047, no. 333-167260, no. 333164865, no. 333-156733, no. 333-126276, no. 333-134598, and no. 333-143130) pertaining to the 2014 equity Incentive Plan, the Amended and restated 2004
equity Incentive Plan, the 2004 equity Incentive Plan, the Amended and restated 2004 employee stock Purchase Plan and the 2004 employee stock Purchase
Plan of Threshold Pharmaceuticals, Inc. of our reports dated March 27, 2017, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Threshold Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. included in this Annual report (Form 10-K) for the year ended december 31, 2016.
/s/ ernst & Young llP
redwood City, California
March 27, 2017

Exhibit 31.1
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Harold e. selick, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual report on Form 10-K of Threshold Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in exchange
Act rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in exchange Act rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

5.

(a)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

date: March 27, 2017
/s/ H ArOld e. s elICK , P H .d.
Harold e. selick, Ph.d.
Chief executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Joel A. Fernandes, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual report on Form 10-K of Threshold Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in exchange
Act rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in exchange Act rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

5.

(a)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

date: March 27, 2017
/s/ J Oel A. F ernAndes
Joel A. Fernandes
Vice President, Finance and Controller
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
Threshold Pharmaceuticals, Inc
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual report of Threshold Pharmaceuticals, Inc (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended december 31, 2016, as filed with the
securities and exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “report”), I, Harold e. selick, Chief executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.s.C.
section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1)

The report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the securities exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

date: March 27, 2017
/s/ HArOld e. selICK, PH.d.
Harold e. selick, Ph.d.
Chief executive Officer

Exhibit 32.2
Threshold Pharmaceuticals, Inc
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual report of Threshold Pharmaceuticals, Inc (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended december 31, 2016, as filed with the
securities and exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “report”), I, Joel A. Fernandes, Vice President, Finance and Controller of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.s.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1)

The report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the securities exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

date: March 27, 2017
/s/ JOel A. FernAndes
Joel A. Fernandes
Vice President, Finance and Controller
(Principal Financial Officer)

